# Experimental Investigation of Semiconductor Losses in Cryogenic DC-DC Converters

by

CHUNJIANG JIA

A thesis submitted to The University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Electronic, Electrical and Computer Engineering School of Engineering The University of Birmingham February 2008

## UNIVERSITY<sup>OF</sup> BIRMINGHAM

### **University of Birmingham Research Archive**

#### e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

### Abstract

As high-temperature superconductor technology approaches commercial applications, for example superconducting magnetic energy storage, superconducting fault current limiters, and superconducting rotary machines for marine propulsion, it is timely to consider the possibility of integrating the associated control equipment into the cryostat with the superconductor. This may bring benefits in terms of the performance of the power electronics or may enable other system benefits such as higher voltage lower current feedthroughs which reduce heat leakage into the cryostat.

This Thesis studies the performance of several DC-DC power conversion techniques at temperatures down to 20 K. In particular hard switching, synchronous rectifier, zero-voltage-switching and multi-level circuit prototypes are examined, focusing on the losses in the semiconductor devices. The prototypes operated from 120 V and 500 V DC supplies at power levels up to 500 W using MOSFET devices and ultrafast, Schottky and silicon carbide diodes. The semiconductors were all in commercial TO220 packages.

Although MOSFET on-state resistance was found to drop by a factor of approximately six at cryogenic temperatures, the device switching speed and switching losses were relatively insensitive to temperature. The diode on-state voltage increased by 20-30 % at low temperatures whilst reverse recovery and the associated losses decreased by a factor of up to ten. The total semiconductor losses in all prototypes reduced at low temperatures, typically exhibiting a minimum value in the region of 50-100 K.

The performance of the hard switching and synchronous rectifier circuits was limited at cryogenic temperatures by switching losses, even though the dead time in the synchronous rectifier was adjusted to compensate for the increase in MOSFET gate threshold voltage at

low temperatures. The zero-voltage-switching prototype offered the largest reduction in semiconductor losses at low temperatures, the losses were reduced to 18 % of the room temperature value. Furthermore, since the remaining losses were almost entirely due to MOSFET conduction, further reductions could be easily achieved by paralleling additional devices. The performance of the multi-level circuits was limited by switching losses and the large number of series connected devices; however, a zero-voltage-switching synchronous rectifier variant of the circuit was suggested to overcome some of these limitations.

To my parents.

### Acknowledgement

I am deeply indebted to my supervisor Professor Andrew J Forsyth for his invaluable instruction throughout my PhD study, especially the guidance and financial help during my thesis writing.

I would like to thank the Overseas Research Students Awards Scheme and the Department of Electronic, Electrical and Computer Engineering at the University of Birmingham for the funding of my PhD study. And I would express my thanks to the University of Manchester for providing me with research facilities.

I would like to thank all my colleagues for their encouragement at the Power and Control Group in the University of Birmingham and the Power Conversion Group in the University of Manchester, and I am very appreciative of the moments with Dr. Alfred Baghramian, Dr. Chaobo Dai, Dr. Ismael Araujo-Vargas, Dr. Javier Chivite-Zabalza, Dr. Michael P. Theodoridis, Dr. Shaoyong Yang, Dr. Xinyun Liu, Mr. Gerardo Calderon-Lopez and Mr. Heng Tian Yap.

I would like to thank the couple, Z. Gao and X. Su, for their help and concerns during my living in Manchester.

Finally, I would like to show my appreciation to my parents for their support and encouragement throughout my life.

## Contents

List of figures and tables	Х
List of abbreviations and symbols	XV

## Chapter 1

Introd	luction	and literature review	1-1
1.1	Intro	duction	1-1
1.2	Supe	rconducting power applications	1-2
	1.2.1	Superconducting transmission lines	1-3
	1.2.2	Superconducting generators and transformers	1-3
	1.2.3	Superconducting magnet energy storage (SMES)	1-4
	1.2.4	Fault current limiters	1-4
	1.2.5	HTS Motors	1-5
	1.2.6	Magnetically levitated trains	1-5
1.3	Revie	ew of cryogenic power electronics	1-6
	1.3.1	Schottky barrier diode	1-6
	1.3.2	P-i-N diode	1-8
	1.3.3	Power MOSFET	1-10
	1.3.4	IGBT	1-12
	1.3.5	Germanium and silicon germanium devices	1-13
	1.3.6	Passive components	1-14
	1.3.7	Integrated circuits	1-15
	1.3.8	Commercial power supply modules	1-15
	1.3.9	Low power, low voltage DC-DC converters	1-15
	1.3.10	Soft-switching converters	1-17
	1.3.11	High power converters	1-19
	1.3.12	Summary of cryogenic power electronics	1-20

		Contents
1.4	Summary of literature review	1-20
1.5	Scope of the Thesis	1-21
References		1-23

## Chapter 2

Cryogenic o	peration of single-transistor step-down converters	2-1
2.1 Step	o-down converter operation and design	2-1
2.2 Sem	niconductor loss analysis at room temperature	2-5
2.2.1	MOSFET transient analysis	2-5
2.	2.1.1 MOSFET turn-on analysis	2-6
2.	2.1.2 MOSFET turn-off analysis	2-13
2.	2.1.3 MOSFET turn-on considering diode reverse recovery	2-14
2.2.2	Switching loss validation at room temperature	2-16
2.3 Cry	ogenic system introduction	2-20
2.4 Pow	ver semiconductor characteristics at low temperatures	2-21
2.4.1	Power MOSFET characteristics at low temperatures	2-22
2.4.2	Power diode characteristics at low temperatures	2-26
2.5 Ana temp	lysis of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V converters at low peratures	2-28
2.5.1	120 V buck converter with an ultrafast diode	2-30
2.5.2	120 V buck converter with a Schottky diode	2-32
2.5.3	120 V buck converter with a silicon carbide Schottky diode	2-35
2.5.4	Summary of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V converters	2-37
2.6 Ana temp	lysis of the semiconductor losses in the 500 V converters at low peratures	2-39
2.6.1	500 V buck converter with an ultrafast diode	2-39
2.6.2	500 V buck converter with a silicon carbide Schottky diode	2-41
2.6.3	Summary of the semiconductor losses in the 500 V converters	2-43
2.7 Con	clusions	2-44
References		2-45

## Chapter 3

Cryog	enic oj	peration of two-transistor step-down converters	3-1
3.1	Sync	chronous rectifier	3-1
	3.1.1	Synchronous rectifier design	3-3
	3.1.2	Gate control strategy	3-5
	3.1.3	Semiconductor losses at room temperature	3-10
	3.1.4	Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the synchronous rectifiers at low temperatures	3-12
	3.1	.4.1 120 V synchronous rectifier	3-12
	3.1	.4.2 500 V synchronous rectifier	3-14
3.2	Soft	-switching buck converter	3-17
	3.2.1	Soft-switching circuit selection	3-17
	3.2.2	ZVS-CV circuit operation and design	3-18
	3.2.3	ZVS-CV converter room temperature test	3-23
	3.2.4	Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V ZVS-CV converter at low temperatures	3-24
3.3	Sum	mary of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V prototypes	3-26
3.4	Con	clusions	3-29
Refere	ences		3-29

## Chapter 4

Cryogenic oj converters	peration of three-level diode-clamped step-down	4-1
4.1 Thre	e-level converter design and operation	4-1
4.1.1	Three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter design	4-2
4.1.2	Three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter fabrication	4-7
4.2 Sing	le device characteristic at low temperatures	4-8
4.2.1	MOSFET on-state resistance at low temperatures	4-8
4.2.2	Diode on-state voltage at low temperatures	4-9
4.2.3	Capacitor characteristics at low temperatures	4-10

**P-1** 

4.3	Anal low t	ysis of the semiconductor losses in the three-level converters at emperatures	4-12
	4.3.1	Ultrafast diode based, three-level, buck converter (500 V supply)	4-14
	4.3.2	SiC diode based, three-level, buck converter (500 V supply)	4-16
	4.3.3	Summary of the semiconductor losses in the 500 V prototypes	4-18
	4.3.4	Three-level buck converter cryogenic operations (600 V supply)	4-20
4.4	Thre	e-level, zero-voltage-switching, step-down converter	4-22
4.5	Conc	elusions	4-32
Refere	nces		4-32

## Chapter 5

Conclusions	and further work	5-1
5.1 Intro	oduction	5-1
5.2 Con	tributions of the Thesis	5-2
5.2.1	Device characteristics and semiconductor losses in the single- transistor step-down converters	5-2
5.2.2	Semiconductor losses in the two-transistor step-down converters	5-4
5.2.3	Semiconductor losses in the three-level step-down converters	5-4
5.3 Con	clusion	5-5
5.4 Furt	her work	5-5

### Publication

Appendices		A-1
Appendix 1	MOSFET gate-source voltage calculation	A-1
Appendix 2	Temperature control circuit	A-4
Appendix 3	Cryogenic experimental system	A-5
Appendix 4	Cryogenic test circuits for single device characteristics	A-7
Appendix 5	Power conversion circuits inside cold chamber	A-9

Contents

Appendix 6	Three-level converter PWM control circuit	A-11
Appendix 7	Three-level ZVS converter simulation schematics	A-13

## List of figures and tables

Figure 1-1	Schottky barrier diode structure and equivalent circuit	1-7
Figure 1-2	P-i-N diode structure	1-9
Figure 1-3	N-channel power MOSFET structure	1-10
Figure 1-4	N-channel IGBT structure	1-12
Figure 2-1	Step-down (buck) converter	2-2
Figure 2-2	Idealised voltage and current waveforms in a buck converter	2-2
Figure 2-3	Equivalent circuit for clamped inductive load switching	2-5
Figure 2-4	MOSFET turn-on and turn-off waveforms	2-6
Figure 2-5	Simplified equivalent circuit during $t_1$	2-7
Figure 2-6	Equivalent circuit for the fall of the drain voltage	2-11
Figure 2-7	Variation in gate-drain capacitance with drain-source voltage	2-12
Figure 2-8	Transistor turn-on waveforms considering diode reverse recovery	2-15
Figure 2-9	Predicated and measured MOSFET switching waveforms: (a) turn- on, (b) turn-off	2-19
Figure 2-10	Cold chamber cross section	2-20
Figure 2-11	Measured MOSFET on-state resistances, $V_{GS} = 12V I_D = 8A$ for the IDEP 21N20D and $L_{D} = 2A$ for the SDP20N60C2	2-22
Eigung 2 12	the IRFBS1N20D and $T_D = 2A$ for the SPP20N00CS Structure of MOSEET: (a) conventional (b) CoolMOS	2.22
Figure 2-12	Massured MOSFET breakdown voltages	2-23
Figure 2-15	Measured threshold voltages for the IDEP21N20D	2-24
Figure 2-14	Measured threason ductors for the IDEP 21 N20D	2-25
Figure 2-15	Measured diada on state voltages at 8 A	2-25
Figure 2-10	Measured diode on state voltages at 8 A	2 - 27
Figure 2-17	Measured diode brookdown voltages at 2 A	2 - 27
Figure 2-10	Single transister step down converter prototype	2-27
Figure 2-19	Prototype circuit inside the cold chember	2-20
Figure 2-20	Somiconductor losses in the buck converter with IPEP31N20D	2-29
1 iguie 2-21	MOSFET, MUR1560 ultrafast diode, $V_{ln} = 120V, V_{O} = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$	2-31
Figure 2-22	MUR1560 turn-off currents in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET, $V_{In} = 120V$ , $V_O = 60V$ , $P_{Load} = 480W$	2-32
Figure 2-23	Semiconductor losses in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET, MBR20200CT Schottky diode, $V_{ln} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$	2-33

Figure 2-24	MBR20200CT turn-off currents in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET, $V_{ln} = 120V$ , $V_{o} = 60V$ , $P_{Load} = 480W$	2-34
Figure 2-25	Semiconductor losses in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET, CSD10060 silicon carbide diode, $V_{ln} = 120V, V_{0} = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$	2-36
Figure 2-26	CSD10060 turn-off currents in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET, $V_{In} = 120V$ , $V_O = 60V$ , $P_{Load} = 480W$	2-37
Figure 2-27	Semiconductor losses in the 120/60 V, 480 W single-transistor	2-38
Figure 2-28	Conduction losses in the 120/60 V, 480 W single-transistor	2-38
Figure 2-29	Switching losses in the 120/60 V, 480 W single-transistor	2-38
Figure 2-30	Semiconductor losses in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET, MUR1560 ultrafast diode, $V_{tr} = 500V, V_{0} = 250V, P_{trad} = 500W$	2-40
Figure 2-31	MUR1560 turn-off currents in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET, $V_{ln} = 500V$ , $V_{0} = 250V$ , $P_{load} = 500W$	2-41
Figure 2-32	Semiconductor losses in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET, CSD10060 silicon carbide diode, $V_{ln} = 500V, V_{o} = 250V, P_{load} = 500W$	2-42
Figure 2-33	CSD10060 turn-off currents in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET, $V_{tr} = 500V$ , $V_{o} = 250V$ , $P_{Load} = 500W$	2-43
Figure 2-34	Semiconductor losses in the 500/250 V, 500 W single-transistor prototypes	2-44
Figure 3-1	Step-down converter with synchronous rectifier	3-2
Figure 3-2	Forward voltage comparison of a synchronous rectifier and diode at $25^{\circ}C$	3-3
Figure 3-3	120 V synchronous rectifier prototype	3-5
Figure 3-4	MOSFET switching waveforms: (a) turn-off of $S_1$ and turn-on of	3-6
	$S_2$ , (b) turn-off of $S_2$ and turn-on of $S_1$	50
Figure 3-5	Amplitude of peak reverse current against dead time in the 120 V synchronous rectifier at 20°C with a 60 V, 480 W output	3-8
Figure 3-6	$S_2$ turn-off currents with dead time of 50 ns and -40 ns at 20°C for the 120 V synchronous rectifier with a 60 V, 480 W output	3-8
Figure 3-7	Gate threshold voltages, $V_{GS} = V_{DS}$ , $I_D = 250 \text{ mA}$	3-9
Figure 3-8	Gate-source for the 120 V synchronous rectifier at 20°C: (a) turn- off of $S_2$ and turn-on of $S_1$ , (b): turn-off of $S_1$ and turn-on of $S_2$	3-9
Figure 3-9	Predicated and measured $S_1$ switching waveforms: (a) turn-on, (b) turn-off	3-11

		14 14010
Figure 3-10	Semiconductor losses in the synchronous rectifier with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs, $V_{In} = 120V$ , $V_O = 60V$ , $P_{Load} = 480W$	3-13
Figure 3-11	$S_2$ turn-off currents in the synchronous rectifier with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs, $V_{In} = 120V$ , $V_{O} = 60V$ , $P_{Lord} = 480W$	3-14
Figure 3-12	Semiconductor losses in the synchronous rectifier with two SPP20N60C3 MOSFETs, $V_{ln} = 500V$ , $V_{o} = 250V$ , $P_{load} = 500W$	3-15
Figure 3-13	$S_2$ turn-off currents in the synchronous rectifier with two SPP20N60C3 MOSFETs, $V_{ln} = 500V$ , $V_Q = 250V$ , $P_{load} = 500W$	3-16
Figure 3-14	ZVS-CV soft-switching circuit	3-18
Figure 3-15	ZVS-CV ideal main waveforms	3-18
Figure 3-16	Zero-voltage commutation from $S_2$ to $S_1$	3-19
Figure 3-17	Zero-voltage commutation from $S_1$ to $S_2$	3-20
Figure 3-18	Transient waveforms: (a) $S_1$ turn-off transient, (b) $S_2$ turn-off	
C	transient in the ZVS-CV converter with two IRFB31N20D	3-23
	MOSFETs, $V_{ln} = 120V, V_{Q} = 60V, P_{load} = 480W$	
Figure 3-19	Semiconductors and drive circuit for the 120V ZVS-CV converter	3-24
Figure 3-20	Transient voltages in the ZVS converter at a number of	
	temperatures over the range 20-300 K with two IRFB31N20D	3-25
	MOSFETs, $V_{In} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$	
Figure 3-21	Semiconductor losses in the ZVS converter with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs, $V_{In} = 120V$ , $V_O = 60V$ , $P_{Load} = 480W$	3-26
Figure 3-22	Semiconductor losses in the 120 V prototypes	3-28
Figure 3-23	Conduction losses in the 120 V prototypes	3-28
Figure 3-24	Switching losses in the 120 V prototypes	3-28
Figure 4-1	Three-level, diode-clamped DC-DC converter	4-2
Figure 4-2	Sub-topologies of the three-level converter	4-3
Figure 4-3	Main waveforms at 75% duty ratio	4-5
Figure 4-4	Measured on-state resistance for the IRFIB7N50A	4-9
Figure 4-5	Measured on-state voltages for the CSD06060 and MUR1560	4-10
Figure 4-6	Measured canacitance for the $400 \text{ V}$ 2.2 µE polyester canacitor	<i>I</i> _11

I Iguie I S	mediated on state voltages for the CSD 00000 and merchinot	1 10
Figure 4-6	Measured capacitance for the 400 V, 2.2 $\mu$ F polyester capacitor	4-11
Figure 4-7	Measured dissipation factor for the 400 V, 2.2 $\mu$ F polyester capacitor	4-11
Figure 4-8	Three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter prototype	4-12
Figure 4-9	Three-level prototype cryogenic test layout	4-13
Figure 4-10	Schematic connection for the power feedthrough	4-13
Figure 4-11	Semiconductor losses in the three-level converter with	
	IRFIB7N50A MOSFETs and MUR1560 diodes,	4-15
	$V_{In} = 500V, V_O = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$	
Figure 4-12	$D_{C1}$ (MUR1560) diode turn-off currents in the three-level	4-16

	converter, $V_{ln} = 500V, V_0 = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$	
Figure 4-13	Semiconductor losses in the three-level converter with	
	IRFIB7N50A MOSFETs and CSD06060 diodes,	4-17
	$V_{In} = 500V, V_{O} = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$	
Figure 4-14	Total semiconductor losses in the 500 V prototypes	4-19
Figure 4-15	Conduction losses in the 500 V prototypes	4-19
Figure 4-16	Switching losses in the 500 V prototypes	4-19
Figure 4-17	Total semiconductor losses in the 600 V prototypes	4-21
Figure 4-18	Conduction losses in the 600 V prototypes	4-21
Figure 4-19	Switching losses in the 600 V prototypes	4-21
Figure 4-20	Three-level, ZVS, step-down converter	4-23
Figure 4-21	Ideal waveforms for the ZVS three-level converter, $D = 0.25$	4-23
Figure 4-22	Sub-topologies for the three-level, ZVS converter operating with $D = 0.25$	4-24
Figure 4-23	Zero-voltage commutation from $S_{C1}$ to $S_{T3}$	4-25
Figure 4-24	Zero-voltage commutation from $S_{T3}$ to $S_{C1}$	4-25
Figure 4-25	Three-level, ZVS simulation circuit in Saber operating with $D = 0.25$	4-27
Figure 4-26	Simulation waveforms operating with $D = 0.25$	4-29
Figure 4-27	Simulation waveforms operating with $D = 0.75$	4-30
Figure 4-28	Simulation waveforms operating with $D = 0.5$	4-31

Figure A2-1	Schematic diagram of the temperature control circuit	A-4
Figure A2-2	PCB design of the temperature control circuit (zoom out): top layer	A 4
	(left) and bottom layer (right)	A-4
Figure A3-1	Overview of the cryogenic experimental system	A-5
Figure A3-2	Experimental layout	A-5
Figure A3-3	Cold chamber and compressor	A-6
Figure A4-1	Test circuit for MOSFET on-state resistance	A-7
Figure A4-2	Test circuit for diode on-state voltage	A-7
Figure A4-3	Test circuit for MOSFET breakdown voltage	A-7
Figure A4-4	Test circuit for diode breakdown voltage	A-8
Figure A4-5	Test circuit for MOSFET threshold voltage	A-8
Figure A4-6	Test circuit for MOSFET transconductance	A-8
Figure A5-1	PCB design of the step-down conversion circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)	A-9
Figure A5-2	PCB design of the three-level, diode-clamped conversion circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)	A-10
Figure A6-1	Schematic diagram of the three-level converter control circuit	A-11
Figure A6-2	PCB design of the three-level converter control circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)	A-12

		a racie
Figure A6-3	Photograph of the three-level converter control circuit	A-12
Figure A7-1	Three-level, ZVS converter simulation circuit at 25 % duty ratio in Saber	A-13
Figure A7-2	Three-level, ZVS converter simulation circuit at 75 % duty ratio in Saber	A-14
Figure A7-3	Three-level, ZVS converter simulation circuit at 50 % duty ratio in Saber	A-14
Table 2-1	Single-transistor converter design requirements	2-3
Table 2-2	Passive component design values	2-4
Table 2-3	Power MOSFET parameters at 25°C	2-4
Table 2-4	Power diode parameters at 25°C	2-4
Table 2-5	IRFB31N20D parameters at 25°C	2-17
Table 2-6	Calculated and measured MOSFET turn-on and turn-off times	2-18
Table 2-7	Calculated and measured MOSFET turn-on and turn-off losses	2-18
Table 3-1	Synchronous rectifier design requirements	3-4
Table 3-2	Calculated and measured switching losses in the 120 V synchronous rectifier at $20^{\circ}$ C	3-10
Table 3-3	Measured conduction losses in the 120 V prototypes at 20°C	3-12
Table 3-4	120 V, 480 W prototypes list	3-27
Table 4-1	Three-level two-quadrant control strategy	4-4
Table 4-2	Three-level buck converter design requirements	4-7
Table 4-3	Three-level converter passive component design values	4-7
Table 4-4	500 V, 500 W prototypes list	4-18
Table 4-5	Three-level, ZVS, one-quadrant control strategy	4-26

## List of abbreviations and symbols

Abbreviation	Complete forms
2G	2nd Generation
BJT	Bipolar Junction Transistor
BSCCO	Bismuth Strontium Calcium Copper Oxide
COTS	Commercial Off The Shelf
CPE	Cryogenic Power Electronics
D-SMES	Distributed Superconducting Magnetic Energy Storage
FCL	Fault Current Limiter
HTS	High Temperature Superconductor
IGBT	Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor
JFET	Junction Field Effect Transistor
LTS	Low Temperature Superconductor
MISFET	Metal Insulator Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
MPP	Molypermalloy Powder
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NbTi	Niobium Titanium
Nb <sub>3</sub> Sn	Niobium Stannide
NMI	Nuclear Magnetic Imaging
NPT	Non Punch Through
n <sup>-</sup>	Low doped <i>n</i> region
$n^+$	Highly doped <i>n</i> region
$p^+$	Highly doped p region
PCB	Printed Circuit Board
PCS	Power Conditioning System
PT	Punch Through
PWM	Pulse Width Modulation
PFM	Pulse Frequency Modulation
SCG	Superconducting Generator
SiC	Silicon carbide
SiGe	Silicon Germanium
SMES	Superconducting Magnetic Energy Storage
YBCO	Yttrium Barium Copper Oxide
ZCS	Zero Current Switching
ZVS	Zero Voltage Switching
ZVS-CV	Zero Voltage Switching Clamped Voltage

Symbol	Description	Unit
$C_{I_n}$	Input capacitor in the two-level converters	F
$C_{In1}$	Input capacitor in the three-level converters	F
$C_{In2}$	Input capacitor in the three-level converters	F
$C_{o}$	Output capacitor	F
$C_{D'S'}$	MOSFET drain-source capacitance	F
$C_{CD}$	MOSFET gate-drain capacitance (Miller capacitance)	F
$C_{G'D'}$	MOSFET gate-drain capacitance when $v_{D'S'} \ge V_T + I_Q / g_{fs}$	F
C <sub>G'D"</sub>	MOSFET gate-drain capacitance when $v_{D'S'} < V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$	F
$C_{C'S'}$	MOSFET gate-source capacitance	F
$C_{r1}$	Snubber capacitor across $S_1$ in the soft-switching converter	F
$C_{r^2}$	Snubber capacitor across $S_2$ in the soft-switching converter	F
D	Duty ratio	-
$D_1$	Freewheeling diode in the single-transistor buck converters	-
$D_{C1}$	Voltage-clamping diode in the three-level buck converters	-
$D_{C2}$	Voltage-clamping diode in the three-level buck converters	-
$D_{T1}$	Freewheeling diode in the three-level buck converters	-
$D_{T2}$	Freewheeling diode in the three-level buck converters	-
$g_{fs}$	MOSFET transconductance	S
$I_{AV}$	Average current through device	А
I <sub>In</sub>	Input DC current	А
$I_{L \max}$	Maximum inductor current	А
$I_{L\min}$	Minimum inductor current	А
Io	Output DC current	А
I <sub>RMS</sub>	RMS current through device	А
$I_{RR}$	Diode peak reverse recovery current	А
<i>i</i> <sub>C</sub>	Instantaneous current through the capacitor $C_{In}$	А
i <sub>CIn1</sub>	Instantaneous current through the capacitor $C_{In1}$	А
i <sub>D</sub>	Instantaneous current through the MOSFET	А
$i_L$	Instantaneous current through the inductor	А
<i>i</i> <sub><i>S</i>1</sub>	Instantaneous current through the MOSFET $S_1$	А
<i>i</i> <sub><i>S</i>2</sub>	Instantaneous current through the MOSFET $S_2$	А
i <sub>st3</sub>	Instantaneous current through the MOSFET $S_{T3}$	А

List of abbreviations and symbols

$J_{F}$	Forward current density	A/cm <sup>2</sup>
$J_s$	Saturation current density	A/cm <sup>2</sup>
ĸ	Rate of change of the MOSFET drain-source voltage	V/s
$K_{1}$	Rate of decrease of the MOSFET drain-source voltage when	V/s
	$v_{D'S'} \ge V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$	
<i>K</i> <sub>2</sub>	Rate of decrease of the MOSFET drain-source voltage when $v_{D'S'} < V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$	V/s
<i>K</i> <sub>3</sub>	Rate of increase of the MOSFET drain-source voltage when	V/s
	$v_{D'S'} < V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$	
$K_4$	Rate of increase of the MOSFET drain-source voltage when $v_{D'S'} \ge V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$	V/s
K,	Ratio of inductor AC current ripple over DC current	
k	Boltzmann's constant	J/K
L	Filter inductor in the buck converter	Н
$L_D$	MOSFET drain lead inductance	Н
$L_{S}$	MOSFET source lead inductance	Н
$P_{Cond\ \_Diode}$	Diode conduction loss	W
$P_{Cond \_MOSFET}$	MOSFET conduction loss	W
$Q_r$	Diode reverse recovery charge	С
q	Electric charge of an electron	С
R	Load resistance	Ohm
$R_{DS(on)}$	MOSFET on-state resistance	Ohm
$R_{D}$	Drift region resistance in a Schottky diode	Ohm
$R_{G}$	MOSFET gate resistance	Ohm
$R_{G'}$	MOSFET polycrystalline silicon gate resistance	Ohm
$R_{S+C}$	Substrate and ohmic contact resistance in a Schottky diode	Ohm
$S_1$	Power MOSFET in the buck converters	-
$S_2$	Power MOSFET in the synchronous rectifiers	-
<i>S</i> <sub><i>C</i>1</sub>	Voltage-clamping MOSFET in the three-level ZVS buck converters	-
$S_{C2}$	Voltage-clamping MOSFET in the three-level ZVS buck	-
$S_{T1}$	Power MOSFET in the three-level buck converters	-
$S_{T2}$	Power MOSFET in the three-level buck converters	-
$S_{T3}$	Power MOSFET in the three-level buck converters	-
$S_{T4}$	Power MOSFET in the three-level buck converters	-
T	Operating temperature	K
$T_{1}$	Time interval for the $S_1$ gate-source voltage to decrease from the	S
	plateau voltage to $V_T$	

List of abbreviations and symbols

$T_2$	Time interval for the $S_1$ gate-source voltage to decrease from $V_T$	S
	to zero	
$T_3$	Time interval for the $S_2$ gate-source voltage to increase from zero	S
	to $V_T$	
$T_4$	Time interval for the $S_2$ gate-source voltage to increase from $V_T$	S
_	to the plateau voltage	
$T_5$	Time interval for the $S_2$ gate-source voltage to decrease from the	S
-	plateau voltage to $V_T$	
$T_6$	Time interval for the $S_2$ gate-source voltage to decrease from $V_T$	S
Т	to zero	S
<b>1</b> <sub>7</sub>	Time interval for the $S_1$ gate-source voltage to increase from zero	3
Т	Time interval for the $S_{\rm c}$ gets source voltage to increase from $V_{\rm c}$	s
<b>1</b> <sub>8</sub>	to the plateau voltage	3
	Fixed dead time in the synchronous rectifier	S
	Switching period	S
$t_0$	The instant when the diode forward current drops to zero	S
$t_1$	The instant when the diode reverse recovery current is maximum	S
$t_2$	The instant when the diode reverse recovery current falls to zero	S
$t_{b}^{2}$	The blanking time in the soft-switching converter	S
t	Diode reverse recovery time	S
$V_{R}$	Metal-semiconductor barrier voltage drop	V
$V_{\scriptscriptstyle BR}$	Breakdown voltage	V
$V_{D^*}$	MOSFET drain-source voltage at the end of $t_1$	V
	Power supply DC voltage during the MOSFET transient analysis	V
$V_F$	Forward voltage drop of the power diode at rated current	V
$V_{GH}$	High level of the MOSFET gate drive voltage	V
V <sub>In</sub>	Input DC voltage	V
$V_o$	Output DC voltage	V
V <sub>P</sub>	Voltage drop across the resistive region in a Schottky diode	V
$V_{T}$	MOSFET threshold voltage	V
$V_{ab}$	H-bridge output voltage	V
$V_{CIn1}$	Instantaneous voltage across $C_{ln1}$	V
V <sub>D'S'</sub>	Instantaneous MOSFET drain-source voltage	V
$v_F$	Instantaneous diode on-state voltage	V
V <sub>GG</sub>	Instantaneous MOSFET gate drive voltage	V
V <sub>G'S'</sub>	Instantaneous MOSFET gate-source voltage	V
v <sub>In</sub>	Instantaneous input voltage	V

V <sub>I</sub>	Instantaneous voltage across the filter inductor	V
v <sub>o</sub>	Instantaneous voltage across the output capacitor	V
V <sub>GS1</sub>	Instantaneous $S_1$ gate-source voltage	V
V <sub>GS2</sub>	Instantaneous $S_2$ gate-source voltage	V
v <sub>s1</sub>	Instantaneous $S_1$ drain-source voltage	V
v <sub>s2</sub>	Instantaneous $S_2$ drain-source voltage	V
V <sub>ab</sub>	Instantaneous H-bridge output voltage	V
$\Delta I_{L}$	Peak-to-peak inductor current ripple	А
$\Delta V_{In}$	Peak-to-peak input voltage ripple	V
$\Delta V_o$	Peak-to-peak output voltage ripple	V
$t_1$	Time interval for the drain current transition during the MOSFET turn-on	S
$t_2$	Time interval for the drain-source voltage transition during the MOSFET turn-on	S
$t_{3}$	Time interval for the gate-source voltage to increase from the plateau voltage to $V_{GH}$ during the MOSFET turn-on	S
$t_{_4}$	Time interval for the gate-source voltage to decrease from $V_{GH}$ to	S
$t_5$	Time interval for the drain-source voltage transition during the MOSFET turn-off	S
$t_6$	Time interval for the drain current transition during the MOSFET turn-off	S
$t_7$	Time interval for the gate-source voltage to decreases from $V_T$ to	S
$t_{\scriptscriptstyle D}$	zero during the MOSFET turn-off Time delay for MOSFET turn-on	S
$t_{G}$	Time constant $t_G = (R_G + R_{G'})(C_{G'S'} + C_{G'D'})$	S
$t_{G'}$	Time constant $t_{G'} = C_{G'D'}(R_G + R_{G'})$	S
$t_m$	Time constant $t_m = g_{fs} L_D$	S

### **Chapter 1**

### Introduction and literature review

### **1.1 Introduction**

Superconductivity was first discovered in 1911 [1-1]; however the extreme cryogenic environment that was required limited the development of applications until the late 1980s when the discovery of high temperature superconductors [1-2, 1-3] stimulated much more rapid progress. The original low temperature superconductors, such as niobium-titanium (NbTi), require expensive refrigeration systems to operate below their critical temperatures of around 4.2 K [1-4]. The development of high temperature superconductors (HTS) has made superconductivity possible at much higher temperatures allowing the use of simpler, less costly and more efficient refrigeration systems. Furthermore higher current densities and magnetic fields can be accommodated. The HTS wires, bismuth-strontium-calcium-copperoxide (BSCCO) and yttrium-barium-copper-oxide (YBCO) with critical temperatures of 110 K and 93 K respectively, have thermally and mechanically stable properties with high critical current levels and have made superconducting devices easier to realise [1-5, 1-6].

Applications are now emerging in a broad range of areas where the properties of superconductors offer the possibility of making significant performance gains. For example in medical imaging where superconducting coils are used to produce the high magnetic fields required for NMI systems and in communications where superconducting circuits are used to make filters with very high Q factor. In the area of electrical power engineering the

use of superconductors allows much higher current densities to be achieved and conduction losses to be virtually eliminated, enabling reductions in equipment size and weight, or increases in power throughout for the same size. The main superconducting power applications are summarised in Section 1.2.

As superconducting power applications are developed the possibility arises of co-locating any associated power electronics equipment in the cryo-system with the superconductor, potentially improving the performance of the power electronics itself, or bringing other system level benefits. Although a significant amount of work has been published on the characteristics of standard power electronic devices at low temperatures, particularly on-state and breakdown voltages, comparatively little has been reported on the overall performance of complete converters. This Thesis therefore seeks to examine practically the operation and performance of several DC-DC converter topologies, in particular looking at the semiconductor performance, and to identify the most appropriate and effective circuit techniques. The published work on the cryogenic operation of power electronics is reviewed in Section 1.3.

### **1.2** Superconducting power applications

As new superconducting materials continue to be developed and the cost of manufacture continues to reduce, large scale applications are starting to appear in areas, such as electrical power systems, transport and rotary machines [1-7, 1-8, 1-9]. These include superconducting transmission lines, superconducting generators and transformers, superconducting magnet energy storage, fault current limiters, superconducting motors and magnetic levitation of trains. These applications will be briefly reviewed in the following sections.

#### **1.2.1 Superconducting transmission lines**

Superconducting power cables can carry three to five times more power and provide higher system efficiency than conventional copper cables of similar size [1-9].

One of the first demonstrations, a 1000 MVA system was constructed utilising low temperature superconductors, Niobium Stannide (Nb<sub>3</sub>Sn), in flexible cables  $2\times115$  m at 9 K and operated from 1982 to 1986 confirming the technical feasibility [1-10]. However, numerous superconducting power transmission projects including this one were cancelled for cost reasons [1-7, 1-10, 1-11].

More recently there has been renewed interest using HTS materials with critical temperatures of around 110 K and liquid nitrogen cooling (77 K) [1-7, 1-9, 1-11, 1-12]. For example a 3 kA, 13.2 kV AC transmission line of 200 m length was commissioned in 2006, developed jointly by Southwire and NKT Cables, which can carry as much current as 18 large copper cables and approximately three times more current than other superconducting transmission systems that are operational or under construction [1-13, 1-14].

#### **1.2.2 Superconducting generators and transformers**

Numerous papers describe synchronous generators which use superconducting DC field windings, allowing higher current densities to be used which result in higher magnetic fields and a more efficient and smaller machine [1-7, 1-8, 1-9, 1-15, 1-16, 1-17]. For example General Electric (GE) built a 100 MVA HTS superconducting generator for civil use [1-17], but the project was abandoned in 2006 due to economic and technical reasons [1-18]. However, several military programmes continued to pursue the technology to increase power density for applications where space or weight is restricted, such as ships and aircraft [1-18, 1-19]. It is estimated that a 5 MW generator using YBCO could be more than ten times lighter than a conventional generator [1-9, 1-19].

It is claimed in [1-7] that a superconducting power transformer would have half the size and weight of a conventional device, furthermore the fire and environmental hazards associated with the cooling oil in conventional transformers would be eliminated. In addition the life expectancy would be increased [1-7, 1-9]. In 2003 Waukesha Electric Systems and IGC SuperPower built and tested a 5/10 MVA 3-phase HTS transformer with primary/secondary voltage ratings of 24.9 kV/4.2 kV. This was the second phase of a three-stage programme which aims to build a 30/60 MVA unit in the final phase [1-21].

#### 1.2.3 Superconducting magnet energy storage (SMES)

Superconducting magnet energy storage (SMES) systems store energy in the magnetic field of a superconducting DC inductor, and are now commercially available offering flexible, reliable, and fast-acting power compensation to electrical power systems [1-22]. SMES systems may be used to suppress voltage sags and swells or for load levelling. Due to its rapid response (MW/milli-seconds), it is claimed that the SMES system described in [1-23] has the potential to improve power transmission stability, frequency control, sensitive load protection and power quality at power and energy levels of 20-200 MW and 50-500 MJ. American Superconductor's D-SMES (Distributed Superconductor Magnetic Energy Storage) system is a mobile device that can be easily located exactly where voltage mitigation is needed in the network, providing up to 3 MW of instantaneous real power from the superconductor magnet and up to 8 MVAR reactive power [1-24]. SMES systems require extensive power conditioning circuits including AC-DC and DC-DC converters and filter components. The source of power losses in SMES systems is primarily from the power conditioning circuits [1-25].

#### **1.2.4 Fault current limiters**

Fault current limiters (FCL) using high temperature superconductors have been explored since the late eighties [1-26 to 1-31]. These devices limit the fault current to a desired level by inserting impedance into the circuit, whereas they stay in the superconducting state with

no resistance when there is no fault [1-31]. Fault current limiters can reduce voltage transients during fault conditions and enable smaller, lower-rated switch gear to interrupt the fault [1-29, 1-30, 1-31]. Ref [1-32] describes a FCL based on American Superconductor's 2G HTS wire for distribution and transmission voltages up to 138 kV AC. The device limits the fault currents to 3-5 times the rated current [1-32].

#### 1.2.5 HTS Motors

The initial applications for HTS motors are likely to be in transport, particularly for naval and commercial ship electric propulsion, where critical size and weight savings will increase the design flexibility [1-33, 1-34]. Typically superconducting machines, employing superconducting field windings, are much more compact and lighter than conventional machines [1-35, 1-36, 1-37]. Advances in rotor design make a superconducting motor around one-third the size and one-half the weight of a conventional motor with the same power ratings [1-38], and a lower manufacturing cost can be achieved [1-37, 1-38]. Additional benefits of superconducting motors include higher efficiency even at partial load conditions and reduced acoustic noise due to the absence of armature teeth [1-37, 1-38]. A 5 MW, 230 RPM, 6-pole AC synchronous motor was delivered to the U.S. Navy in July 2003 by American Superconductor, employing a high temperature superconducting field winding operating at 32 K on the rotor and a conventional, copper, air-cored winding on the stator [1-37]. Furthermore the company completed factory testing of a 36.5 MW HTS marine propulsion motor in March 2007 and was making preparations for the next testing phase [1-39].

#### **1.2.6** Magnetically levitated trains

The superconducting, magnetically levitated train that was tested in Japan on December 2 2003 is another example of the use of superconductor technology. The train achieved a new record speed of 581 km/h [1-40]. The superconducting coils, used in the prototype trains, were made of low temperature superconductor NbTi, which requires complex cooling systems to maintain the operating temperature of 4 K. Research and development

programmes are under way to use high temperature superconducting wires in future magnetically levitated trains [1-40, 1-41].

### **1.3** Review of cryogenic power electronics

The operation of power semiconductor devices and circuits at low temperatures has received increasing attention as superconducting power applications have been developed. The cryogenic operation of power semiconductor devices can result in improved switching speed and lower on-state voltage than at room temperature. Particularly large benefits have been reported for majority carrier devices like MOSFETs operating at around 77 K, liquid nitrogen temperature [1-42, 1-43]. It has also been demonstrated that operation at low temperatures could provide other benefits, such as reduced package volume, higher current densities and increased reliability [1-25, 1-44, 1-45]. Several recent studies have concluded that there is a great potential for cryogenic power conversion in future military systems, such as propulsion motors and power generators on board ships and aircraft, where size and weight are the primary design considerations [1-46, 1-47].

This section will review the published work on the cryogenic performance of silicon power semiconductor devices, followed by germanium and silicon germanium devices. Research on the cryogenic behaviour of power conversion circuits is also summarised.

#### **1.3.1** Schottky barrier diode

A Schottky barrier diode, Figure 1-1, consists of a thin film of metal in direct contact with a semiconductor. The metal film is usually deposited on an *n*-type semiconductor, referred to as a metal-semiconductor rectifying contact, and an *n*-drift region is added to withstand the reverse voltage. The forward voltage  $V_F$  consists of two parts, the metal-semiconductor barrier voltage drop  $V_B$  and the voltage drop across the resistive region  $V_R$  as shown in (1-1).



Figure 1-1 Schottky barrier diode structure and equivalent circuit

$$V_F = V_B + V_R \tag{1-1}$$

$$V_F = \frac{kT}{q} \ln(\frac{J_F}{J_S}) + R_D J_F$$
(1-2)

k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the operating temperature, q is the electron charge,  $J_F$  is the forward current density,  $J_s$  is the saturation current density and  $R_D$  is the specific resistance of the voltage blocking drift region, while the resistance of the  $n^+$  substrate and ohmic contact,  $R_{s+c}$ , is normally negligible [1-25].

At high current densities, the dominant temperature effect on the forward voltage arises from the electron mobility in the drift region. The reduction in temperature leads to a dramatic decrease in the ohmic portion of the on-state voltage drop. The metal-semiconductor voltage drop faces two competing effects as temperature falls from 300 K to 77 K, a decline in kT/q tending to reduce its value and a reduction in the saturation current density  $J_s$ tending to increase its value. The net effect is an increase in the metal-semiconductor voltage drop with a decrease in temperature [1-25]. Therefore, the Schottky diode forward voltage may exhibit a positive or negative temperature coefficient at different temperatures and different currents, depending on the relative sizes of the two voltage components.

The reverse bias characteristic of a Schottky diode is determined by the spreading of the space charge region into the *n*-type region. With a Schottky contact of finite area the breakdown voltage is limited to less than 100 V by the field concentration caused by the curvature of the space charge region at the edge of the contact area [1-48]. This can be improved by using an edge termination technique. The preferred method is the diffused  $p^+$  guard ring shown in Figure 1-1. Although this forms a *p*-*n* junction diode in parallel with the Schottky diode, the lower forward voltage of the Schottky junction ensures that the *p*-*n* junction is only forward biased sufficiently to inject carriers into the active region under surge conditions [1-48]. This type device is known either as a Schottky P-i-N (SPIN) diode, or as a merged power Schottky (MPS) diode [1-48].

The reduction in temperature results in much lower leakage current during the reverse bias operation of a Schottky diode. Theoretically the ideal breakdown voltage of a silicon Schottky diode is predicted to increase to twice the room temperature value at 77 K [1-25]. However, for MPS/SPIN diodes, under a reverse biased voltage the space charge region expands to shield the Schottky junction from the applied voltage by JFET action resulting from the diffused  $p^+$  regions [1-48]. Therefore the device tends to behave like a *p*-*n* junction under reverse bias conditions and the breakdown voltage falls at low temperature.

#### 1.3.2 P-i-N diode

A P-i-N diode, Figure 1-2, consists of a heavily doped  $p^+$  type region, an intrinsic layer,  $n^-$ , and a heavily doped  $n^+$  substrate. The  $n^-$  layer is not found in low power diodes and is used to absorb the depletion layer of the reverse-biased *p*-*n* junction. The thickness depends on the breakdown voltage of the device. Most silicon rectifiers with blocking voltages greater than 200 V are P-i-N diodes [1-25].



Figure 1-2 P-i-N diode structure

Ref [1-49] reported an experimental study into the behaviour of a 1200 V P-i-N diode over the 77-300 K temperature range. At low current, 4 A, the on-state voltage increased at low temperatures, whereas at high current, 10 A, 2.5 times the rated current, the on-state voltage fell at low temperatures. Also, the reverse recovery waveforms improved at low temperatures; the peak reverse current and recovery time decreased by almost an order of magnitude at 77 K, principally due to the reduction in carrier lifetime [1-49].

It was shown in [1-49] by examination of analytical models that at room temperature the total forward current is dominated by recombination in the mid region of the diode, however, it is dominated by the end region recombination currents at 77 K. It was also explained that the band gap narrowing effect, the increase in diffusion coefficients and the reduction in carrier lifetime should also be considered for a proper understanding of the power P-i-N diode operation at low temperatures. It was concluded that P-i-N diodes can be operated at higher frequencies and higher current densities at cryogenic temperatures as compared to room temperature [1-25, 1-49, 1-50].

#### **1.3.3 Power MOSFET**

The power MOSFET has a vertical structure as shown in Figure 1-3. Conduction occurs by majority carriers through an inversion layer that is created in the p body region underneath the insulated gate. The inversion layer is formed by a positive gate-source voltage; the electrical field attracts electrons to the surface of the p-base body region under the gate. Early papers on the cryogenic behaviour of MOSFETs were published in the 1970s [1-42, 1-43], however many more papers have been published since the late 1980s [1-51 to 1-68].



Figure 1-3 N-channel power MOSFET structure

Simple, lumped parameter analytical models for the power MOSFET have been used to explain the device operation at cryogenic temperatures [1-51, 1-61 to 1-64]. The MOSFET on-state resistance is made up by four main components, the resistances of the inversion, accumulation, JFET and drift regions. The relative sizes of these component resistances vary according to the design of the MOSFET. The major contribution to the on-state resistance of higher voltage MOSFETs is from the drift region, whereas the inversion layer tends to be the main contributor to the on-resistance of low voltage MOSFETs. The increase in carrier mobilities at low temperatures in these regions essentially determines the reduction in the MOSFET on-state resistance at low temperatures [1-25, 1-51]. The on-state resistances of

three power MOSFETs with ratings of 50 V, 250 V and 500 V were observed to decrease by 50 %, 85 % and 90 % respectively at 77 K compared to room temperature [1-51].

At extremely low temperatures, typically below 40 K for silicon, the MOSFET on-state resistance tends to increase with further temperature reductions due to only a small number of carriers being available [1-53, 1-65]. This is referred to as carrier freeze-out, and is most significant in the JFET and the drift regions [1-25]. Therefore, the carrier freeze-out phenomenon tends to be much more obvious in higher voltage MOSFETs due to the dominance of the drift region resistance in these devices.

Both MOSFET threshold voltage and transconductance increase at low temperatures. The threshold voltage was reported to increase at 77 K by about one volt compared with room temperature [1-51, 1-52, 1-58], which results from the fall in intrinsic carrier concentration at low temperatures [1-25]. A larger gate-source voltage is needed to form the inversion layer. The increase in transconductance is attributed to the increase in inversion layer mobility at low temperatures [1-25]. The transconductance of the MOSFETs tested in [1-51] was reported to increase by 2-3 times at 77 K.

The breakdown voltage of the power MOSFET decreases at low temperatures, which is determined by the intrinsic *p*-*n* junction reverse breakdown behaviour. More effective impact ionisation at low temperatures results in avalanche breakdown occurring at reduced voltage levels [1-25, 1-51]. It was reported that the breakdown voltage of six different MOSFETs decreased by 19 - 23 % at 77 K [1-68].

The switching performance of power MOSFETs has been reported to improve at cryogenic temperatures [1-25, 1-51]. The MOSFET switching characteristics in [1-52, 1-57] at high frequency were significantly improved at cryogenic temperatures with a shorter turn-on delay and sharper turn-on and turn-off slopes. The turn-on time of a CoolMOS device was reported to decrease by up to one-third at 83 K, substantially caused by the diminished

reverse recovery charge of the freewheeling diode [1-56]. However, much smaller reductions in the turn-on time were reported in [1-59] at low temperatures. These differences seem to be due to individual characteristics of the devices and also the test circuits that were used. In addition, the reverse current and recovery time of the body diode decrease significantly at low temperatures, for example they reduced by a factor of three to five at 77 K for the MOSFETs tested in [1-54]. These improvements at low temperatures, along with the better thermal conductivity of silicon suggest that the potential exists for efficiency increases and considerable size, weight and cost reductions[1-66 to 1-68].

#### 1.3.4 IGBT

The insulated gate bipolar transistor (IGBT), Figure 1-4, has a similar structure to the MOSFET except for the addition of a  $p^+$  layer beneath the *n* drift region. This structure may be considered to combine the advantages of a bipolar device and a MOSFET, giving the IGBT a high current handling capability due to the injection of minority carriers (holes) from the  $p^+$  substrate. However the hole injection degrades the IGBT turn-off performance causing a tail current that limits the device's high frequency applications. Presently the IGBT technology is the preferred option for power switching devices with breakdown voltages over 1000 V [1-25].





The PT (punch-through) and NPT (non-punch-through) IGBTs, also referred to as asymmetrical (with an n buffer layer) and symmetrical (without an n buffer layer) respectively, and the newer, trench gate IGBT, were characterised at low temperatures in terms of their static and dynamic behaviour, and analytical IGBT models were introduced for low temperature operation [1-69 to 1-77].

At low temperatures the reduction in the intrinsic carrier concentration requires a higher voltage level across the gate and emitter of an IGBT to form the inversion layer in the *p*-base region, resulting in an increased threshold voltage. The measured threshold voltage was found to increase about one volt at 77 K [1-73], and the transconductance was measured to increase by a factor of two at 77 K [1-73], which was attributed to the increase in inversion layer mobility at low temperatures [1-25]. At the rated current, the on-state voltage of an *n*channel asymmetric (PT) IGBT was reported to decrease approximately by one-third at 77 K [1-73]. The on-state voltages of the 600 V PT IGBT, 1700 V NPT IGBT and trench IGBT were observed to decrease across the 300-100 K temperature range at 100 A in [1-74 to 1-77], principally due to the significant decrease in the MOSFET component of on-state voltage in the three devices. The breakdown voltage of the PT and NPT IGBT devices decreased approximately by 30 % over the 300-50 K range, whereas the breakdown voltage of the trench IGBT decreased by 60 % which was attributed to the field stop layer in the trench device [1-74 to 1-77]. The switching performance of the IGBT improves at low temperatures; the turn-off time was found to decrease by more than 60 % at 77 K due to the reduction in carrier lifetime [1-25, 1-73].

#### **1.3.5** Germanium and silicon germanium devices

An interesting avenue of research has been to examine the possibility of designing and fabricating devices specifically for cryogenic operation. The use of germanium instead of silicon has been considered since the freeze-out temperature of dopants in germanium is much lower than in silicon, and also the carrier mobility in germanium is higher than that in silicon at low temperatures. Therefore, a Ge diode can operate from room temperature down to 4 K and has lower forward voltage drop than does a silicon part [1-78].

Ge cryogenic power device development has been undertaken by NASA and its collaborators. A Ge power diode with a nominal 10 A forward current has been demonstrated with a breakdown voltage of 400 V at temperatures down to 4 K. Also *p*-channel enhancement Ge metal-insulator-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MISFETs), JFETs and BJTs were fabricated and characterised at temperatures down to 4 K [1-79, 1-80], but their current and voltage ratings were not mentioned.

Power semiconductor devices based on silicon germanium (SiGe) are being developed by GPD Optoelectronics Corp in cooperation with Auburn University, motivated by the NASA deep space exploration programme [1-81]. A 50 V, 5 A SiGe heterojunction bipolar transistor was designed and fabricated, which was examined along with a SiGe diode in a 100 W, 24 V/48 V, 100 kHz boost power converter at low temperatures. The conversion efficiency was reported to increase from 75% at room temperature to 89 % at 30 K [1-81].

#### **1.3.6** Passive components

Cryogenic experiments on commercially available capacitors showed that the effect of low temperature on the capacitor depends essentially on the dielectric medium being used [1-82, 1-83]. Capacitors such as polypropylene, polycarbonate, mica, film and ceramic could operate properly at 77 K, and some capacitors had a decrease in leakage current and dissipation factor at low temperature. It was concluded that further experimental studies were required to fully characterise capacitors for potential cryogenic use [1-82, 1-83].

Magnetic cores were examined for potential applications at cryogenic temperatures [1-84]. Experimental results showed that molypermalloy and high flux core-based inductors exhibited constant inductance against temperature, whereas the inductance of ferrite-cored components decreased by a factor of seven from 25°C to -190°C [1-84]. The paper suggested that more testing was needed to evaluate these cores under long term exposure to low temperatures [1-84].

#### **1.3.7 Integrated circuits**

A number of commercial analogue-to-digital converters, oscillators and PWM controllers were evaluated at low temperatures [1-85 to 1-92]. The analogue-to-digital converters were reported to operate well down to -190°C [1-90]; those with an external reference were the most accurate [1-85]. The temperature compensated oscillator that was tested maintained frequency stability down to -189°C [1-85]. Some PWM controllers that were evaluated maintained satisfactory functionality at -190°C [1-91]. However, it was concluded that more comprehensive tests were required to fully characterise the performance of PWM and A/D chips for low temperature space missions [1-90, 1-91].

#### **1.3.8** Commercial power supply modules

Several commercially available DC-DC converter modules were investigated for potential use in future space missions [1-92 to 1-97]. These 3.3 V output modules, ranged in electrical power from 8 W to 13 W, and their input voltages ranged from 9 V to 75 V. The circuits were characterised in terms of the steady-state and dynamic performance with temperature from 20 °C to -180 °C. The low temperature evaluation included the output voltage regulation, efficiency, input and output current ripple and dynamic behaviour in response to temperature changes. Some modules were found to become unstable in terms of voltage regulation at low temperatures.

#### **1.3.9** Low power, low voltage DC-DC converters

Developments in high temperature superconductivity and low temperature semiconductors have motivated the investigation of power conversion circuits at low temperatures. During the 1990s there has been a surge of activity in the examination of power converters at low temperature, mostly supported by NASA. These have mainly been low voltage circuits using power MOSFET devices.
A 42 V/28 V, 175 W, 50 kHz PWM buck DC-DC converter was designed, fabricated and tested at room temperature and at liquid nitrogen temperature using commercially available components [1-98]. The power circuit was placed in a Dewar flask and the control circuit was at room temperature. The efficiency was found to increase from 95.8 % at room temperature to 97 % at 77 K. The results summarised the overall characteristics at 77 K, but there was no detailed analysis of losses.

The open-loop and closed-loop operation of a 50 kHz, 48±10 V/12 V, 60 W flying capacitor three-level PWM buck converter was reported in [1-99, 1-100] respectively at temperatures down to 77 K using commercially available components. Both the power and control circuits were located in the low temperature environment. The converter was fully functional at 77 K. The voltage variation across the energy transfer capacitors with decreasing temperature resulted in up to 5 V imbalance in the open-loop operation [1-99], which was balanced by the charge-pump controller designed in the close-loop operation [1-100]. However, the conversion efficiency was found to decrease with lower operating temperature, principally due to larger conduction loss in the diodes [1-99, 1-100]. No detailed analysis of power losses in the semiconductors was undertaken. The principal conclusion of the papers was establishing the feasibility of operating a three-level buck converter at low temperatures.

Ref [1-101] explored the operation of a 24 V/48 V, 150 W, 50 kHz boost PWM DC-DC converter over the temperature range of -185°C to 200°C, where the input inductor, the power MOSFET and rectifier were operated at low temperatures, whereas the rest of the power and control circuitry were at room temperature. The room temperature efficiency of 92.2 % decreased to 89.4 % at 200°C, and to 91.5 % at -185°C. On the high temperature side, the efficiency decreased due to increased losses in the power MOSFET, diode, and inductor. However, on the low temperature side, the drop in efficiency was much less because even though the diode and inductor losses increased with decreasing temperatures, the power MOSFET loss decreased due to reductions in the conduction and switching losses [1-101]. The reduction in the MOSFET switching loss was attributed to the decrease in turn-on time and output capacitance at low temperatures [1-101]. However, that conclusion didn't

consider the effect of the improvement in the diode reverse recovery on the MOSFET switching behaviour.

The low temperature performance of a 150 W, 50 kHz, 24 V/48 V boost PWM DC-DC converter was reported in [1-102] at 77 K, using a molypermalloy core-based inductor and a BSCCO-based, high-temperature superconducting inductor. The main objective was to examine the low temperature operation of two types of inductor. The use of the HTS inductor in the converter yielded no significant performance improvement over the same converter with a conventional inductor [1-102]. No description of the semiconductor behaviour at low temperature was given.

## **1.3.10** Soft-switching converters

As demonstrated by numerous authors, MOSFET conduction losses reduce dramatically with a decrease in temperature; however the temperature dependence of the switching loss is more complicated and depends on the device itself, the driving circuit and the external power circuit. MOSFET switching waveforms were examined experimentally in [1-98] at 300 K and 77 K, an RC snubber was used in each case and it was concluded that the MOSFET switching waveforms were greatly improved with reduced turn-on oscillations. The power MOSFET loss analysis in [1-101] showed that the turn-off loss was almost constant over the temperature range. Several publications have reviewed the use of zero-voltage-switching circuits at low temperatures, the main contributions are summarised in the following paragraphs.

An investigation of hard-switching and soft-switching in a boost converter at 77 K was reported in [1-103] and concluded that the MOSFET turn-on over current transient decreased almost by half in the hard-switching boost converter at 77 K compared with room temperature. Furthermore, the soft-switching circuit consisting of a diode, inductor and capacitor operated successfully at 77 K, and the MOSFET turn-on over current transient decreased further compared with the hard-switching operation at 77 K.

The performance of a 120 W, 100 kHz, 42 V/12 V phase-shifted, zero-voltage-switching, open-loop controlled full-bridge DC-DC converter was reported over the temperature range of -175°C to 25°C in [1-104], using commercially available components. The converter was stable across the temperature range, and a slight increase in efficiency was measured with decreasing temperature, since the decrease in the MOSFET and filter inductor losses were offset by the increase in the diode conduction loss [1-104]. It was pointed out that the use of synchronous rectification in place of diode rectification at the output could further improve the converter efficiency especially at low temperatures due to the decreased conduction loss of MOSFETs [1-104].

Ref [1-105] reported the operation of a 55 W, 200 kHz, 48 V/28 V zero-voltage-switching multi-resonant DC-DC converter at 77 K, using commercially available components. It was found that the values of the resonant inductor and capacitor remained approximately constant with temperature, therefore the switching frequency, resonant frequency and the characteristic impedance did not change significantly, and zero-voltage-switching was maintained [1-105]. There was only a slight increase in efficiency at low temperature since the decrease in the MOSFET on-state loss was offset by the increase in the MOSFET body diode conduction loss [1-105].

A hard-switching boost converter and corresponding soft-switching converters using zerovoltage transition and multi-resonant techniques were examined at liquid nitrogen temperature in [1-106]. Although the zero-voltage-switching converters operated successfully at 77 K, the loss reduction in the main transistors was offset by the increased loss in the resonant components and in the diodes. For this reason the efficiency advantage of the soft-switching converter was lost at low temperatures. It was concluded that the softswitching converter with a long diode conduction interval had an even lower efficiency in comparison with its hard-switching counterpart [1-106].

## **1.3.11** High power converters

A chopper circuit made with commercially available MOSFETs and diodes, part of the power conditioning system for a SMES system with a rated energy of 300 J at 130 A, was built and tested in a cryostat at around 80 K to control the superconducting coil current [1-107]. The power loss of the chopper was reduced to half of the value at room temperature and the size of the current leads was greatly reduced. It was concluded that the losses would decrease more by using diodes with lower on-state voltage at low temperature [1-107].

The viability of a 50 kW, MOSFET-based, three-phase inverter at 77 K was demonstrated for utility energy conditioning in [1-108], using a split-capacitor power supply of  $\pm 325$  V DC and providing 400 V AC and 72 A RMS line current at 50 kHz. It was shown that the conduction loss could be made extremely small by using parallel MOSFETs, and that the switching loss could be reduced by using soft-switching techniques. Initial results showed that the inverter power loss was approximately 1 % of the rated power. The final aim was to decrease this below 0.5 % at the full 50 kW operation. It was claimed that more work was required to quantify the losses of the various devices in the circuit [1-108].

The patent in [1-109] described the concept of high efficiency cryogenic power conditioning circuit used to convert the DC output of fuel cells into suitable AC power for a vehicle traction drive. The cryogenic cooling was provided by the liquid hydrogen which was then used to supply the fuel cell. It was claimed that the converter at low temperature could exhibit an efficiency of greater than 99 % when driving the motor; furthermore, it was claimed that the reduction in size, weight and cost of the converter could be achieved [1-109]. However, no experimental results were presented.

Ref [1-110] described a patent for a magnetic resonance imaging system. The assumption was that the MOSFET conduction loss could be dramatically reduced by cooling and paralleling while the switching loss could be decreased by using suitable soft-switching techniques. It was claimed that the system could generate a high magnetic field (1T-2T) for lower cost with higher efficiency, longer lifetime and improved reliability, compared to conventional systems [1-110].

## **1.3.12** Summary of cryogenic power electronics

According to the foregoing review, most commercial-off-the-shelf power semiconductors and circuits, designed for normal operating temperatures, have the capability of operating at liquid nitrogen temperature, 77 K. Majority carrier devices such as MOSFETs demonstrate improved performance at low temperature, especially lower on-state resistance. Also, the switching losses in minority carrier devices, such as IGBTs and P-i-N diodes, decrease at low temperature due to the decrease in carrier lifetime.

Motivated by the improved power device characteristics at low temperature, the evaluation of power conversion circuits has been performed using different conversion topologies usually at liquid nitrogen temperature, employing power MOSFETs and diodes. However, most published papers have only reported the conversion efficiency at 77 K, and there is little quantitative investigation of power losses for the individual semiconductor devices with temperature. No work was found on the performance of power conversion circuits formed by silicon power semiconductors operating at temperatures below 77 K. Moreover there is very little published work on the comparative performance of different DC-DC converter circuit techniques at cryogenic temperatures, for example soft-switching, synchronous rectifier and multi-level.

## **1.4 Summary of literature review**

The foregoing literature review shows there are an increasing number of superconducting applications in both aerospace and terrestrial fields, creating an impetus for the development of cryogenic power electronics. At the same time, cryogenic semiconductor physics is

maturing, and silicon power semiconductors, such as power diodes, power MOSFETs and IGBTs, are all characterised for low temperature operation. Moreover, power semiconductors made from other materials, such as germanium and silicon germanium, can offer superior switching and on-state performance even at 30 K and appear good options to replace silicon devices in future deep space exploration applications.

Power electronic converters are capable of operating at cryogenic temperatures, in most cases with reduced losses, potentially bringing benefits of increased power density. The potential applications include allowing spacecraft power electronics to operate cold, saving the cost and weight of the environmental control systems. An alternative application is the integration of a power converter into a cryostat with a superconducting device which may increase power density, and depending on the additional energy used by the cryocooler, may also reduce overall system losses. Furthermore, other system benefits may then be possible, for example the use of high voltage, low current feedthroughs into the cryo-system, which would reduce the heat leakage into the system and therefore reduce the load on the cryocooler. To enable such systems to be designed and optimised a better understanding is needed of power converter operation at cryogenic temperatures.

## **1.5** Scope of the Thesis

From the literature review, the reported work on the cryogenic operation of power conversion circuits is patchy and incomplete; there is insufficient examination of individual semiconductor power losses at low temperatures. The research in this Thesis focuses on the evaluation of semiconductor losses in several MOSFET-based converter circuit technologies across the temperature range 20-300 K.

Chapter 2 examines the semiconductor losses in 500 W, single-transistor, step-down converters operating from 120 V and 500 V DC supplies at temperatures extending down to 20 K. Power MOSFETs and several diode technologies are examined.

Chapter 3 explores the semiconductor losses in two two-transistor, step-down converters at low temperatures. The synchronous rectifier and soft-switching (zero-voltage-switching clamped-voltage) step-down converter are fabricated and evaluated with a 120 V DC supply at temperatures down to 20 K. Also, the synchronous rectifier is evaluated operating with a 500 V DC supply.

Chapter 4 describes the investigation of the semiconductor losses in the three-level, diodeclamped, step-down converter over the temperature range 20-300 K. The prototype operates at 500 W from a 500 V source and at 600 W from a 600 V DC supply. A zero-voltageswitching version of the circuit is proposed to improve the low temperature performance.

Chapter 5 draws conclusions and identifies some of the priorities for further research on cryogenic power electronics.

# **References**:

- [1-1] Onnes, H. K.; The superconductivity of mercury, *Leiden Comm.*, vol. 120b, 122b, 124c, 1911.
- [1-2] Bednorz, J. G.; Mueller, K.A.; Possible high temperature superconductivity, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, Vol. 84, Page(s): 4678-4680, July 1987.
- [1-3] Wu, M.; Ashburn, J.; Torng, C.; Hor, P.; Meng, R.; Gao, L.; Huang, Z.; Chu, C.; Superconductivity at 93 K in a new mixed-phase Yb–Ba–Cu–O compound, *Phys.* Rev. Lett., vol. 58, pp. 908-911, 1987.
- [1-4] Scanlan, R. M.; Superconducting materials, *Annual Reviews Material Science*, 1980. 10:113-32
- [1-5] Flukiger, R.; *Superconducting Materials*, Department of physics, University of Geneva, <u>http://www.mpg.de/pdf/europeanWhiteBook/wb materials 097 100.pdf</u>
- [1-6] Tanaka, S.; High-Temperature Superconductivity, *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, Vol. 45, No. 12, 2006, pp. 9011 – 9024
- [1-7] Hassenzahl, W. V.; Superconductivity, an enabling technology for 21st century power systems?, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume: 11, Issue: 1, Part 2, Mar. 2001, Page(s): 1447-1453
- [1-8] Lawrence Jr., L. R.; Cox, C.; Hamrick, J.; Reed, D.; High Temperature Superconductivity: The Products and Their Benefits, *Alexandria, VA: Bob Lawrence and Assoc. Inc.*, 2002, vol. 22314.
- [1-9] Gubser, D. U.; Superconductivity: an emerging power-dense energy-efficient technology, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 14, Issue 4, Dec. 2004 Page(s): 2037-2046
- [1-10] Forsyth, E. B.; Thomas, R. A.; Performance summary of the Brookhaven superconducting power transmission system, *Cryogenics*, Volume 26, Issue 11, November 1986, Page(s) 599-614
- [1-11] Willis, O. J.; Superconducting transmission cables, *Power Engineering Review IEEE*, Volume 20, Issue 8, Aug. 2000 Page(s):10-14
- [1-12] American Superconductor <sup>TM</sup> Report, Very low impedance (VLI) superconductor cables: Concepts, operational implications and financial benefits, http://www.amsuper.com/products/library/vli\_cable\_white\_paper\_nov03.pdf
- [1-13] Lindsay, D.; Southwire HTS Cable Program Overview, U.S. DOE Peer Review, 2005, <u>http://www.energetics.com/meetings/supercon05/pdfs/presentations/a\_southwire\_c\_able.pdf</u>

- [1-14] Southwire ®, Southwire Unveils New Generation of HTS Cable, 18 Sep. 2006, <u>http://www.southwire.com/processGetArticle.do?commonId=72e2c46f1fdad010Vg</u> <u>nVCM1000002702a8c0</u>
- [1-15] Nishijima, K.; Asada, M.; Izumi, A., Takahashi, R., Sato, H., Maeda, S., A new project for superconducting generator (SCG), *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume: 13, Issue: 2, Part 2, June 2003, Page(s): 2124-2127
- [1-16] Al-Mosawi, M. K.; Beduz, C.; Yang, Y.; Construction of a 100 kVA High Temperature Superconducting Synchronous Generator, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume: 15, NO. 2, June 2005
- [1-17] Bray, J.; Design and Development of a 100 MVA HTS Generator for Commercial Entry (GE), *Superconductivity for Electric Systems Annual Peer Review*, 2003
- [1-18] Cleantech Blog, GE Abandons Superconducting Generator, 09 Feb. 2006, <u>http://www.cleantechblog.com/2006/02/ge-abandons-superconducting-generator.html</u>
- [1-19] Barnes, P. N.; Rhoads, G. L.; Tolliver, J. C.; Sumption, M. D.; Schmaeman, K. W.; Compact, lightweight, superconducting power generators, *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, Jan. 2005, Volume 41, Issue 1, Part 2, Page (s): 268-273
- [1-20] Pleva, E.; Waukesha 5/10 MVA Transformer, Superconductivity for Electric Systems Annual Peer Review, 2004
- [1-21] Weber, C. S.; Reis, C. T.; Hazelton, D. W.; Schwenterly, S. W.; Cole, M. J.; Demko, J. A.; Pleva, E. F.; Mehta, S.; Golner, T.; Aversa, N.; Design and operational testing of a 5/10-MVA HTS utility power transformer, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 15, Issue 2, Part 2, June 2005 Page(s): 2210-2213
- [1-22] Xue, X. D.; Cheng, K. W. E.; Sutanto, D.; A study of the status and future of superconducting magnetic energy storage in power systems, *Superconducting Science Technology*, Volume 19, No 6, R31-R39, June 2006
- [1-23] Ribeiro, P. F.; SMES for enhanced flexibility and performance of FACTS devices, *IEEE Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting*, Vol. 2, Page(s): 1120-1131, 1999
- [1-24] American Superconductor <sup>TM</sup> Report, Solutions for Improving Reliability and Security of Transmission Grids, http://www.amsuper.com/products/transmissionGrid/index.cfm
- [1-25] Singh, R.; Baliga, B.J.; Cryogenic Operation of Silicon Power Devices, Kluwer, 1998
- [1-26] Thuries, E.; Pham, V.D.; Laumond, Y.; Verhaege, T.; Fevrier, A.; Collet, M.; Bekhaled, M.; Towards the superconducting fault current limiter, *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery*, Vol. 6, No. 2, April 1991, pp 801-808.
- [1-27] Ito, D.; Yoneda, E.S.; Tsurunaga, K.; Tada, T.; Hara, T.; Ohkuma, T.; Yamamoto, T.; 6.6kV/1.5kV-class superconducting fault current limiter development, *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, Vol. 28, No. 1, January 1992, pp 438-441

- [1-28] Tixador, P.; Brunet, Y.; Leveque, J.; Pham, V.D.; Hybrid superconducting AC fault current limiter principle and previous studies, *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, Vol. 28, No. 1, January 1992, pp 446-449.
- [1-29] Noe, M.; Oswald, B.R.; Technical and economical benefits of superconducting fault current limiters in power systems, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 9, Issue 2, Part 1, June 1999, Page(s):1347-1350
- [1-30] Leung, E. M.; Superconducting fault current limiters, *IEEE Power Engineering Review*, Volume 20, Issue 8, Aug. 2000 Page(s):15-18, 30
- [1-31] Kalsi, S. S.; Malozemoff, A.; HTS fault current limiter concept, *IEEE Power* Engineering Society General Meeting, 6-10 June 2004, Page(s):1426-1430 Vol.2
- [1-32] American Superconductor <sup>TM</sup> Report, *HTS Fault Current Limiters*, http://www.amsuper.com/products/htsWire/FaultCurrentLimiters.cfm
- [1-33] Kalsi, S. S.; HTS ship propulsion motors, *IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting*, 2004. Vol.2, June 2004, Page(s): 2047-2048
- [1-34] American Superconductor <sup>TM</sup> Report, *High Temperature Superconductor Ship Propulsion* <u>www.amsuper.com/products/motorsGenerators/documents/MP\_DS\_5\_36.5\_0105\_r9redu</u> <u>cedfilesize.pdf</u>
- [1-35] Papst, G.; Gamble, B.; Rodenbush, A.; Schöttler, R.; "Development of synchronous motors and generators with HTS field windings", Superconductor Science and Technology, Volume 10, December1997, Page(s): 924 – 926
- [1-36] Kalsi, S. S.; Development status of superconducting rotating machines, *IEEE Power Engineering Society Winter Meeting*, Volume 1, 27-31 Jan. 2002 Page(s):401-403
- [1-37] Snitchler, G.; Gamble, B.; Kalsi, S. S.; The Performance of a 5 MW High Temperature Superconductor Ship Propulsion Motor, *IEEE Transaction on Applied Superconductivity*, Vol. 15, NO. 2, June 2005
- [1-38] American Superconductor <sup>TM</sup> Report, *Motors, Generators and Synchronous Condensers*, <u>http://www.amsuper.com/products/motorsGenerators/faq.cfm</u>
- [1-39] American Superconductor <sup>TM</sup> Report, Factory Testing of a 36.5 MW High Temperature Superconducting Propulsion Motor, <u>http://www.amsuper.com/products/motorsGenerators/documents/ASNEpresentatio</u> <u>nonHTSMotorTest2007.pdf</u>
- [1-40] Central Japan Railway Company, Successful Development of the World's Highest-Performance High Temperature Superconducting Coil, News Releases, April 16, 2004, <u>http://jr-central.co.jp/eng.nsf/english/bulletin/\$FILE/vol46-tokai.pdf</u>
- [1-41] Terai, M.; Igarashi, M.; Kusada, S.; Nemoto, K.; Kuriyama, T.; Hanai, S.; Yamashita, T.; Nakao, H.; The R&D Project of HTS Magnets for the Superconducting Maglev, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 16, Issue 2, June 2006, Page(s):1124 - 1129

- [1-42] Gaensslen, F. H.; Rideout, V. L.; Walker, E. J.; Design and characterization of very small MOSFETs for low temperature operation, *International Electron Devices Meeting*, Volume 21, 1975, Page(s):43-46
- [1-43] Maddox, R. L.; p-MOSFET parameters at cryogenic temperatures, *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Volume 23, Issue 1, Jan 1976, Page(s):16-21
- [1-44] Kirschman, R. K.; Cold electronics: an overview, *Cryogenics*, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 115–122, Mar. 1985.
- [1-45] Kirschman, R. K.; Low-temperature electronics, *IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine*, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 12-24, 1990.
- [1-46] Curcic, T.; Wolf, S. A.; Superconducting hybrid power electronics for military systems, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 15, Issue 2, Part 2, June 2005, Page(s):2364-2369
- [1-47] Haldar, P.; Ye; H.; Efstathiadis, H.; Raynolds, J.; Hennessy, M.J. Mueller, O.M.; Mueller, E.K.; Improving performance of cryogenic power electronics, *Applied IEEE Transactions on Superconductivity*, Volume 15, Issue 2, Part 2, June 2005 Page(s): 2370-2375
- [1-48] Benda, V.; Gowar, J.; Grant, D. A.; *Power Semiconductor Devices Theory and Applications*, John Wiley & Son Ltd, 1999
- [1-49] Singh, R.; Baliga, B. J.; Cryogenic operation of p-i-n power rectifiers, Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, ISPSD '93, 18-20 May 1993, Page(s):193-198
- [1-50] Prasertsit, A.; Jackson, W. D.; Characteristics of p-i-n power diodes for power electronics operated at cryogenic temperatures, *Energy Conversion Engineering Conference*, 2002. *IECEC* '02. 2002 37th Intersociety, 29-31 July 2004 Page(s):704
- [1-51] Singh, R.; Baliga, B. J.; Power MOSFET Analysis/Optimization for cryogenic operation including the effect of degradation in breakdown voltage, *Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, ISPSD* '92. May 19-21, 1992 Page(s):339-344
- [1-52] Mauriello, R. J.; Sundaram, K. B.; Chow, L. C.; A study of on-resistance and switching characteristics of the power MOSFET under cryogenic conditions, *International Journal of Electronics*, Volume 87, Number 1, January 1, 2000, Page(s): 99-106
- [1-53] Karunanithi, R.; Raychaudhuri, A. K.; Szücs, Z.; Shivashankar, G. V.; Behaviour of power MOSFETs at cryogenic temperatures, *Cryogenics*, 1991, Vol. 31, No12, Page(s): 1065-1069
- [1-54] Mueller; O.; On-resistance, thermal resistance and reverse recovery time of power MOSFETs at 77 K, Cryogenics, Volume 29, Issue 10, October 1989, Page(s): 1006-1014
- [1-55] Shenai, K.; Performance potential of low-voltage power MOSFETs in liquidnitrogen-cooled power systems, *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Volume 38, Issue 4, April 1991 Page(s):934-936

- [1-56] Schlogl, A. E.; Deboy, G.; Lorenzen, H. W.; Linnert, U.; Schulze, H. J.; Stengl, J. P.; Properties of CoolMOS between 420 K and 80 K-the ideal device for cryogenic applications, 11th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, ISPSD '99. Proceedings., 26-28 May 1999 Page(s):91-94
- [1-57] Lu, W.; Mauriello, R. J.; Sundaram, K. B.; Chow, L. C.; Switching characteristics of a power MOSFET with varying temperature, *Southeastcon '98. Proceedings. IEEE*, 24-26 April 1998 Page(s):268-270
- [1-58] Johnson, G. H.; Kemp, W. T.; Schrimpf, R. D.; Galloway, K. F.; Ackermann, M. R.; Pugh, R. D.; The effects of ionizing radiation on commercial power MOSFETs operated at cryogenic temperatures, *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, Volume 41, Issue 6, Part 1, Dec 1994 Page(s):2530-2535
- [1-59] Hudgins, J. L.; Menhart, S.; Portnoy, W. M.; The low temperature switching performance of thyristors and MOSFETs, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1990. PESC '90 Record., 21st Annual IEEE,* 11-14 June 1990 Page(s):429-434
- [1-60] Jackson, W. D.; Mazzoni, O. S.; Schempp, E.; Characteristics of semiconductor devices at cryogenic temperatures, *Energy Conversion Engineering Conference*, 1996. IECEC 96. Proceedings of the 31st Intersociety, Volume 2, 11-16 Aug. 1996 Page(s):676-681
- [1-61] Ghazavi, P.; Fat Duen Ho; A numerical model for MOSFET's from liquid-nitrogen temperature to room temperature, *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Volume 42, Issue 1, Jan. 1995 Page(s):123-134
- [1-62] Gildenblat, G. S.; Huang, C. L.; N-channel MOSFET model for the 60-300-K temperature range, *IEEE Transactions on Computer-Aided Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems*, Volume 10, Issue 4, April 1991 Page(s): 512-518
- [1-63] Lex A. Akers, A model of the temperature-dependent operation of a MOSFET, *SIMULATION*, Vol. 34, No. 1, 1-9 (1980)
- [1-64] Singh, R.; Baliga, B. J.; Analysis and optimization of power MOSFETs for cryogenic operation, *Solid-State Electronics*, Volume 36, Issue 8, August 1993, Pages 1203-1211
- [1-65] Extreme-Temperature Electronics Tutorials Part 3, http://www.extremetemperatureelectronics.com/tutorial3.html
- [1-66] Mueller, O.; Cryogenic MOSFET power conversion, *Proceedings of the Workshop* on Low Temperature Semiconductor Electronics, 7-8 Aug. 1989, Page(s): 94-98
- [1-67] Mueller, O. M.; Herd, K. G.; Ultra-high efficiency power conversion using cryogenic MOSFETs and HT-superconductors, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1993. PESC '93 Record., 24th Annual IEEE, 20-24 June 1993* Page(s):772-778
- [1-68] Mueller, O.; Properties of high-power Cryo-MOSFETs, Industry Applications Conference, 1996. Thirty-First IAS Annual Meeting, IAS '96., Conference Record of the 1996 IEEE, Volume 3, 6-10 Oct. 1996 Page(s):1443-1448

- [1-69] Caiafa, A.; Snezhko, A.; Hudgins, J. L.; Santi, E.; Prozorov, R.; IGBT operation at cryogenic temperatures: non-punch-through and punch-through comparison, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, PESC 04. IEEE 35th Annual*, 2004, Volume: 4, Page(s): 2960-2966
- [1-70] Caiafa, A.; Wang, X.; Hudgins, J. L.; Santi, E.; Palmer, P. R.; Cryogenic study and modelling of IGBTs, *Power Electronics Specialist Conference*, 2003. *PESC '03*. 2003 IEEE 34th Annual, Volume 4, 15-19 June 2003 Page(s): 1897-1903
- [1-71] Kang, X.; Caiafa, A.; Santi, E.; Hudgins, J.L.; Palmer, P. R.; Low temperature characterization and modelling of IGBTs, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2002. IEEE 33rd Annual*, Volume 3, 23-27 June 2002, Page(s):1277-1282
- [1-72] Chow, T. P.; So, K. C.; Lau, D.; Operation of IGBTs at low temperatures, Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, ISPSD '91. 22-24 April 1991 Page(s):226-228
- [1-73] Singh, R.; Baliga, B. J.; Cryogenic operation of asymmetric N-channel IGBTs, Proceedings of the 4th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 1992. ISPSD '92. May 19-21, 1992 Page(s):188-193
- [1-74] Yang, S.; Cryogenic characteristics of IGBTs, PhD thesis, University of Birmingham, 2005
- [1-75] Forsyth, A.; Yang, S.; Mawby, P. A., Igic, P.; Measurement and modelling of power electronic devices at cryogenic temperatures, *IEE Proceedings on Circuits, Devices and Systems*, Vol 153-5, 2006.
- [1-76] Yang, S.; Forsyth, A.; Characterisation of 1700 V Trench Field Stop IGBTs for Extreme Low Temperature Operation, *Sixth European Workshop on Low Temperature Electronics (WOLTE-6)*, June 2004, Noordwijk, the Netherlands
- [1-77] Yang, S.; Forsyth, A.; Characterisation of Power Devices for Extreme Low Temperature Operation, *10th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications*, September 2003, Toulouse, France
- [1-78] Ward, R. R.; Dawson, W. J.; Zhu, L.; Kirschman, R. K.; Mueller, O.; Hennessy, M.J.; Mueller, E.; Patterson, R.L.; Dickman, J.E.; Hammoud, A.; Power diodes for cryogenic operation, *Power Electronics Specialist Conference, 2003. PESC '03. 2003 IEEE 34th Annual*, Volume 4, 15-19 June 2003, Page(s): 1891-1896
- [1-79] Ward, R. R.; Dawson, W. J.; Zhu, L.; Kirschman, R. K.; Mueller, O.; Patterson, R. L. J.; Dickman, E.; Hammoud, A.; Ge semiconductor devices for cryogenic power electronics-III, 15th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & ICs (ISPSD'03), Cambridge, UK, 14-17 April 2003
- [1-80] Ward, R. R.; Kirschman, R. K.; Jhabvala, M. D.; Babu, R. S.; Das, N. C.; Camin, D. V.; Grassi, V.; Kandiah, K.; Rosenberg, J.J.; Development of cryogenic Ge JFETs-III, *Proc. 4th European Workshop on Low Temperature Electronics* (WOLTE 4), Noordwijk, The Netherlands, 21-23 June 2000, Page(s):105-111
- [1-81] Ward, R. R.; Dawson, W. J.; Zhu, L.; Kirschman, R. K.; Niu, G.; Nelms, R. M.; Mueller, O.; Hennessy, M. J.; Mueller, E. K.; Patterson, R. L.; Dickman, J. E.;

Hammoud, A.; SiGe semiconductor devices for cryogenic power electronics-IV, *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition, 2006. APEC '06. Twenty-First Annual IEEE*, 19-23 March 2006, Page(s): 4 pp

- [1-82] Hammoud, A.; Overton, E.; Low temperature characterization of ceramic and film power capacitors, *IEEE 1996 Annual Report of the Conference on Electrical Insulation and Dielectric Phenomena*, Volume 2, 20-23 Oct. 1996, Page(s):701-704
- [1-83] Patterson, R. L.; Hammond, A.; Gerber, S. S.; Evaluation of capacitors at cryogenic temperatures for space applications, *Conference Record of the 1998 IEEE International Symposium on Electrical Insulation*, Volume 2, 7-10 June 1998 Page(s): 468-471
- [1-84] Gerber, S. S., "Performance of high-frequency high-flux magnetic cores at cryogenic temperatures", Energy Conversion Engineering Conference, 2002.
   IECEC '02. 2002 37th Intersociety 29-31 July 2004 Page(s):249 254
- [1-85] Patterson, R. L.; Hammoud, A.; Dickman, J. E.; Gerber, S.; Elbuluk, M.; Overton, E.; Electronics for deep space cryogenic applications, *Proceedings of the 5th European Workshop on Low Temperature Electronics*, June 19-21, 2002 Page(s): 207–210
- [1-86] Patterson, R. L.; Hammoud, A.; Elbuluk, M.; Assessment of electronics for cryogenic space exploration missions, *Cryogenics*, Volume 46, Issues 2-3, February-March 2006, Pages(s): 231-236
- [1-87] Hammoud, A.; Patterson, R. L.; Gerber, S.; Elbuluk, M.; Electronic components and circuits for extreme temperature environments, *Proceedings of the 10th IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems, ICECS* 2003, 14-17 Dec. 2003 Volume 1, Page(s): 44-47
- [1-88] Elbuluk, M.; Hammoud, A.; Patterson, R.; Power Electronic Components, Circuits and Systems for Deep Space Missions, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 2005. PESC '05. IEEE 36<sup>th</sup>, Page(s): 1156-1162
- [1-89] Elbuluk, M.; Hammoud, A.; Power Electronics in Harsh Environments, Industry Applications Conference, 2005. Fortieths IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record, Page(s): 1442-1448 Vol. 2
- [1-90] Gerber, S. S.; Hammoud, A.; Elbuluk, M .E.; Patterson, R. L.; Overton, E.; Ghaffarian, R.; Ramesham, R.; Agarwal, S. G.; Low Temperature Testing of a Radiation Hardened CMOS 8-Bit Flash Analog-to-Digital (A/D) Converter, NASA Technical Report, http://ntrs.nasa.gov/archive/nasa/casi.ntrs.nasa.gov/20020021915 2002002904.pdf
- [1-91] Elbuluk, M. E.; Hammoud, A.; Gerber, S.; Patterson, R.; Overton, E.; Performance of high-speed PWM control chips at cryogenic temperatures, *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, Volume 39, Issue 2, March-April 2003, Page(s): 443-450
- [1-92] Ray, B.; Gerber, S. S.; Patterson, R. L.; Myers I. T.; Power control electronics for cryogenic instrumentation, NASA Technical Report, http://ntrs.nasa.gov/archive/nasa/casi.ntrs.nasa.gov/19960001485\_1996901485.pdf

- [1-93] Elbuluk, M.; Gerber, S.; Hammoud, A.; Patterson, R.; Characterization of Low Power DC/DC Converter Modules at Cryogenic Temperatures, *Proceedings of IEEE IAS Annual Meeting*, October 2000, Rome, Italy
- [1-94] Elbuluk, M.; Hammoud, A.; Gerber, S. S.; Patterson, R.; Cryogenic evaluation of an advanced DC/DC converter module for deep space applications, *Industry Applications Conference*, 2002. 37th IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record, Volume 1, 13-18 Oct. 2002 Page(s):227-233
- [1-95] Elbuluk, M.; Gerber, A.; Hammoud, A.; Patterson, R.; Efficiency and Regulation of Low Power DC/DC Converter Modules of Cryogenic Temperatures, *Energy Conversion Engineering Conference and Exhibit, 2000. (IECEC) 35th Intersociety*, Volume 1, Page(s): 1-6
- [1-96] Gerber, S. S.; Hammoud, A.; Patterson, R. L.; Elbuluk, M.E.; Performance Evaluation of Low Power DC/DC Converter Modules at Cryogenic Temperature, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, PESC 00. IEEE 31st Annual 2000*, Volume: 3, Page(s): 1201-1206
- [1-97] Elbuluk, M. E.; Gerber, S.; Hammoud, A.; Patterson, R. L.; Performance of power converters at cryogenic temperatures, *The 8th IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems, ICECS 2001*, Volume 1, 2-5 Sept. 2001 Page(s):153-156
- [1-98] Ray, B.; Gerber, S. S.; Patterson, R. L.; Myers, I. T.; Low-temperature operation of a buck DC/DC converter, *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition*, 1995. APEC '95. Conference Proceedings 1995., Tenth Annual, Issue 0, Part 2, 5-9 March 1995 Page(s):941-946 Vol. 2
- [1-99] Perez-Guerrero, F. F.; Ray, B.; Patterson, R .L.; Low temperature operation of a three-level buck DC-DC converter, *Energy Conversion Engineering Conference*, 1997. IECEC-97. Proceedings of the 32nd Intersociety, 27 Jul.-1 Aug. 1997, Volume 2, Page(s):1415-1420
- [1-100] Perez-Guerrero, F. F.; Venkatesan, K.; Ray, B.; Patterson, R. L.; Low temperature performance of a closed loop three level buck converter, *Proceedings of the IEEE* 1999 International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems, 1999. PEDS '99, Volume 1, 27-29 July 1999, Page(s):58-62
- [1-101] Ray, B.; Patterson, R. L.; Wide temperature operation of a PWM DC/DC converter, *IEEE Industry Applications Conference, Thirtieth IAS Annual Meeting, IAS '95. Conference Record*, 1995, Volume: 2, Page(s): 971-976.
- [1-102] Ray, B.; Gerber, S. S.; Patterson, R. L.; Dickman, J. E.; Low temperature performance of a boost converter with MPP and HTS inductors, *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition*, 1996. APEC '96. Conference Proceedings 1996., *Eleventh Annual*, Volume 2, 3-7 March 1996 Page(s):883-888
- [1-103] Li, H.; Liu, D.; Luongo, C. A.; Investigation of potential benefits of MOSFETs hard-switching and soft-switching converters at cryogenic temperature, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 15, Issue 2, Part 2, June 2005 Page(s):2376-2380

- [1-104] Ray, B.; Gerber, S. S.; Patterson, R. L.; Low temperature performance of a fullbridge DC-DC converter, *Energy Conversion Engineering Conference*, 1996. *IECEC 96. Proceedings of the 31st Intersociety*, Volume 1, 11-16 Aug. 1996 Page(s):553-559
- [1-105] Ray, B.; Gerber, S. S.; Patterson, R. L.; Myers, I. T.; 77 K Operation of a Multiresonant Power Converter, *IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference*, 1995. *PESC '95 Record.*, 26th Annual, Volume 1, 18-22 June 1995, Page(s): 55-60
- [1-106] Marx, M.; Schlogl, A.; Eder, K.; Schroder, D.; Comparison of zero-voltageswitching converters at low temperatures, *Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 1996. PESC '96 Record., 27th Annual IEEE*, Volume 1, 23-27 June 1996, Page(s): 83-88
- [1-107] Ise, T.; Murakami, Y.; Control of a superconducting coil by a MOSFET power converter operating at near liquid nitrogen temperature, *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, Volume 27, Issue 2, Part 4, Mar 1991, Page(s): 2020-2023
- [1-108] Gardiner, A. I.; Johnson, S. A.; Schempp, E.; Operation of power electronic converters at cryogenic temperatures for utility energy conditioning applications, *Energy Conversion Engineering Conference, 1996. IECEC 96. Proceedings of the* 31st Intersociety, Volume 4, 11-16 Aug. 1996, Page(s): 2209-2214
- [1-109] Mueller, O.; Cryogenic power conversion for fuel cell systems especially for vehicles, *United States Patent*, US 6798083, Published date: Sep. 28, 2004
- [1-110] Mueller, O.; Low-cost magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) cryo-system, *United States Patent*, US 6879852, Published date: Apr. 12, 2005

# **Chapter 2**

# Cryogenic operation of single-transistor step-down converters

This Chapter describes the analysis and experimental measurement of the semiconductor losses in single-transistor step-down converters. Prototypes are examined that operate from 120 V and 500 V supplies, and MOSFET switching devices are employed in each prototype along with several diodes including ultrafast, Schottky and silicon carbide types. The performance of the prototypes is examined at temperatures down to 20 K.

## 2.1 Step-down converter operation and design

The single-transistor step-down converter, shown in Figure 2-1, consists of a high-frequency switching transistor  $S_1$  which operates with duty ratio D, freewheeling diode  $D_1$  and output filter  $L - C_o$ . Assuming lossless operation, the output voltage  $V_o$  is given by  $DV_{In}$  [2-1], where  $V_{In}$  is the DC source voltage.  $C_{In}$  is a decoupling capacitor which provides the high-frequency AC component of the converter input current. The source current  $I_{In}$  is then assumed to be purely DC.

Figure 2-2 displays the main waveforms of the step-down converter in the continuous conduction mode.  $v_F$  is the freewheel diode voltage,  $v_L$  is the inductor voltage,  $i_L$  is the

inductor current with a DC component  $I_o$  and a peak-to-peak ripple  $\Delta I_L$ ,  $v_o$  is the output capacitor voltage with a DC component  $V_o$  and a peak-to-peak ripple  $\Delta V_o$ ,  $i_{s1}$  is the transistor current,  $i_c$  is the input capacitor current and  $v_{In}$  is the input capacitor voltage, which has a DC component  $V_{In}$  and a peak-to-peak ripple  $\Delta V_{In}$ . The difference between the



Figure 2-1 Step-down (buck) converter



Figure 2-2 Idealised voltage and current waveforms in a buck converter

DC source voltage  $V_{In}$  and the capacitor voltage  $v_{In}$  is assumed to be dropped across the inductive impedance of the supply cables, which is not shown explicitly.

Based on the analysis of the waveforms and again assuming lossless operation, the design equations for the input capacitor, the filter inductor and the output capacitor are summarised as below.

$$L = \frac{V_o}{\Delta I_L} (1 - D) T_s \tag{2-1}$$

$$C_{o} = \frac{1}{8L\Delta V_{o}} V_{o} (1 - D) T_{s}^{2}$$
(2-2)

$$C_{In} = \frac{I_{In}(1-D)T_s}{\Delta V_{In}}$$
(2-3)

where  $T_s$  is the switching period.

Table 2-1 Single-transistor converter design requirements				
Design	Converter input voltage $V_{In}$			
Parameters	120 V	500 V		
Input current (A)	4	1		
Input power (W)	480	500		
Output voltage (V)	60	250		
Output current (A)	8	2		
Duty ratio	50%	50%		
Frequency (kHz)	50	50		
Input voltage ripple (V)	6	25		
Output voltage ripple (V)	0.6	2.5		
Inductor current ripple (A)	1.2	0.3		

 Table 2-1
 Single-transistor converter design requirements

Prototype converters were designed for operation from 120 V and 500 V DC supplies according to the requirements listed in Table 2-1. Applying the requirements to the design

equations resulted in the passive component values for the 120 V and 500 V buck converters, as displayed in Table 2-2. For the 120 V buck converter, the MOSFET IRFB31N20D was selected, and the MOSFET SPP20N60C3 was chosen for the 500 V converter. A Schottky barrier diode, an ultrafast diode and a silicon carbide Schottky barrier diode were selected as freewheel diodes. The breakdown voltage  $V_{BR}$  and on-state resistance  $R_{DS(on)}$  for the MOSFETs are listed in Table 2-3, and the breakdown voltage and the voltage drop  $V_F$  at the rated current for the diodes are listed in Table 2-4. Totally there are three 120 V converters, formed by the low voltage MOSFET and any one of the three diodes, and two 500 V converters, formed by the high voltage MOSFET and either of the two high voltage diodes.

Table 2-2Passive component design values

Circuit	$C_{In}$	L	$C_o$	
120 V	6.67 μF	0.5 mH	5 µF	
500 V	0.4 µF	8.3 mH	0.3 µF	

Table 2-3	Power MOSFET	parameters at 25°C

MOSFETs	$V_{BR}$ (V)	$R_{DS(on)}(\Omega)$
IRFB31N20D	200	0.082
SPP20N60C3	600	0.19

Tuble 2 1 Tower didde parameters at 25 C					
Rectifiers	Туре	$V_{_{BR}}$ (V)	$V_F$ (V)		
MBR20200CT	Silicon Schottky barrier	200	0.85 @10 A		
MUR1560	Silicon ultrafast rectifier	600	1.50 @15 A		
CSD10060	Silicon carbide Schottky barrier	600	1.80 @10 A		

Table 2-4Power diode parameters at 25°C

## 2.2 Semiconductor loss analysis at room temperature

The semiconductor losses in the single-transistor step-down converter consist of two parts, conduction loss and switching loss. The conduction loss depends on the forward voltage drop across and the current through each semiconductor device. The temperature dependence of MOSFET and diode forward characteristics was explained in Chapter 1, Section 1.3. The switching loss contains MOSFET and diode turn-on and turn-off losses. The MOSFET switching losses will be explained in the following sections.

#### 2.2.1 MOSFET transient analysis

The analysis of the switching transient presented here is based on that in [2-2]. The MOSFET switching transient in a buck converter takes place under clamped inductive load conditions and the equivalent circuit is shown in Figure 2-3, where the MOSFET is modelled by a transconductance  $g_{fs}$  and three inter-electrode capacitors, the gate-source capacitor  $C_{G'S'}$ , the gate-drain capacitor  $C_{G'D'}$  and the drain-source capacitor  $C_{D'S'}$ . The inductances of the drain and source leads,  $L_D$  and  $L_S$ , and the resistance  $R_{G'}$  of the polycrystalline silicon gate are all included, and  $R_G$  is the external gate resistor.



Figure 2-3 Equivalent circuit for clamped inductive load switching



Figure 2-4 MOSFET turn-on and turn-off waveforms

Each switching transition is divided into a sequence of consecutive intervals, plotted in Figure 2-4. The sketched waveforms in Figure 2-4 show the gate-source voltage  $v_{G'S'}$ , the drain current  $i_D$  and the drain-source voltage  $v_{D'S'}$ .

#### 2.2.1.1 MOSFET turn-on analysis

Initially the MOSFET is assumed to be turned off and the load current  $I_o$  circulates through the freewheel diode. The gate-source voltage  $v_{G'S'}$  is below the threshold voltage  $V_T$ , the drain current  $i_D$  is zero and the drain-source voltage  $v_{D'S'}$  equals  $v_{DS}$  which has a value of  $V_{DD} + V_F$ ,  $V_F$  is the forward voltage drop of freewheel diode in Figure 2-3. The gate drive voltage  $v_{GG}$  then switches instantaneously to the high level of  $V_{GH}$  from zero. The subsequent turn-on transient is typically divided into four parts as shown in Figure 2-4.

The first part is the delay time  $t_D$ , during which capacitors  $C_{G'S'}$  and  $C_{G'D'}$  are charged via gate resistance  $R_G + R_{G'}$  and the gate voltage increases exponentially until  $v_{G'S'} = V_T$  according to (2-4), whilst  $i_D = 0$  and  $v_{D'S'} = v_{DS} = V_{DD} + V_F$ .

$$v_{GS'} = V_{GH} [1 - \exp(-t/t_G)]$$
(2-4)

where

$$t_{G} = (R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'S'} + C_{G'D'})$$
(2-5)

An expression for  $t_D$  may be obtained by setting  $v_{G'S'} = V_T$  and  $t = t_D$  in (2-4).

$$t_{D} = t_{G} \ln(\frac{V_{GH}}{V_{GH} - V_{T}})$$
(2-6)

Once the gate-source voltage is above the threshold voltage,  $v_{GS} > V_T$ , the MOSFET enters the second stage of the transient, denoted  $t_1$  in Figure 2-4, during which both drain current and drain-source voltage are non-zero, generating switching loss. In order to obtain analytical solutions for  $t_1$ , the source lead inductance  $L_s$  is neglected. The simplified equivalent circuit is redrawn in Figure 2-5.



Figure 2-5 Simplified equivalent circuit during  $t_1$ 

During  $t_1$  the drain current increases from zero to  $I_o$ , the current level in the inductive load, at which point the freewheel diode becomes reverse biased. The gate-source voltage rises from  $V_T$  to the plateau value  $V_T + I_o / g_{fs}$ , and the drain-source voltage drops slightly from  $V_{DD} + V_F$  due to the increasing drain current in the parasitic inductance. The gate current is the sum of the  $C_{G'S'}$  and  $C_{G'D'}$  charging currents in (2-7).

$$i_{G} = C_{G'S'} \frac{dv_{G'S'}}{dt} + C_{G'D'} \frac{dv_{G'D'}}{dt} = \frac{V_{GH} - v_{G'S'}}{R_{G} + R_{G'}}$$
(2-7)

The drain current is expressed in (2-8).

$$\frac{di_D}{dt} = \frac{V_{DD} + V_F - V_{D'S'}}{L_D}$$
(2-8)

$$i_{D} = \int \frac{V_{DD} + V_{F} - v_{D'S'}}{L_{D}} dt$$
(2-9)

Summing the currents at node S', Figure 2-5, the source current can be expressed by (2-10), where the channel current equals  $g_{fs}(v_{G'S'} - V_T)$  according to the MOSFET characteristic.

$$i_{s} = g_{fs}(v_{G'S'} - V_{T}) + C_{G'S'}\frac{dv_{G'S'}}{dt} + C_{D'S'}\frac{dv_{D'S'}}{dt}$$
(2-10)

Using Kirchhoff's current law, the source current is the total of the gate and drain currents.

$$i_s = i_G + i_D \tag{2-11}$$

Substituting (2-7), (2-9) and (2-10) into (2-11) and re-arranging, the drain-source voltage is expressed in (2-12)

$$L_{D}C_{D'S'}\frac{d^{2}v_{D'S'}}{dt^{2}} + v_{D'S'} = V_{DD} + V_{F} - L_{D}[(g_{fs} + \frac{1}{R_{G} + R_{G'}})\frac{dv_{G'S'}}{dt} + C_{G'S'}\frac{d^{2}v_{G'S'}}{dt^{2}}]$$
(2-12)

The gate-drain voltage is obtained in (2-13) by rearranging (2-7)

$$C_{G'D'} \frac{dv_{G'D'}}{dt} = \frac{V_{GH} - v_{G'S'}}{R_G + R_{G'}} - C_{G'S'} \frac{dv_{G'S'}}{dt}$$
(2-13)

Applying Laplace transforms to (2-12) and (2-13), denoting the Laplace operator by *s* and neglecting the initial voltages across the capacitors since the product of the voltage and capacitance is relatively small [2-2, 2-3],

Chapter 2 Cryogenic operation of single-transistor step-down converters

$$v_{D'S'}(s) = \frac{V_{DD} + V_F - sL_D[g_{fs} + 1/(R_G + R_{G'}) + sC_{G'S'}]v_{G'S'}(s)}{1 + s^2 L_D C_{D'S'}}$$
(2-14)

$$v_{G'D'}(s) = \frac{(V_{GH} - v_{G'S'}(s))/(R_G + R_{G'}) - sC_{G'S'}v_{G'S'}(s)}{sC_{G'D'}}$$
(2-15)

Using Kirchhoff's voltage law, the gate-source voltage is the sum of  $v_{G'D'}$  and  $v_{D'S'}$  in (2-16).

$$v_{G'S'}(s) = v_{G'D'}(s) + v_{D'S'}(s)$$
(2-16)

Substituting (2-14) and (2-15) into (2-16) and rearranging, the gate-source voltage is expressed in (2-17). The detailed calculation is seen in Appendix 1.

$$v_{G'S'}(s) = \frac{V_{GH}}{s^3 t_{G3}^3 + s^2 t_{G2}^2 + s t_G + 1}$$
(2-17)

where

$$t_{G3}^{3} = L_{D}(R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'D'}C_{G'S'} + C_{G'S'}C_{D'S'} + C_{D'S'}C_{G'D'})$$

$$t_{G2}^{2} = L_{D} \{ C_{D'S'} + C_{G'D'} [1 + g_{fs} (R_{G} + R_{G'})] \}$$

 $t_G$  is given by (2-5). Given that the product of either two inter-electrode capacitances is orders of magnitude less than the single capacitance [2-1, 2-2],  $t_{G3}^3$  is neglected. Assuming  $g_{fs}(R_G + R_{G'}) >> 1$ , which is usually the case for power MOSFETs with high drain current ratings [2-1, 2-2], (2-17) reduces to

$$v_{G'S'}(s) = \frac{V_{GH}}{s^2 t_m t_{G'} + s t_G + 1}$$
(2-18)

where  $t_m = g_{fs} L_D$  and  $t_{G'} = C_{G'D'} (R_G + R_{G'})$ .

The equation (2-18) may be solved to either sinusoidal or exponential solutions [2-3]. Since  $t_G^2$  is greater than  $4t_m t_{G'}$  in the converters considered in this Thesis, an exponential solution

is given in (2-19) for  $v_{G'S'}$  [2-4], assuming the initial conditions are  $v_{G'S'} = V_T$  and  $di_D / dt = 0$ .

$$v_{G'S'} = V_{GH} - (V_{GH} - V_T) \frac{t_b \exp(-t/t_b) - t_c \exp(-t/t_c)}{t_b - t_c}$$
(2-19)

Provided that  $v_{GS} > V_T$  and  $v_{DS} > i_D R_{DS(on)}$  during  $t_1$  [2-2], the drain current is calculated by  $i_D = g_{fS}(v_{G'S'} - V_T)$ . Substituting for  $v_{G'S'}$  from (2-19) results in (2-20).

$$i_{D} = g_{fs} (V_{GH} - V_{T}) (1 - \frac{t_{b} \exp(-t/t_{b}) - t_{c} \exp(-t/t_{c})}{t_{b} - t_{c}})$$
(2-20)

 $t_1$  is obtained by setting  $i_D$  equal to  $I_O$  in (2-20) and solving for t.

Differentiating (2-20) to obtain an expression for  $di_D / dt$ , then substituting into (2-8) results in the expression for  $v_{D'S'}$ .

$$v_{D'S'} = V_{DD} + V_F - g_{fs} L_D (V_{GH} - V_T) \frac{\exp(-t/t_b) - \exp(-t/t_c)}{t_b - t_c}$$
(2-21)

where

$$t_{b} = \frac{2t_{m}t_{G'}}{t_{G} - (t_{G}^{2} - 4t_{m}t_{G'})^{1/2}}$$
(2-22)

$$t_{c} = \frac{2t_{m}t_{G'}}{t_{G} + (t_{G}^{2} - 4t_{m}t_{G'})^{1/2}}$$
(2-23)

During the third stage of the transient, denoted  $t_2$  in Figure 2-4, the drain-source voltage decreases from  $V_{D^*}$ , the value at the end of  $t_1$ , to zero, whilst  $C_{G'D'}$  is charged by the gate current. In this period both  $i_D$  and  $v_{G'S'}$  remain constant with values of  $I_O$  and  $V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$  respectively. The equivalent circuit is displayed in Figure 2-6. The analysis neglects diode reverse recovery, resulting in the waveforms shown in Figure 2-4.



Figure 2-6 Equivalent circuit for the fall of the drain voltage

Summing currents at the node D' in Figure 2-6 gives

$$g_{fs}(v_{G'S'} - V_T) + C_{D'S'} \frac{dv_{D'S'}}{dt} = I_O + C_{G'D'} \frac{dv_{G'D'}}{dt}$$
(2-24)

and the gate-source voltage is expressed in (2-25) from Figure 2-6.

$$v_{G'S'} = V_{GH} - (R_G + R_{G'})C_{G'D'} \frac{dv_{G'D'}}{dt}$$
(2-25)

Since  $v_{G'S'}$  is constant,  $dv_{G'D'}/dt = -dv_{D'S'}/dt$ . Rearranging (2-24) and substituting (2-25) for  $v_{G'S'}$  results in

$$\frac{dv_{D'S'}}{dt} = \frac{I_O - g_{fs}(V_{GH} - V_T)}{C_{D'S'} + [1 + g_{fs}(R_G + R_{G'})]C_{G'D'}}$$
(2-26)

The right hand side of (2-26) is a constant and its magnitude is denoted K, therefore

$$v_{D'S'} = V_{D^*} - Kt \tag{2-27}$$

Practically  $C_{G'D'}$  increases as  $v_{D'S'}$  decreases. The change in  $C_{G'D'}$  with  $v_{D'S'}$ , Figure 2-7, reduces the value of K sharply at the end of this period, slowing the fall in  $v_{D'S'}$ . For

approximate calculations of switching waveforms, the capacitance is assumed to take the discrete values  $C_{G'D'}$  and  $C_{G'D'}$  in Figure 2-7 the transition occurring at  $v_{D'S'} = v_{G'S'}$  [2-1].



Figure 2-7 Variation in gate-drain capacitance with drain-source voltage [2-1]

Accordingly,  $t_2$  is separated into two parts in Figure 2-4. During the first part of  $t_2$ ,  $v_{D'S'}$  is assumed to fall rapidly to  $v_{G'S'}$  which equals  $V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$ , while in the second part of  $t_2$ ,  $v_{D'S'}$  declines much more slowly due to the increased capacitance value. The two values of K in (2-27) are denoted  $K_1$  and  $K_2$ .

$$K_{1} = \frac{g_{fs} (V_{GH} - V_{T}) - I_{O}}{C_{D'S'} + [(1 + g_{fs} (R_{G} + R_{G'})]C_{G'D'}}$$
(2-28)

$$K_{2} = \frac{g_{fs}(V_{GH} - V_{T}) - I_{O}}{C_{D'S'} + [(1 + g_{fs}(R_{G} + R_{G'})]C_{G'D''}}$$
(2-29)

The duration of  $t_2$  is determined by (2-30)

$$t_{2} = \frac{V_{D^{*}} - (V_{T} + I_{O} / g_{fs})}{K_{1}} + \frac{V_{T} + I_{O} / g_{fs}}{K_{2}}$$
(2-30)

At the end of  $t_2$  the MOSFET completes the main switching transition and is in the forward conducting state. During the final stage of the turn-on transient, denoted  $t_3$  in Figure 2-4, the MOSFET input capacitances are charged via  $R_G + R_{G'}$  to the gate drive voltage  $V_{GH}$ .

### 2.2.1.2 MOSFET turn-off analysis

Figure 2-4 also plots the four stages of the MOSFET turn-off transient. The MOSFET equivalent circuit of Figure 2-3 still applies, but now the initial conditions are that  $v_{D'S'}$  is almost zero and the load current  $I_o$  flows through the conducting MOSFET with  $v_{G'S'} = V_{GH}$ . At the turn-off instant the gate supply voltage  $V_{GG}$  drops instantaneously to zero. The gate voltage begins to fall, discharging  $C_{G'S'}$  and  $C_{G'D'}$ . As long as  $v_{G'S'} > V_T + I_o / g_{fs}$ ,  $I_o$  continues to flow through the MOSFET and  $v_{D'S'}$  is unaffected. The time taken for  $v_{G'S'}$  to fall to  $V_T + I_o / g_{fs}$  is the turn-off delay time denoted  $t_4$  in Figure 2-4.

During the next stage of turn-off, denoted  $t_5$  in Figure 2-4,  $v_{D'S'}$  starts rising whilst the full load current continues to flow in the MOSFET.  $i_D$  stays constant at the value  $I_O$  and  $v_{G'S'}$ remains constant at the value  $V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$ . The equivalent circuit is the same as that in Figure 2-6, and the analysis is similar, but with different initial conditions. The drain-source voltage  $v_{D'S'}$  rises to  $V_{DD} + V_F$  according to  $v_{D'S'} = Kt$ , where, to account for the non-linear gate-drain capacitor, K takes the values:

$$K = K_{3} = \frac{I_{o} + g_{fs}V_{T}}{C_{D'S'} + [(1 + g_{fs}(R_{G} + R_{G'})]C_{G'D''}} \text{ for } v_{D'S'} < V_{T} + I_{o} / g_{fs}$$
(2-31)

$$K = K_4 = \frac{I_O + g_{fs} V_T}{C_{D'S'} + [(1 + g_{fs} (R_G + R_{G'})]C_{G'D'}} \text{ for } v_{D'S'} \ge V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$$
(2-32)

The duration of  $t_5$  is determined by (2-33)

$$t_{5} = \frac{V_{T} + I_{O} / g_{fs}}{K_{3}} + \frac{V_{DD} + V_{F} - (V_{T} + I_{O} / g_{fs})}{K_{4}}$$
(2-33)

When  $v_{D'S'}$  reaches  $V_{DD} + V_F$ , the diode becomes forward biased and the turn-off transient enters the third stage, denoted  $t_6$  in Figure 2-4.  $i_D$  starts to fall from  $I_O$  to zero whilst  $v_{D'S'}$ rises as the circuit dictates. The equivalent circuit is then that of Figure 2-5, and the analysis is similar to that in the turn-on stage  $t_1$  with new conditions,  $V_{GH} = 0$  and  $v_{G'S'}$  drops from  $V_T + I_O / g_{fs}$  to  $V_T$ . The exponential solutions are as follows,

$$v_{G'S'} = (V_T + I_O / g_{fs}) \frac{t_b \exp(-t/t_b) - t_c \exp(-t/t_c)}{t_b - t_c}$$
(2-34)

$$i_{D} = (g_{fs}V_{T} + I_{O}) \frac{t_{b} \exp(-t/t_{b}) - t_{c} \exp(-t/t_{c})}{t_{b} - t_{c}} - g_{fs}V_{T}$$
(2-35)

$$v_{DS'} = V_{DD} + V_F + L_D (g_{fs} V_T + I_O) \frac{\exp(-t/t_b) - \exp(-t/t_c)}{t_b - t_c}$$
(2-36)

 $t_6$  is obtained by setting  $i_D$  equal to zero in (2-35) and solving for t.

In the last stage,  $t_7$  in Figure 2-4, the MOSFET is non-conducting and the gate capacitance continues discharging via  $R_G + R_{G'}$ .  $v_{G'S'}$  exponentially approaches zero with a time constant  $t_G$  determined by (2-5), this final stage corresponds to the delay time in the turn-on transient.

#### 2.2.1.3 MOSFET turn-on considering diode reverse recovery

The foregoing MOSFET turn-on analysis is based on the assumption that the freewheeling diode  $D_1$  is ideal in Figure 2-3. However, in practice the MOSFET turn-on waveforms will be modified by the reverse recovery of the freewheel diode. The transistor turn-on waveforms are plotted in Figure 2-8 considering the diode reverse recovery.

When the MOSFET is in the off state and the diode conducts the current  $I_o$ , and minority carriers are stored in the diode. When the MOSFET turns on, negative current flows through the diode, which actively sweeps out the minority carriers stored in the junction. The current

rate of change is typically limited by the turn-on of the MOSFET, the package inductance and other stray inductances present in the external circuit; therefore the peak magnitude of the reverse current  $I_{RR}$  depends on the external circuit, and can be many times larger than the forward current  $I_{o}$ , Figure 2-8 (b).



Figure 2-8 Transistor turn-on waveforms considering diode reverse recovery [2-4]

The reverse recovery charge  $Q_r$  is defined as the time integral of the reverse current during the reverse recovery period  $t_{rr}$ , the interval of  $(t_2 - t_0)$  in Figure 2-8 [2-5].

$$Q_{r} = \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}} |i_{F}| dt$$
(2-37)

Approximating the waveform by straight lines,  $Q_r$  can be expressed as

$$Q_r = \frac{1}{2}I_{RR}(t_2 - t_0) = \frac{1}{2}(t_1 - t_0)\frac{di_F}{dt}(t_2 - t_0)$$
(2-38)

where  $di_F / dt$  is the rate of fall of the diode current.

Diodes in which the interval  $(t_2 - t_1)$  is short compared to  $(t_1 - t_0)$ , Figure 2-8, are called abrupt-recovery diodes, and so  $t_1 - t_0 \approx t_{rr}$ . Equation (2-38) may be simplified into (2-39) for the  $Q_r$  calculation in abrupt-recovery diodes [2-5, 2-6].

$$Q_r = \frac{1}{2} \frac{di_F}{dt} t_{rr}^2$$
(2-39)

Diode reverse recovery affects the MOSFET switching waveforms as indicated in Figure 2-8 (a). The MOSFET drain current must now rise to the load current level plus the peak diode reverse recovery current before the diode can block reverse voltage and allow  $v_{D'S'}$  to fall. As a result the MOSFET turn-on loss increases. The instantaneous power dissipated in the MOSFET is also sketched in Figure 2-8 (c), and the additional energy lost is (2-40).

$$W_{MOSFET} = \int_{t_0}^{t_2} v_{D'S'} \dot{i}_D dt$$
 (2-40)

For an abrupt-recovery diode, the integral can be evaluated simply,  $v_{D'S'}$  is then equal to  $V_{DD}$ for essentially the entire diode recovery interval  $t_{rr} \approx t_1 - t_0$ , and  $i_D = I_O - i_F$ .

$$W_{MOSFET} = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} V_{DD} (I_O - i_F) dt = V_{DD} I_O t_{rr} + V_{DD} Q_r$$
(2-41)

where  $V_{DD}Q_r$  and  $V_{DD}I_Ot_{rr}$  correspond to the areas A and B, Figure 2-8 (c). The diode recovery leads directly to the average additional power loss  $W_{MOSFET}f_s$ , where  $f_s$  is the switching frequency.

### 2.2.2 Switching loss validation at room temperature

The single-transistor step-down converter employs power MOSFET IRFB31N20D to switch 8 A ( $I_o$ ) with 120 V ( $V_{DD}$ ) at 50 kHz, and two gate resistors with 20  $\Omega$  and 5.6  $\Omega$  were used to control the drain current rising and decreasing times respectively with  $V_{GH} = 12V$ . The

MOSFET parameters related to the switching loss calculation are listed in Table 2-5, which were obtained from the IRFB31N20D datasheet. Values of the MOSFET lead inductances are typically in the region of 5-15 nH [2-2], so  $L_D = 10nH$ .

Parameter	Units	Тур.
$g_{fs}$	S	17
$L_D$	nH	10
$V_T$	V	4
$C_{G'S'}$	pF	2292
C <sub>G'D'</sub>	pF	50
<i>C</i> <sub><i>G'D</i>"</sub>	pF	1000
$C_{D'S'}$	pF	170

Table 2-5 IRFB31N20D parameters at 25°C

The MOSFET drain-source voltage and drain current during the individual switching intervals were calculated using the foregoing analytical equations (2-20), (2-21), (2-26) to (2-33), (2-35) and (2-36). The circuit stray inductance, which was principally attributed to the planar bus bar connecting the MOSFET and diode to the input capacitor  $C_{ln}$ , was estimated to be 70 nH by the inductance calculation for parallel conducting sheets in [2-7]. So  $L_D$  was increased to 80 nH. Also the diode output capacitance of 100 pF was included by increasing the MOSFET output capacitance to 270 pF. The durations of principal switching intervals were obtained using the equations (2-20), (2-30), (2-33) and (2-35), and are listed in Table 2-6 for the MOSFET turn-on and turn-off transitions.

The 120 V buck converters were tested at room temperature with three different power diodes, ultrafast, Schottky and silicon carbide Schottky diodes. The measured switching times are listed in Table 2-6 from the experimental waveforms, denoted by Ult, Sch and SiC respectively. The discrepancies in the predicted and measured values of  $t_2$  were attributed to the diode reverse recovery process. Otherwise the predictions show good agreement with the measurements considering the approximations made in the analysis.

Itoms	Unite	Calculated	Measured values		
	items Units	Calculated	Ult	Sch	SiC
$\tau_1$	ns	25	28	27	29
$\tau_2$	ns	30	47	31	26
$ au_5$	ns	14	15	16	19
$\tau_6$	ns	23	17	18	21
<i>di/dt</i> (rising)	A/ns	0.32	0.29	0.30	0.28
<i>di/dt</i> (falling)	A/ns	0.35	0.47	0.44	0.38

 Table 2-6
 Calculated and measured MOSFET turn-on and turn-off times

Table 2-7 Calculated and measured MOSFET turn-on and turn-off losses

Switching loss	Unito	Calculated	Measured values		
	Units	Calculated	Ult Sch Si		
MOSFET turn-on	W	0.70	3.22	2.00	1.03
MOSFET turn-off	W	0.95	0.57	0.54	0.51

The switching losses were calculated by time integration of the device current and voltage product multiplied by the switching frequency, Table 2-7, using the calculated and measured switching waveforms, Figure 2-9. Examination of Figure 2-9 shows that there is a large pulse of forward current through the MOSFET at turn-on in the prototype with the ultrafast diode due to the diode reverse recovery, which was thought to account for the large difference in the predicted and measured MOSFET turn-on losses. Using the equations (2-39) and (2-41), di/dt (50 A/µs) and reverse recovery time (60 ns) from the ultrafast diode data sheet, the additional MOSFET turn-on loss was calculated to be 3.4 W. The di/dt in the practical waveforms is however over six times this figure.

The difference in the MOSFET turn-off losses between the predicted and measured values may be caused by the piecewise linear approximation for the MOSFET non-linear gate-drain capacitance. Moreover, in practice both drain-source capacitor and transconductance are dependent on the drain-source voltage, which, however, are constant in the analytical calculations. The turn-off oscillations at about 29 MHz in the measured waveforms were attributed to the stray inductance ringing with device capacitance. The natural frequency of the stray inductance (80 nH) and the device capacitance (270 pF) is 34.2 MHz.



Figure 2-9 Predicated and measured MOSFET switching waveforms: (a) turn-on, (b) turn-off; blue: analytical result; green: with ultrafast diode; red: with Schottky diode; black: with SiC diode

## 2.3 Cryogenic system introduction

The cryogenic system is built around a COOLPOWER 120 T cold head from Leybold Vacuum GmbH which is powered by a sealed liquid helium cooling circuit. The temperature of the cold head can be decreased to 20 K in approximately 50 minutes, and the refrigeration unit has a cooling capacity of 120 W at 80 K providing the capability to operate power conversion circuits and power devices continuously at low temperatures.



Figure 2-10 Cold chamber cross section

Figure 2-10 shows the cross section of the cold chamber. The test sample is mounted on the cold head inside the chamber. The cold head diameter is 120 mm. A vacuum jacket surrounds the cold head to prevent convection heating of the devices and water condensation. The vacuum is provided by a two-stage pumping system, a turbo molecular pump Turbotronik NT10 backed by a rotary vane pump Trivac D4B. The vacuum level is monitored by a vacuum gauge ITR 90. During the cryogenic tests, the pressure inside the cold chamber is below 10<sup>-6</sup> bar. Under that vacuum level voltages in the region of 600 V can be safely used in the chamber. A dry nitrogen supply is used to release the vacuum after the experimental work to avoid condensation of water vapour.
The cold chamber has two feedthroughs for connection with the sample. One feedthrough is employed for high power connections, on the left hand side in Figure 2-10, and a 12-pin instrumentation feedthrough on the right hand side is used for signal connections, where 8 pins are used for control signals and measurement and 4 pins for the temperature monitor. The temperature sensing diode has an accuracy of  $\pm 1$  K for temperatures below 100 K and may be mounted directly next to or on top of a particular component in the test circuit.

A second temperature sensing diode is embedded within the cold head along with a 160 W heater coil, Figure 2-10. Together with an external power supply and control loop shown in Appendix 2, the diode and heater coil provide a mechanism for regulating the cold head temperature within the range 20-120 K. Photographs of the overall experimental system are shown in Appendix 3.

## 2.4 Power semiconductor characteristics at low temperatures

The on-state and breakdown voltage characteristics of the MOSFETs and diodes were measured using high precision multi-meters. In the case of the on-state measurement, an 8 A current pulse was used for the low voltage components and a 2 A pulse for the high voltage devices. The duration of the current pulse was about one second. The MOSFET gate-source voltage was set at 12 V during the on-state tests. The breakdown voltage characteristics were measured with a 1 M $\Omega$  resistor connected in series with the device, and the MOSFET gate and source were shorted together. The breakdown voltage was taken to be the voltage at which the leakage current was 100  $\mu$ A. The threshold voltages of the IRFB31N20D were also measured at the drain currents of 0.25 mA, 0.5 mA 1.0 mA and 10 mA using high precision multi-meters, and the device transconductance was estimated by using curve fitting techniques to obtain the gradient of the linear part of the  $i_D$ ,  $v_{GS}$  curves measured by a digital oscilloscope. The test circuits are displayed in Appendix 4.

#### 2.4.1 Power MOSFET characteristics at low temperatures

The on-state resistances of the IRFB31N20D and SPP20N60C3 MOSFETs are plotted in Figure 2-11 over the temperature range 20-300 K. The error between the measured device case temperature and the junction temperature was estimated using the data sheet thermal resistance to be 3  $^{\circ}$ C at room temperature. At low temperatures the junction-to-case temperature difference becomes lower due to the decreased thermal resistance of the material, the thermal conductivity of silicon and many substrates increases by a factor 5-10 at 77 K [2-8].



Figure 2-11 Measured MOSFET on-state resistances,  $V_{GS} = 12V$  $I_D = 8A$  for the IRFB31N20D and  $I_D = 2A$  for the SPP20N60C3

The IRFB31N20D, Figure 2-11, has a minimum resistance at 50 K of 10.3 m $\Omega$ , less than one-sixth of the room temperature value under the forward current of 8 A. The SPP20N60C3 on-state resistance at 2 A current reaches a minimum of 26.8 m $\Omega$  at 70 K, less than one-fifth of the room temperature value.

These results appear to be inconsistent with most published work on the subject, where, as described in Section 1.3.3, higher voltage MOSFETs tend to exhibit a larger reduction in  $R_{DS(ap)}$  at cryogenic temperatures than do low voltage devices. This is due to the greater

temperature sensitivity of the drift region resistance, which is normally the dominant resistance in high voltage devices [2-9].

The smaller than expected reduction in the on-state resistance of the SPP20N60C3 device was attributed to the device's CoolMOS structure, Figure 2-12, whereby compensation p-stripes are inserted in the vertical drift region. The doping of the drift region is then increased by an order of magnitude and the vertical p-stripes compensate the surplus current conducting n-charges [2-10]. Using this technique, the on-state resistance of a 600 V MOSFET can be decreased to one-fifth of that of a conventional device [2-10].



Figure 2-12 Structure of MOSFET: (a) conventional, (b) CoolMOS

The increase in resistance at very low temperature, Figure 2-11, results from reduced carrier availability, referred to as carrier freeze-out. The carrier freeze-out effect is more significant in the JFET and the drift regions which dominate the resistance of MOSFETs with high voltage ratings [2-9].

Figure 2-13 displays the breakdown voltage of the IRFB31N20D and SPP20N60C3 at temperatures down to 20 K from 300 K. As expected, both breakdown voltages decrease with a reduction in temperature. The breakdown voltage of the SPP20N60C3 reduces by

more than 24 % at 20 K compared with room temperature, and the reduction is 23 % for the IRFB31N20D.



Figure 2-13 Measured MOSFET breakdown voltages

The threshold voltages are plotted in Figure 2-14 for the IRFB31N20D across the temperature range 20-300 K at the drain currents of 0.25 mA, 0.5 mA 1.0 mA and 10 mA. The threshold voltage increases by 24-29 % at 20 K, attributed to the fall in intrinsic carrier concentration at low temperatures resulting in a larger gate-source voltage being needed to form the inversion layer [2-9]. The variation in transconductance is plotted in Figure 2-15, and it increases by 70 % at 20 K due to the increase in inversion layer mobility at low temperatures [2-9]. The increase in threshold voltage is similar to that reported in the literature for other devices, Section 1.3.3; however the increase in transconductance is device dependent.

Using the threshold voltage and transconductance at 20 K and the switching loss calculations in Section 2.2.2, the turn-on loss was calculated and increased from 0.70 W at room temperature, Table 2-7, to 0.96 W, whereas the turn-off loss decreased from 0.95 W at room temperature, Table 2-7, to 0.73 W, not considering the variation in the gate resistance and inter-electrode capacitances at low temperatures. This suggests that the total MOSFET switching losses will not vary significantly at cryogenic temperatures.



Figure 2-14 Measured threshold voltages for the IRFB31N20D



Figure 2-15 Measured transconductance for the IRFB31N20D

Apart from the on-state resistance, the breakdown voltage, the threshold voltage and the transconductance which change significantly with temperature, many of the parameters in the equations presented for the analysis of MOSFET switching behaviour such as the parasitic capacitances and inductances are relatively insensitive to temperature, a small reduction in the values of the parasitic capacitances has been reported in [2-9, 2-11, 2-12] at very low temperatures. Together these effects are likely to result in a small increase in switching speed and a reduction in switching losses; however the extent of the change will vary between devices and circuit applications.

#### 2.4.2 Power diode characteristics at low temperatures

The on-state voltages of the three diodes at 8 A are plotted in Figure 2-16 against case temperature from 300 K to 20 K. At room temperature the temperature difference between junction and case was estimated to be 6-8 °C. This will reduce at low temperature due to the significant decrease in the thermal resistance. Figure 2-16 shows that the silicon carbide diode has the largest voltage drop while the Schottky diode has the lowest. The overall trend seen in each of the three sets of measured data is an increase in voltage at low temperatures. The proportionate increase is greatest for the MBR20200CT, 30 %, and smallest for the MUR1560, 20 %. The slightly different shapes seen in the three sets of data were attributed to the differing contributions made to the total on-state voltages by the blocking drift region which has a positive temperature coefficient and the metal-semiconductor voltage drop in the Schottky devices which has a negative temperature coefficient. The MUR1560 and CSD10060 on-state voltages at 2 A are plotted in Figure 2-17 where the changed contributions of the two parts of the on-state voltages account for the differences with the 8 A measurements.

Figure 2-18 displays the breakdown voltages of the diodes in the temperature range 20-300K. Both the silicon Schottky and the ultrafast diodes have positive temperature coefficients in their breakdown voltages; however there is a negative temperature coefficient in the breakdown voltage of the silicon carbide diode. At low temperatures the leakage current in SiC diodes is dominated by band-to-band tunnelling [2-13], not impact ionisation as in *p-n* junctions [2-14]. The breakdown voltage due to the tunnelling effect has a negative temperature coefficient [2-15]. Therefore, the SiC diode breakdown voltage rises with decreasing temperature. However, the second generation silicon carbide diodes have a breakdown voltage with a positive temperature coefficient [2-16].



Figure 2-16 Measured diode on-state voltages at 8 A



Figure 2-17 Measured diode on-state voltages at 2 A



Figure 2-18 Measured diode breakdown voltages

# 2.5 Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V converters

## at low temperatures

The power converter was fabricated by screwing the MOSFET and diode onto a copper plate,  $110 \times 60$  mm, for mounting onto the cold head. A PCB was used to form the power circuit and gate driver connections. The photograph of the prototype is shown in Figure 2-19.



Figure 2-19 Single-transistor step-down converter prototype

Gate driving signals generated at room temperature were passed into the chamber via the signal feedthrough. The gate driver integrated circuit was located inside the chamber close to the semiconductor devices, but not in direct contact with the cold head. During the cryogenic experiments the minimum temperature of the driver integrated circuit was around 200 K, much higher than the cold head temperature.

Figure 2-20 shows the layout for the cryogenic experiments. The input and output power connections were passed into the cold chamber by the power feedthrough, which is on the left hand side of the cold chamber, Figure 2-20. Planar copper bus bars were used to reduce

#### Chapter 2 Cryogenic operation of single-transistor step-down converters

parasitic circuit inductance between the feedthrough and the converter in the cold chamber. The input decoupling capacitors were located outside the chamber and beside the power feedthrough. The output filter was situated at room temperature next to the input capacitors. The signal feedthrough is on the right hand side of the cold chamber.



Figure 2-20 Prototype circuit inside the cold chamber

By configuring the converter with the input decoupling capacitors outside the cold chamber, the MOSFET and diode currents and voltages could be easily measured outside the chamber. A LeCroy current probe was used to measure the currents. The switching losses were obtained by multiplying switching frequency and the time integral of the device voltage and current products, whilst the on-state losses were calculated from a knowledge of the current, the static characteristics in Figures 2-11, 2-16 and 2-17 and the equations (2-42) and (2-43). The measured device losses were confirmed by measurement of the converter input and output powers using high resolution multimeters and measurement of the inductor losses.

$$P_{Cond\_MOSFET} = I_{RMS}^2 R_{DS(on)} D$$
(2-42)

$$P_{Cond\_Diode} = I_{AV}V_F(1-D)$$
(2-43)

The cold head temperature was first decreased to 20 K and then increased to room temperature. During the warming process measurements were taken at a set of temperature points, every 10 K from 20 K to 100 K and every 40 K from 100 K to 300 K, taking care to ensure that thermal equilibrium had been reached inside the chamber at each temperature point.

#### 2.5.1 120 V buck converter with an ultrafast diode

Figure 2-21 (a) plots the total semiconductor losses in the step-down converter with the MUR1560 ultrafast diode in the temperature range 20-300 K, along with the conduction and switching losses. The losses in the individual devices are displayed in Figures 2-21 (b) and (c).

The total semiconductor loss decreases approximately by one-third at 20 K compared to the room temperature value, due to the reductions both in the conduction and switching losses, Figure 2-21 (a). The reduction in the switching loss is three times the reduction in the conduction loss across the temperature range, Figure 2-21 (a). The reduction in the IRFB31N20D MOSFET on-state loss is offset by the increase in the diode conduction loss, Figure 2-21 (b), the total conduction loss decreases by one-sixth at cryogenic levels. The total switching loss decreases by 60 % over the range 300-20 K, Figure 2-21 (c), which is largely due to the reduction in the diode reverse recovery. To illustrate the improvement in diode reverse recovery the diode turn-off currents are plotted in Figure 2-22, where the peak reverse recovery current decreases by a factor of four, the reverse recovery time reduces by more than a half, and the reverse recovery charge drops by a factor of seven at 20 K compared to room temperature.



 $V_{In} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$ 

The switching losses in the MOSFET and diode during the MOSFET turn-off transient are only a small proportion of the total switching loss at room temperature, moreover both vary little with temperature, remaining nearly constant in Figure 2-21 (c). In addition the MOSFET turn-on and turn-off intervals were found to decrease only slightly at low temperatures. The invariance of the MOSFET switching behaviour with temperature is in accordance with expectations based on the analysis in Section 2.2 and the measured variation in threshold voltage and transconductance, Section 2.4.1.



Figure 2-22 MUR1560 turn-off currents in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET,  $V_{In} = 120V$ ,  $V_{O} = 60V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 480W$ Temperature ranges from 20 K to 100 K in steps of 10 K and from 100 K to 300 K in steps of 40 K

## 2.5.2 120 V buck converter with a Schottky diode

Figure 2-23 (a) plots the total semiconductor losses in the step-down converter with the MBR20200CT Schottky diode across the temperature range 20-300 K, together with the conduction and switching losses. The losses in the individual semiconductors are displayed in Figures 2-23 (b) and (c).



 $V_{In} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$ 

The total semiconductor loss decreases by one-fourth at 100 K due to the reductions both in the conduction loss and in the switching loss, Figure 2-23 (a). The losses remain approximately constant in the range 100-20 K.

The overall pattern of loss reduction at low temperatures is very similar to that seen with the P-i-N diode, however, the total losses are lower due to the superior characteristics of the Schottky diode at all temperatures. The conduction losses decrease by one-fifth in the temperature range 300-20 K, Figure 2-23 (b), resulting from the combined effects of the decreasing on-state loss in the MOSFET and the increasing conduction loss in the diode. The principal contribution to the switching loss reduction is from the decrease both in the MOSFET turn-on loss and in the diode turn-off loss, Figure 2-23 (c), which results in the total switching loss at cryogenic levels reducing by more than one-third compared to room temperature. The other two components of switching loss vary little across the temperature range.



Figure 2-24 MBR20200CT turn-off currents in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET,  $V_{In} = 120V$ ,  $V_O = 60V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 480W$ Temperature ranges from 20 K to 100 K in steps of 10 K and from 100 K to 300 K in steps of 40 K

The decrease in the switching loss is due to the improvement in the diode reverse recovery at low temperatures, since the MOSFET switching properties change only slightly at low temperatures. Figure 2-24 plots the diode turn-off current at all temperatures. The peak reverse recovery current drops by 70 %, the reverse recovery time decreases almost by half and the reverse recovery charge reduces by a factor of three over the range 300-20 K.

Theoretically, the Schottky diode has no reverse recovery, however as explained in Section 1.3.1 the presence of the  $p^+$  guard ring creates a *p*-*n* junction in parallel with the Schottky junction [2-14] and this is responsible for the reverse recovery behaviour.

#### 2.5.3 120 V buck converter with a silicon carbide Schottky diode

Figure 2-25 (a) plots the total semiconductor losses in the buck converter with the silicon carbide diode, CSD10060, over the temperature range 20-300 K, along with the conduction and switching losses. Figures 2-25 (b) and (c) display the losses in individual devices.

The total semiconductor loss has a minimum at approximately 140 K, Figure 2-25 (a). The variation in loss with temperature is determined by the conduction loss since the switching loss changes little. At higher temperatures the conduction loss falls with a drop in temperature due to the reduction in MOSFET resistance, however, at lower temperatures the increasing diode voltage dominates and the overall loss rises.

The switching losses, Figure 2-25 (c), have no significant variation across the temperature range. The SiC diode turn-off currents are plotted in Figure 2-26 at temperatures of 20 K, 60 K 100 K and 300 K. No apperant change is found either in the reverse recovery current or in the reverse recovery time. The MOSFET switching losses are again consistent with analysis in Section 2.2 and the measured variation in threshold voltage and transconductance at low temperatures Section 2.4.1.



 $V_{In} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$ 



Figure 2-26 CSD10060 turn-off currents in the buck converter with IRFB31N20D MOSFET,  $V_{ln} = 120V$ ,  $V_{o} = 60V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 480W$ 

#### 2.5.4 Summary of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V converters

Figure 2-27 summarises the total semiconductor losses in the three 120 V converters delivering 480 W to a 60 V load, whilst Figures 2-28 and 2-29 show the breakdown of total semiconductor loss into conduction and switching losses respectively. The total semiconductor loss for the prototypes with the silicon diodes has positive temperature coefficient, Figure 2-27, due to the reductions both in conduction and in switching losses at low temperatures [2-17]. There are significant reductions in the switching loss for both prototypes, Figure 2-29, due to the improved diode reverse recovery at low temperatures [2-17]; however, the reduction in conduction losses is limited by the increase in the diode on-state losses, Figure 2-28.

The SiC-diode based prototype shows the worst performance at low temperatures due to the large on-state voltage of the SiC diode. The increase in the SiC diode on-state loss outweighs the reduction in the MOSFET conduction loss at cryogenic temperatures and the total semiconductor loss at 20 K is only slightly lower than that at room temperature, Figure 2-27, however, the switching loss is the smallest of the three circuits and changes little with temperature, Figure 2-29.



Figure 2-27 Semiconductor losses in the 120/60 V, 480 W single-transistor prototypes



Figure 2-28 Conduction losses in the 120/60 V, 480 W single-transistor prototypes



Figure 2-29 Switching losses in the 120/60 V, 480 W single-transistor prototypes

Operating the converters with a different transistor duty ratio will have little effect on the switching losses, however, the distribution of the conduction loss between MOSFET and diode will change leading to a different variation in overall loss with temperature. For example with a larger duty ratio the reduction in overall losses at low temperature will be greater.

## 2.6 Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the 500 V converters

## at low temperatures

Two buck converters were built using the SPP20N60C3 MOSFET and either the ultrafast diode, MUR1560, or the silicon carbide diode, CSD10060. Both prototypes were operated from a 500 V supply and delivered 500 W to a 250 V load, the switching frequency being 50 kHz.

## 2.6.1 500 V buck converter with an ultrafast diode

Figure 2-30 (a) plots the total semiconductor losses, the conduction and switching losses, in the temperature range 20-300 K for the converter using the MUR1560 ultrafast diode. The losses in the individual semiconductors are displayed in Figures 2-30 (b) and (c).

The total semiconductor loss decreases approximately by a factor of two with a decrease in temperature from 300 K to 20 K, Figure 2-30 (a), principally due to the 55 % reduction in the switching loss; the conduction loss changes little across the temperature range and only contributes a small proportion of the total semiconductor loss due to the reduced current level in the 500 V prototypes.



Figure 2-30 Semiconductor losses in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET, MUR1560 ultrafast diode  $V_{In} = 500V, V_{O} = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$ 

The MOSFET turn-on loss decreases by a factor of four and the diode turn-off loss reduces by a half, Figure 2-30 (c), both contributing to the significant reduction in the total switching loss at 20 K. The other two components of switching loss have small proportions at room temperature and change little with temperature. The large reduction in the switching loss is mainly attributed to the improved diode reverse recovery at low temperatures. The MUR1560 turn-off currents at 500 V are plotted at temperatures of 20 K, 60 K 100 K and 300 K in Figure 2-31, where the peak reverse recovery current decreases by 60 %.



Figure 2-31 MUR1560 turn-off currents in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET,  $V_{In} = 500V$ ,  $V_O = 250V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 500W$ 

#### 2.6.2 500 V buck converter with a silicon carbide Schottky diode

Figure 2-32 (a) plots the conduction loss, switching loss and sum of the two over the temperature range 20-300 K for the SiC-diode (CSD10060) based prototype. Figures 2-32 (b) and (c) display the losses in the individual semiconductor devices.

The total semiconductor loss changes little with temperature, Figure 2-32 (a). The switching loss dominates, accounting for nearly 80 % of the total loss, and remains approximately constant over the temperature range. The conduction loss shows a small increase at very low temperatures, Figure 2-32 (a), due to the higher diode on-state voltage.



Figure 2-32 Semiconductor losses in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET, CSD10060 silicon carbide diode  $V_{In} = 500V, V_O = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$ 

The SiC diode turn-off currents are plotted in Figure 2-33 at four temperatures, 20 K, 60 K, 100 K and 294 K, where no appreciable change is observed either in the reverse recovery current or in the reverse recovery time.



Figure 2-33 CSD10060 turn-off currents in the buck converter with SPP20N60C3 MOSFET,  $V_{In} = 500V$ ,  $V_O = 250V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 500W$ 

#### 2.6.3 Summary of semiconductor losses in the 500 V converters

Figure 2-34 plots the total semiconductor losses and switching losses for the 500 V prototypes. The SiC-diode based converter yields relatively small losses at higher temperatures and below 140 K it loses the advantage. The switching loss dominates the total semiconductor loss for both prototypes. It decreases by over a half at 20 K in the ultrafast diode based prototype whilst in the SiC prototype it is constant across the temperature range. The conduction losses are not displayed since they are relatively small.



Figure 2-34 Semiconductor losses in the 500/250 V, 500 W single-transistor prototypes

# 2.7 Conclusions

- The on-state resistance of the IRFB31N20D MOSFET drops by a factor of six at 50 K, and the breakdown voltage decreases by 23 %. The SPP20N60C3 CoolMOS device has a lower on-state resistance at room temperature than conventional high-voltage MOSFETs with the same die size; however the proportionate decrease of resistance at low temperature is slightly less significant than that in the lower voltage device, attributed to the CoolMOS structure. The breakdown voltage of the SPP20N60C3 shows a similar decrease at low temperature to that in the IRFB31N20D.
- The reduction in the total semiconductor losses at cryogenic temperatures was limited by the increase in diode conduction losses.
- The MOSFET switching characteristic has very little improvement at low temperatures. No appreciable variation was observed in the switching speed,

which was consistent with the static measurement of threshold voltage and transconductance.

- Large reductions in the switching losses related to diode reverse recovery were observed in the silicon diode prototypes at low temperature, however, reverse recovery effect remained a significant source of loss. No reverse recovery effects were noticeable in the SiC diode based prototype.
- The prototype performance at low temperature could be further improved by placing the input capacitor inside the cold chamber to reduce the stray inductance and associated losses.

# **References**:

- [2-1] Mohan, N.; Undeland, T.; Robbins, W.; *Power Electronics: Converters, Applications and Design*, Media Enhanced Third Edition, Wiley, 2003
- [2-2] Grant, D. A.; Gowar, J.; *Power MOSFET Theory and Applications*, Wiley-Interscience, April 1989
- [2-3] Ren, Y.; Xu, M.; Zhou, J.; Lee, F. C.; Analytical loss model of power MOSFET, *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Volume 21, Issue 2, March 2006 Page(s): 310-319
- [2-4] Croft, A.; Davison, R.; Hargreaves, M.; *Engineering Mathematics*, Addison-Wesley Publishers Limited, Third Edition, 2001
- [2-5] Erickson, R.; Maksimovic, D.; *Fundamentals of Power Electronics*, Second Edition, Kluwer, 2001
- [2-6] Rashid, M.; *Power Electronics Circuits, Devices, and Applications*, Second Edition, Prentice-Hall International, 1993
- [2-7] Grover, F. W.; Inductance Calculations, Dover, 1946
- [2-8] Mueller, O.; The cryogenic power MOSFET, *Proc. 20th. Int. Power Conversion Conference, PCIM*, June 25-29, 1990. Germany. pp. 1-15.
- [2-9] Singh, R.; Baliga, B. J.; Cryogenic Operation of Silicon Power Devices, Kluwer, 1998
- [2-10] Lorenz, L.; Deboy, G.; Knapp, A.; Marz, M.; CoolMOS a new milestone in high voltage power MOS, *ISPSD Conf. Rec.*, 1998, pp. 3-10.

- [2-11] Baliga, B. J.; Modern power devices, Wiley, 1987
- [2-12] Yang, S.; Cryogenic characteristics of IGBTs, PhD thesis, University of Birmingham, 2005
- [2-13] Shanbhag, M.; Chow, T. P.; Cryogenic operation of 4H-SiC Schottky rectifiers, Proceedings of the 14th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 4-7 June 2002 Page(s):129–132
- [2-14] Benda, V.; Gowar, J.; Grant, D. A.; *Power Semiconductor Devices Theory and Applications*, John Wiley & Son Ltd, 1999
- [2-15] Sze, S. M.; *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, Second Edition, Wiley, 1981,
- [2-16] Bjoerk, F.; Hancock, J.; Treu, M.; Rupp, R.; Reimann, T.; 2nd generation 600V SiC Schottky diodes use merged pn/Schottky structure for surge overload protection, Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition Twenty-First Annual IEEE, 19-23 March 2006
- [2-17] Jia, C.; Forsyth, A. J.; Evaluation of Semiconductor Losses in Cryogenic DC-DC Converters, *Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference*, 2006. *IPEMC '06. CES/IEEE 5th International*, Volume 2, 14-16 Aug. 2006 Page(s):1 5

# **Chapter 3**

# Cryogenic operation of two-transistor step-down converters

This Chapter investigates the semiconductor losses over the temperature range 20-300 K in two types of DC-DC step-down converter formed by two MOSFETs: one being a synchronous rectifier operating from 120 V and 500 V DC supplies, and the second a soft-switching buck converter operating from a 120 V DC supply. The semiconductor losses in these prototypes are compared with those in the single-transistor step-down converters presented in the last Chapter. The objective is to examine ways of improving converter efficiency at cryogenic temperatures, in particular by eliminating diode conduction, diode reverse recovery and transistor switching losses.

# 3.1 Synchronous rectifier

The single-transistor step-down converter discussed in Chapter 2 employs a diode to freewheel the inductor current when the transistor is in the off-state. The diode on-state voltage can limit the conversion efficiency, especially for very low converter output voltages. However, even using Schottky diode technology, physical limitations prevent the diode forward voltage from being reduced below around 0.3 V [3-1]. On the other hand the on-state resistance of a MOSFET can be lowered almost without limit either by increasing the die size or by paralleling discrete devices [3-1, 3-2].

Furthermore, the limitation on circuit performance imposed by diode voltage drop becomes more significant at low temperatures since the diode on-state voltage tends to increase whilst the on-state resistance of a MOSFET falls. The potential benefits of operating a converter at very low temperatures may therefore be limited by the behaviour of the diodes.

One approach to overcoming this problem is the synchronous rectifier technique, which has been developed in recent years for very low output voltage switched-mode power supplies, typically output voltages less than 3 V. The synchronous rectifier technique involves replacing the freewheel diode by a low voltage MOSFET as shown in the step-down converter in Figure 3-1.  $S_1$  is the switching transistor that determines the converter output voltage whilst  $S_2$  is the synchronous rectifier. When  $S_1$  turns off the inductor current will tend to freewheel through the body diode of  $S_2$ , however, if  $S_2$  is switched on, reverse conduction will occur through the channel, diverting current away from the body diode, providing that the on-state resistance of  $S_2$  is sufficiently low. Reverse current flow through the MOSFET channel can occur since the device operates by majority carrier conduction.



Figure 3-1 Step-down converter with synchronous rectifier

To illustrate the principle, the forward i - v characteristics are compared in Figure 3-2 of the IRFB31N20D MOSFET and a fast recovery rectifier 1N3891 ( $V_{BD} = 200V$ ,  $I_{AV} = 12A$ ) with the model provided by [3-3]. It is seen that in this particular case the MOSFET voltage drop is lower than that of the diode for currents up to approximately 12 A, resulting in lower conduction losses.



Figure 3-2 Forward voltage comparison of a synchronous rectifier and diode at 25°C

The relative temperature coefficients of diode on-state voltages and MOSFET on-state resistances suggest that the synchronous rectifier technique may offer significant benefits for cryogenic power conversion.

In the following sections two step-down DC-DC converter topologies that use synchronous rectifiers are examined at low temperatures. The first circuit uses a hard-switching synchronous rectifier operating from 120 V and 500 V DC supplies, whilst in the second the synchronous rectifier is soft-switching operating from 120 V.

#### **3.1.1** Synchronous rectifier design

The synchronous rectifier circuit was designed to operate from two voltage levels, 120 V and 500 V. The detailed design requirements are listed in Table 3-1, and are the same as those used for the single-transistor converters in Chapter 2.

The input capacitor, output filter inductor and capacitor were chosen based on the results of applying the design requirements to the equations (2-1), (2-2) and (2-3), resulting in the same passive component values as used in Chapter 2, Table 2-2. For the 120 V synchronous

rectifier circuit the MOSFET IRFB31N20D was chosen, and the MOSFET SPP20N60C3 was selected for the 500 V circuit. Both are the same as used in Chapter 2, Table 2-3.

Design Parameters	Converter input voltage $V_{In}$	
	120 V	500 V
Input current (A)	4	1
Input power (W)	480	500
Output voltage (V)	60	250
Output current (A)	8	2
Duty ratio	50%	50%
Frequency (kHz)	50	50
Input voltage ripple (V)	6	25
Output voltage ripple (V)	0.6	2.5
Inductor current ripple (A)	1.2	0.3

 Table 3-1
 Synchronous rectifier design requirements

Using the same passive components as in the single-transistor step-down converters, the synchronous rectifier was realised by replacing the freewheel diode with another power MOSFET. The control signals were generated at room temperature and transferred into the cold chamber via the signal feedthrough. An IR2110 level shifting gate driver integrated circuit was located inside the cold chamber next to the MOSFETs; however it was not in direct contact with the cold head. During testing its temperature did not fall below 200 K. The output filter, the input decoupling capacitor and filter were left at room temperature outside the cold chamber, allowing the individual device currents to be measured. Planar bus bars were used to minimise the stray inductance of the power circuit connections between the power devices and the feedthrough. Figure 3-3 displays the picture of the 120 V synchronous rectifier prototype, which was placed inside the cold chamber.



Figure 3-3 120 V synchronous rectifier prototype

## **3.1.2 Gate control strategy**

Precise control is required for the two MOSFETs in the synchronous rectifier. To avoid shoot through, a dead time,  $T_{Dead}$ , is usually introduced between the turn-off of one device and the turn-on of the other, during which time the inductor current is carried through the body diode of the MOSFET  $S_2$  in Figure 3-1. To analyse the dead time operation, Figure 3-4 plots the schematic waveforms of the individual MOSFET gate-source voltages and the current commutation during the switching transients.

When the  $S_1$  gate voltage,  $v_{GS1}$ , drops from the plateau value during the turn-off process, Figure 3-4 (a), the inductor current begins commutating from  $S_1$  to the  $S_2$  body diode until  $v_{GS1}$  falls to the threshold voltage  $V_T$  at the end of period  $T_1$ , Figure 3-4 (a). During the interval  $T_2$ ,  $v_{GS1}$  decreases to zero and  $S_1$  is in the off-state, the inductor current flows through the  $S_2$  body diode. A short duration of dead time,  $T_{Dead}$ , is then inserted during which no driving signal is applied to either MOSFET, and the inductor current continues freewheeling through the body diode of  $S_2$ . At the end of  $T_{Dead}$  the gate-source voltage is applied to  $S_2$ , but no current flows through  $S_2$  until  $v_{GS2}$  rises to  $V_T$  at the end of period  $T_3$ .  $v_{GS2}$  increases from  $V_T$  during interval  $T_4$ , whilst the inductor current is diverted from the  $S_2$  body diode to the channel. There is no plateau period in  $v_{GS2}$  since the drain source voltage is already zero.

Figure 3-4 (b) plots the transient in which the inductor current commutates from  $S_2$  back to  $S_1$ . During the interval  $T_5$ , Figure 3-4 (b),  $v_{GS2}$  decreases to  $V_T$  whilst the channel current diverts to the body diode. At the start of interval  $T_6$  the body diode takes over the inductor current completely. The current then freewheels through the body diode until the end of period  $T_7$  when  $v_{GS1}$  increases to  $V_T$ . During  $T_8$  the inductor current commutates from the  $S_2$  body diode to  $S_1$  whilst  $v_{GS1}$  increases from  $V_T$  to the plateau value.



Figure 3-4 MOSFET switching waveforms: (a) turn-off of  $S_1$  and turn-on of  $S_2$ , (b) turn-off of  $S_2$  and turn-on of  $S_1$ ;  $i_{s1}$ : current through  $S_1$ ;  $i_{s2}$ : current through  $S_2$ ;  $i_{Diode}$ : current through the body diode of  $S_2$ 

Examination of Figure 3-4 shows that the  $S_2$  gate-source voltage waveform is different to that of  $S_1$ , principally due to the operation in the third quadrant of the  $i_D$ ,  $v_{DS}$  plane. The conduction of the  $S_2$  body diode prior to the channel results in zero voltage switching, during which the drain-source voltage of  $S_2$  is virtually zero. Therefore there is no charge flow through the Miller capacitance. As a result the plateau region of the  $S_2$  gate voltage plot is not visible, the waveform shows an exponential charging and discharging of the input capacitor [3-4], Figure 3-4.

The conduction of the body diode has two drawbacks, increased conduction loss due to the larger on-state voltage, and increased switching losses due to the body diode reverse recovery during the  $S_1$  turn-on transient. Both decrease the converter efficiency and limit the application of the synchronous rectifier to low voltage levels [3-4]. To decrease the body diode conduction, the dead time may be decreased and the gate-source voltages for both MOSFETs are even overlapped, providing that the instant when  $v_{GS}$  of the out-going MOSFET falls below  $V_T$  occurs before  $v_{GS}$  of the incoming MOSFET increases to  $V_T$  [3-5].

To illustrate how this improves the switching waveforms, Figure 3-5 plots the amplitude of the measured peak reverse recovery current through the  $S_2$  body diode with different dead times for the 120 V synchronous rectifier at room temperature supplying 60 V output to a 480 W load. The dead time is defined as the time interval between the instant of the gate-source voltage approaching zero for  $S_2$  and rising from zero for  $S_1$ . A 4  $\Omega$  gate resistor was used to control the  $S_1$  switching speed. The peak reverse recovery current has a minimum value of 10.8 A at -40 ns, Figure 3-5, where the negative sign implies that the two driving signals are overlapping. The minimum peak reverse current is less than half the value that is measured with a dead time of 50 ns. Further decreases in the dead time below -40 ns may result in shoot though and thereby increase the current. The  $S_2$  turn-off currents are plotted in Figure 3-6 with dead times of 50 ns and -40 ns respectively at room temperature.



Figure 3-5 Amplitude of peak reverse current against dead time in the 120 V synchronous rectifier at 20°C with a 60 V, 480 W output



Figure 3-6  $S_2$  turn-off currents with dead time of 50 ns (left) and -40 ns (right) at 20°C for the 120 V synchronous rectifier with a 60 V, 480 W output

The optimum value of dead time is dependent on the gate threshold voltage of the MOSFETs and will therefore vary with temperature. At reduced temperature the increase in gate threshold voltage will require further reductions in the dead time to minimise switching losses. The threshold voltage of the IRFB31N20D at low temperature examined in Chapter 2 is re-plotted in Figure 3-7 with that of SPP20N60C3. Both increase by more than 1 V at temperatures down to 20 K. When the circuit was tested at low temperatures the dead time was adjusted at each temperature to minimise the peak reverse recovery current through the

 $S_2$  body diode. Due to limitations of the number of pins on the feedthrough, it was not possible to measure the individual gate-source voltages and the actual dead times that were used, however, the dead time was reduced at low temperatures by approximately 10 ns.



Figure 3-7 Gate threshold voltages,  $V_{GS} = V_{DS}$ ,  $I_D = 250 \text{ mA}$ 



Figure 3-8 Gate-source voltages for the 120 V synchronous rectifier at 20°C: (a) turnoff of  $S_2$  and turn-on of  $S_1$ , (b) turn-off of  $S_1$  and turn-on of  $S_2$ 

To protect against false turn-on of  $S_2$  which may occur due to current injected into the gate through the gate-drain capacitance as the drain voltage rises rapidly, a negative bias of -5 V was placed on the gate-source in the off-state. Figure 3-8 plots the driving signals for the 120 V synchronous rectifier, where the  $S_2$  driving signal has -5 V off-state level. The dead time is set at -40 ns during the  $S_2$  turn-off and  $S_1$  turn-on interval, Figure 3-8 (a). During  $S_1$ 

turn-off and  $S_2$  turn-on transient, the dead time has little effect on the switching waveforms and it was set to zero, Figure 3-8 (b).

#### 3.1.3 Semiconductor losses at room temperature

Before testing the circuits at low temperature, the losses were first examined at room temperature and compared with design predictions. The circuit operated from a 120 V source at 50 kHz and delivered 480 W at 60 V to the load. The MOSFET parameters are the same as used in Chapter 2, Table 2-5.

The MOSFET drain-source voltage and drain current during the individual switching intervals were calculated using the equations (2-20), (2-21), (2-26) to (2-33), (2-35) and (2-36) from Chapter 2. Considering the stray inductance and the output capacitor of the other MOSFET,  $L_D$  was increased to 80 nH and the output capacitance was increased to 340 pF. The switching losses were calculated by time integration of the current and voltage products multiplied the switching frequency and are listed in Table 3-2 for both MOSFETs, along with the measured switching losses in the 120 V synchronous rectifier at room temperature.

Switching loss	Units	Calculated	Measured
$S_1$ turn-on	W	0.27	0.74
$S_1$ turn-off	W	0.76	0.34
S <sub>2</sub> turn-on	W	0	0.04
$S_2$ turn-off	W	0.58	0.44

Table 3-2Calculated and measured switching losses in the 120 V synchronous<br/>rectifier at 20°C

The predicted and measured switching waveforms are plotted in Figure 3-9 for  $S_1$ . There is a large pulse of forward current through  $S_1$  at turn-on in the measured waveform due to the reverse recovery of the  $S_2$  body diode, which was thought to account for the large difference
in the predicted and measured  $S_1$  turn-on losses. The difference in the  $S_1$  turn-off losses between the predicted and measured values may be caused by the piecewise linear approximation for the MOSFET non-linear gate-drain capacitance. In particular when  $S_1$ turns off, the voltage across  $S_2$  falls and the  $S_2$  capacitance will rise; however, this effect is not included in the calculations. Since the conduction of  $S_2$  body diode prior to the channel ensures the zero-voltage turn-on, the  $S_2$  turn-on loss is calculated as zero. The measured turn-off loss in  $S_2$  is due to the reverse recovery of the  $S_2$  body diode. The oscillations in the measured waveforms at around 28 MHz were attributed to the stray inductance ringing with device capacitance. The natural frequency of the stray inductance (80 nH) and the MOSFETs drain-source capacitance (340 pF) is 32 MHz.



Figure 3-9 Predicated and measured  $S_1$  switching waveforms: (a) turn-on, (b) turn-off; blue: analytical results; black: measured waveforms

The measured conduction losses in the 120 V synchronous rectifier are compared with the values in the single-transistor buck converters at room temperature in Table 3-3. The conduction losses in the synchronous rectifier circuit reduce by 18 %, 33 % and 45 % compared with the values in the single-transistor converters with the Schottky, ultrafast and SiC diodes respectively.

5-5 Wedstred conduction losses in the 120 v prototypes						
	Semiconductor loss	Syn	Sch	Ult	SiC	
	Conduction losses (W)	4.01	4.92	6.00	7.31	

Table 3-3Measured conduction losses in the 120 V prototypes at 20°C

## 3.1.4 Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the synchronous rectifiers at

## low temperatures

The synchronous rectifier was examined across the temperature range 20-300 K. Using the same layout as in Chapter 2, the currents and voltages for each MOSFET were measured outside the cold chamber. The switching losses were obtained by multiplying the switching frequency by the time integral of the device voltage and current products, whilst the on-state losses were calculated from a knowledge of the current, the static characteristic in Figure 2-11, and using the equation (2-42). The measured device losses were also confirmed by measurement of the inductor losses and the converter input and output powers using high resolution multimeters.

#### 3.1.4.1 120 V synchronous rectifier

Figure 3-10 (a) plots the semiconductor losses in the 120 V synchronous rectifier across the temperature range 20-300 K and Figures 3-10 (b) and (c) display the losses in the individual semicondcutor devices, where the prototype operated with the optimised dead time at all temperatures.



Figure 3-10 Semiconductor losses in the synchronous rectifier with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs,  $V_{In} = 120V$ ,  $V_{O} = 60V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 480W$ 

The total semiconductor loss at cryogenic temperatures is approximately one-third of the room temperature value, Figure 3-10 (a), which is due to the significant reduction in the conduction loss. Both MOSFETs have the same on-state losses due to the approximately equal conducting durations, and the total conduction loss at 50 K is approximately 16 % of the room temperature value, Figure 3-10 (b). However, the switching loss changes little over the temperature range, Figure 3-10 (a) and (c). The  $S_2$  turn-off currents are plotted in Figure 3-11 at temperatures of 20 K, 60 K, 100 K and 294 K. No apparent reduction is observed either in the reverse recovery current or in the reverse recovery time, except that the ringing amplitude decreases at low temperatures.



Figure 3-11  $S_2$  turn-off currents in the synchronous rectifier with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs,  $V_{ln} = 120V$ ,  $V_O = 60V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 480W$ 

#### 3.1.4.2 500 V synchronous rectifier

Figure 3-12 (a) displays the total semiconductor losses, conduction and switching losses in the synchronous rectifier operating from a 500 V source over the temperature range 20-300 K. The circuit used two SPP20N60C3 devices. The losses in the individual semicondcutor devices are plotted in Figures 3-12 (b) and (c). The prototype operated with the dead time adjusted to minimise the peak reverse recovery current of the  $S_2$  body diode at each temperature. The dead time was approximately -20ns. No gate resistors were added.



Figure 3-12 Semiconductor losses in the synchronous rectifier with two SPP20N60C3 MOSFETs,  $V_{In} = 500V$ ,  $V_O = 250V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 500W$ 

The total semiconductor loss is approximately constant across the temperature range, Figure 3-12 (a), due to the almost constant switching losses. Examination of the switching losses shows that all four components change little with temperature, Figure 3-12 (c). Although the on-state losses of both MOSFETs decrease with a decrease in temperature, Figure 3-12 (b), these losses are too small to make any difference to the total semiconductor loss.

Figure 3-13 displays the  $S_2$  turn-off currents at temperatures of 20 K, 60 K, 100 K and 294 K. No appreciable change is found either in the reverse recovery current or in the reverse recovery time. Only the current ringing effect decreases dramatically at low temperatures.



Figure 3-13  $S_2$  turn-off currents in the synchronous rectifier with two SPP20N60C3 MOSFETs,  $V_{In} = 500V$ ,  $V_o = 250V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 500W$ 

## 3.2 Soft-switching buck converter

Although the synchronous rectifier offers a significant reduction in the conduction loss at low temperatures due to the diode-less configuration, the switching loss remains significant and is the dominant loss at low temperature in the results reported in the previous section. Moreover the residual switching loss is almost independent of temperature, Figure 3-10 and 3-12. Therefore, a soft-switching technology is desirable to diminish or eliminate the switching losses.

## 3.2.1 Soft-switching circuit selection

In broad terms there are two classes of soft switching techniques, those which create a natural current zero and enable device turn-off without loss, known as zero-current-switching (ZCS) circuits, and those which create a natural voltage zero to allow loss-less turn-on, known as zero-voltage-switching (ZVS) circuits [3-6]. ZCS circuits have the disadvantage that turn-on losses and diode reverse recovery losses remain, however, in ZVS circuits the remaining turn-off losses can be controlled by using capacitor snubbers.

A ZVS technique was chosen, and to enable straightforward implementation a circuit was selected which required a minimum of additional components and which did not increase the MOSFET off-state voltages, important due to the reduction in breakdown voltage at low temperatures. Therefore, a zero-voltage-switching clamped-voltage (ZVS-CV) topology was chosen as shown in Figure 3-14. Only two additional snubber capacitors and a small filter inductor are required to modify the synchronous rectifier circuit in Section 3.1. The ZVS-CV technique employs a resonant-transition during the switching interval of short but finite duration to realise zero voltage switching in both MOSFETs, and the off-state voltage of each MOSFET is clamped at the input voltage level [3-7]. Moreover, the ZVS-CV converter may still use the transistor duty ratio for output voltage control. The negative side is that the

conduction losses increase due to the increased ripple current level in the filter inductor. The inductor must be chosen such that the inductor current transiently reverses as described in the following section.



Figure 3-14 ZVS-CV soft-switching circuit

## 3.2.2 ZVS-CV circuit operation and design

The idealised circuit waveforms for a complete period are plotted in Figure 3-15. The waveforms show the gate-source voltages of the two MOSFETs, the drain-source voltage of  $S_2$ ,  $v_{S2}$ , and the inductor current  $i_L$ . A small dead time is present in the gate-source voltages and the inductor current is seen to have a large ripple component reversing for a short period of time. As a result, each MOSFET conducts in the reverse direction, either through the body diode or channel, immediately before conducting in the forward direction. Furthermore each transition of the  $v_{S2}$  waveform is initiated by the turn-off of one of the MOSFETs as described below.



Figure 3-15 ZVS-CV ideal main waveforms

Figure 3-16 illustrates the positive-going transition of  $v_{s2}$  and the commutation of current from  $S_2$  to  $S_1$ . Figure 3-16 (a) shows that the inductor current  $i_L$  is initially carried by  $S_2$ since the inductor current is now negative. After  $S_2$  turns off the current is transferred to the snubber capacitors  $C_{r1}$  and  $C_{r2}$ , charging  $C_{r2}$  and discharging  $C_{r1}$  in a controlled manner, Figure 3-16 (b), and the voltage  $v_{s2}$  then rises to  $V_{ln}$  from zero whilst the voltage across  $S_1$ decreases from  $V_{ln}$  to zero. At the instant that  $v_{s2}$  rises above  $V_{ln}$ , the  $S_1$  body diode starts conducting, Figure 3-16 (c), allowing  $S_1$  to turn on at zero voltage [3-7], Figure 3-16 (d). The turn-off loss in  $S_2$  will be low due to the presence of  $C_{r1}$  and  $C_{r2}$  and the controlled rise of  $v_{s2}$ , whilst the turn-on loss in  $S_1$  will be virtually zero.



Figure 3-16 Zero-voltage commutation from  $S_2$  to  $S_1$  [3-7]

The negative-going transition of  $v_{S2}$  is plotted in Figure 3-17 during which  $i_L$  commutates from  $S_1$  to  $S_2$ .  $S_1$  carries a positive current  $i_L$  in Figure 3-17 (a) since the inductor current is now positive. The turn-off of  $S_1$  forces  $i_L$  to commutate from  $S_1$  to  $C_{r1}$  and  $C_{r2}$ , Figure 3-17 (b), and the voltage on  $C_{r2}$  decreases from  $V_{In}$  to zero whilst  $C_{r1}$  charges from zero to  $V_{ln}$ . After  $v_{S2}$  reduces to zero the body diode of  $S_2$  is forward biased and carries  $i_L$ , Figure 3-17 (c).  $S_2$  can then be switched on under zero voltage conditions, Figure 3-17 (d). Similar to the first transition, the turn-off loss in  $S_1$  may be limited by appropriate choice of the snubber capacitors, whilst the turn-on loss in  $S_2$  will be virtually zero.



Figure 3-17 Zero-voltage commutation from  $S_1$  to  $S_2$ 

To achieve the low-loss zero-voltage-switching, the inductor current must transiently reverse. Therefore the ratio  $K_L$  in equation (3-1) must be greater than two.

$$K_L = \frac{\Delta I_L}{I_O} \tag{3-1}$$

where  $\Delta I_L$  is the peak-to-peak inductor ripple current and the load current,  $I_O$ , is

$$I_o = \frac{V_o}{R} \tag{3-2}$$

 $\Delta I_L$  may be calculated by (3-3) since the dead time is relatively small compared to the switching period  $T_s$ .

$$\Delta I_L = \frac{V_{In} - V_O}{L} DT_S \tag{3-3}$$

where D is the duty ratio of  $S_1$ . Substituting (3-1) and (3-2) into (3-3) gives

$$L = \frac{1}{K_L} (1 - D) R T_s$$
(3-4)

provided that  $V_O = DV_{In}$ .

Whilst  $K_L$  must be greater than two, it is desirable to keep it as small as possible to limit the conduction losses.  $K_L$  was initially selected to be 2.4, and the required inductance was calculated to be 31.3 µH using (3-4). The precise value must be confirmed by considering the turn-off transient of  $S_2$ ; the current must be sufficiently negative at the switching instant to ensure that the snubber capacitors are completely charged/discharged. First the snubber capacitors must be chosen by considering the  $S_1$  turn-off transient.

Considering the  $S_1$  turn-off transient and the residual switching loss, snubber capacitor values may be determined. The  $S_1$  drain current may be approximated by (3-5) as the device turns off.

$$i_D = I_{L \max} \left(1 - \frac{t}{T_f}\right)$$
 (3-5)

where  $I_{L_{\text{max}}}$  is the maximum inductor current, assumed to remain constant during the transition, and  $T_f$  is the fall time of the drain current, calculated as 40 ns at room temperature using (2-35) in Chapter 2.

The current through the snubber capacitor  $C_{r1}$  is calculated in (3-6) assuming that  $C_{r1} = C_{r1} = C_r$ . The voltage across the snubber capacitor  $C_{r1}$ , which is also the drain-source voltage of  $S_1$ , is obtained in (3-7) by integrating (3-6) and dividing by  $C_r$ .

$$i_{Cr} = \frac{I_{L\max}t}{2T_f}$$
(3-6)

$$v_{s1} = \frac{I_{L \max} t^2}{4C_r T_f}$$
(3-7)

The energy dissipated in  $S_1$  during turn-off is obtained by integrating the product of (3-5) and (3-7) over the interval t = 0 to  $T_f$ , giving (3-8)

$$Q_{S1_{off}} = \frac{I_{L\,\text{max}}^2 T_f^2}{48C_r}$$
(3-8)

Two 2.2 nF, 160 V polystyrene capacitors were selected for the snubbers. The drain-source capacitances of the MOSFETs are effectively in parallel with the snubbers and result in a total value for  $C_r$  across each MOSFET of 2.37 nF. With this value of capacitance the turn-off energy in  $S_1$ , calculated from (3-8), is 4.22 µJ, resulting in an average power dissipation of 0.21 W. The turn-off energy loss in  $S_2$  was negligibly small as the commutation current is very much lower than that in  $S_1$ .

The duration of the voltage transitions were calculated using (3-9) to be 34 ns and 490 ns for the  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  turn-off transients, assuming that the inductor current is constant during the transition. The dead times were therefore set at 50 ns and 600 ns.

$$t = \frac{2C_r V_{In}}{I_{L \max/\min}}$$
(3-9)

## 3.2.3 ZVS-CV converter room temperature test

Figure 3-18 plots the drain-source voltages of the individual MOSFET devices during the two transient intervals along with the inductor current at room temperature. During the  $S_1$  turn-off transient the inductor current is at its maximum, and the voltage transition takes about 50 ns, Figure 3-18 (a); however, it takes more than 600 ns for the voltage transition when  $S_2$  turns off due to the small value of the inductor current at this instant, Figure 3-18 (b).



Figure 3-18 Transient waveforms: (a)  $S_1$  turn-off transient, (b)  $S_2$  turn-off transient in the ZVS-CV converter with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs  $V_{In} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$ 

Since the inductor current flows through one or other of the MOSFETs, the total semiconductor conduction loss may be calculated from the RMS inductor current and the MOSFET  $R_{DS(on)}$ . The RMS value of the inductor current is obtained by (3-10) from [3-8], giving the conduction loss as 6.30 W. The total semiconductor loss was also confirmed by the measured inductor losses and the input and output powers.

$$I_{RMS} = I_{O} \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{3} \left[ \frac{\Delta I_{L} / 2}{I_{O}} \right]^{2}}$$
(3-10)

#### 3.2.4 Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V ZVS-CV converter

#### at low temperatures

The zero-voltage-switching clamped-voltage converter prototype, Figure 3-19, was bolted on top of the cold head inside the cold chamber and tested in the same manner as the previous converter prototypes.



Figure 3-19 Semiconductors and drive circuit for the 120V ZVS-CV converter

Since the snubber capacitors were soldered directly across the drain and source of the individual MOSFET devices, only the MOSFET voltage switching waveforms were

recorded by the digital oscilloscope. The measured semiconductor losses were also confirmed by measurement of the converter input and output powers using high resolution multimeters and measurement of the inductor losses.

Figure 3-20 plots the transient drain-source voltages for the individual MOSFETs at all temperatures. The waveforms on the left hand side, Figure 3-20, are the  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  drain-source voltages during the  $S_1$  turn-off transient, while the transient voltages during the  $S_2$  turn-off are on the right hand side. All voltage waveforms change very little over the temperature range 20-300 K. Therefore, the zero-voltage-switching is maintained and the switching loss is around 0.21 W determined by the  $S_1$  turn-off loss.

Figure 3-21 plots the total semiconductor loss along with the conduction and switching losses at temperatures down to 20 K from 300 K. The total semiconductor loss decreases by more than a factor of five at low temperatures, and at 50 K it is approximately 18 % of the room temperature value.



Figure 3-20 Transient voltages in the ZVS converter at a number of temperatures over the range 20-300 K with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs,  $V_{In} = 120V, V_O = 60V, P_{Load} = 480W$ 

The results confirm that the circuit works well over the entire temperature range. There is a large reduction in the semiconductor loss as the temperature falls, and since the losses are largely due to conduction, the losses could be reduced by connecting additional devices in parallel. Furthermore, the switching losses could be reduced by increasing the snubber capacitors; however this would require a larger ripple current in the inductor.



Figure 3-21 Semiconductor losses in the ZVS converter with two IRFB31N20D MOSFETs,  $V_{ln} = 120V$ ,  $V_o = 60V$ ,  $P_{Load} = 480W$ 

## 3.3 Summary of the semiconductor losses in the 120 V

## prototypes

Figure 3-22 plots the total semiconductor losses in the converters with 120 V input, including the three single-transistor buck converters described in Chapter 2 and the two two-transistor buck converters, whilst Figures 3-23 and 3-24 show the breakdown of the total semiconductor losses into conduction and switching losses respectively. All the 120 V prototypes are listed in Table 3-4, and the number in the three Figures is related to the prototype in Table 3-4.

1	Hard-switching converter with an ultrafast diode			
2	Hard-switching converter with a silicon Schottky diode			
3	Hard-switching converter with a SiC Schottky diode			
4	Synchronous rectifier			
5	Zero-voltage-switching converter			

Table 3-4120 V, 480 W prototypes list

Figure 3-22 shows that the soft-switched and the synchronous rectifier prototypes offer the lowest semiconductor losses. At room temperature the synchronous rectifier has a slight advantage due to its significantly lower conduction loss, Figure 3-23; the peak current levels in the soft-switching converter are much higher due to the very large inductor ripple current. However, at very low temperature the conduction losses in both prototypes reduce substantially due to the reduction in the MOSFET on-state resistance, but the switching loss remains around 1.5 W in the synchronous rectifier, Figure 3-24, whereas it is 0.21 W for the soft-switching circuit, less than one-seventh of the value in the synchronous rectifier. Therefore, at cryogenic temperatures the soft-switching prototype has superior performance.



Figure 3-22 Semiconductor losses in the 120 V prototypes



Figure 3-23 Conduction losses in the 120 V prototypes



Figure 3-24 Switching losses in the 120 V prototypes

## 3.4 Conclusions

- The synchronous rectifier has the capability of operating from high voltage levels, 120 V and 500 V. And the peak reverse current through the S<sub>2</sub> body diode was less than half the value measured with a dead time of 50 ns in the 120 V synchronous rectifier, using the optimised dead time control. However, the increase in the threshold voltage at low temperature required the dead time to be reduced at cryogenic temperatures.
- The temperature invariant switching losses limited the performance of the synchronous rectifier circuit at cryogenic temperatures whereas the much lower switching losses in the zero-voltage-switching circuit allowed the overall losses to fall almost in proportion with the reduction in the MOSFET on-state resistance. The total semiconductor loss at 50 K in the zero-voltage-switching circuit was 18 % of the room temperature value and the losses could easily be reduced further by adding additional MOSFETs in parallel.
- An additional advantage of the synchronous rectifier over the diode based circuits is that the semiconductor conduction losses will be largely independent of duty ratio for a specific output current.

## **References:**

- [3-1] Selders Jr., R.; Synchronous Rectification in High–Performance Power Converter Design, *Power designer No. 112*, National semiconductor
- [3-2] Mohan, N.; Undeland, T.; Robbins W., *Power Electronics: Converters, Applications and Design*, Media Enhanced Third Edition, Wiley, 2003
- [3-3] Diodes and rectifiers, Lessons in Electric Circuits, Volume III-Semiconductors, 5<sup>th</sup> Edith, <u>http://www.allaboutcircuits.com/vol\_3/chpt\_3/1.html</u>

- [3-4] Mitter, C. S.; Device considerations for high current, low voltage synchronous buck regulators (SBR), *WESCON/97 Conference Proceedings*, 4-6 November 1997 Page(s):281-288
- [3-5] Kim, H.; Jahns, T. M.; Venkataramanan, G.; Minimization of reverse recovery effects in hard-switched inverters using CoolMOS power switches, *Industry Applications Conference Thirty-Sixth IAS Annual Meeting, Conference Record of the 2001 IEEE*, Volume 1, 30 Sept.-4 Oct. 2001 Page(s):641 - 647 vol.1
- [3-6] Ang, S.; Oliva, A.; *Power-Switching Converters*, CRC press, Second Edition, March 17, 2005
- [3-7] Henze, C. P.; Martin, H. C.; Parsley, D. W.; Zero-voltage switching in high frequency power converters using pulse width modulation, *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition APEC* '88. Conference Proceedings 1988, *Third Annual IEEE*, 1-5 Feb. 1988 Page(s):33 – 40
- [3-8] Erickson, R. W.; Maksimovic, D.; *Fundamentals of Power Electronics*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001

## **Chapter 4**

## Cryogenic operation of three-level diode-clamped stepdown converters

This Chapter describes the performance of the multi-level step-down converter at low temperatures. A three-level, diode-clamped, DC-DC step-down converter is chosen for design and prototyping to operate from 500 V and 600 V DC supplies. Power MOSFETs are employed in the prototypes with ultrafast and silicon carbide diodes. The semiconductor losses are evaluated in the temperature range 20-300 K. Finally a zero-voltage-switching version of the multi-level converter is proposed to overcome the switching loss limitations of the circuit.

## 4.1 Three-level converter design and operation

One possible application for power electronics in a cryogenic environment is for the control of the DC current in a superconducting coil, for example the field coil in a superconducting synchronous machine, or the coil of a superconducting magnet energy storage device (SMES). The DC supply in these examples could be at quite a high voltage, implying the use of high voltage MOSFETs or IGBTs in the step-down DC-DC converter [4-1, 4-2, 4-3]. To enable the use of lower voltage MOSFETs, which have the attraction of lower on-state resistance and therefore lower losses, a multi-level circuit is considered [4-4, 4-5, 4-6]. In general, an *n*-level step-down converter imposes a maximum off-state voltage across the

devices of  $V_{In}/(n-1)$ , where  $V_{In}$  is the DC supply voltage. Multi-level circuits overcome the voltage sharing problems of simply connecting devices in series.

### 4.1.1 Three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter design

A three-level, diode-clamped converter is shown in Figure 4-1. Two transistors are connected in series in each leg,  $S_{T1}$  and  $S_{T3}$  in leg a,  $S_{T2}$  and  $S_{T4}$  in leg b. Two series connected capacitors,  $C_{In1}$  and  $C_{In2}$ , are used to divide the supply voltage into two equal levels of  $V_{In}/2$ , and the clamping diodes,  $D_{C1}$  and  $D_{C2}$ , limit the maximum voltage across each transistor to  $V_{In}/2$ .



Figure 4-1 Three-level, diode-clamped DC-DC converter

The complete set of sub-topologies of the three-level converter is displayed in Figure 4-2, assuming continuous conduction of the current in the filter inductor *L*. It is seen that different sub-topologies produce different voltages across the output,  $v_{ab}$ , Figure 4-1. By appropriate choice of the sub-topologies and the durations of the sub-topologies, the local average of  $v_{ab}$  can be controlled to any desired value in the range  $-V_{ln} < v_{ab} < V_{ln}$ . For a unidirectional inductor current  $i_L$ , the direction of power flow depends on the polarity of the average  $v_{ab}$ .



Figure 4-2 Sub-topologies of the three-level converter [4-4]

 $(9)v_{ab} = V_{In}/2$ ; S<sub>T2</sub> switched on

(8) $v_{ab}$ =-V<sub>In</sub>/2; S<sub>T1</sub> switched on

 $(7)v_{ab} = V_{In}$ 

Figure 4-2 shows that more than one sub-topology is available to achieve  $v_{ab} = -V_{In}/2$ , 0 and  $V_{In}/2$ , therefore through careful use of the redundant states, PWM schemes can be developed to reduce switching losses and output current ripple, and also to maintain the charge balance of the two series connected capacitors [4-4]. The basic principle is to operate

the converter only with the sub-topologies which produce output voltage levels directly adjacent to the required  $V_o$  at any given time. This results in reduced switching losses and filter inductor current ripple [4-4]. The active sub-topologies and switch control strategies for different ranges of  $V_o$  are listed in Table 4-1, in which the sub-topology numbers refer to those in Figure 4-2. In each of the operating ranges listed in Table 4-1, the pair of devices that are switched are operated in an interleaved manner; the devices being switched on in alternate half cycles for a time  $DT_s$ , where D is the duty ratio and  $T_s$  is the period.

Operating Range	Active Subtopologies	PWM Strategies		
$-1 < V_O/V_{In} < -0.5$	(7), (8), (9)	S <sub>T1</sub> , S <sub>T2</sub> : PWM control S <sub>T3</sub> , S <sub>T4</sub> : Always Off		
$-0.5 < V_0 / V_{In} < 0$	(6), (8), (9)	S <sub>T1</sub> , S <sub>T2</sub> : PWM control S <sub>T3</sub> , S <sub>T4</sub> : Always Off		
$0 < V_0 / V_{In} < 0.5$	(2), (3), (6)	S <sub>T1</sub> , S <sub>T2</sub> : Always On S <sub>T3</sub> , S <sub>T4</sub> : PWM control		
$0.5 < V_O / V_{In} < 1$	(1), (2), (3)	S <sub>T1</sub> , S <sub>T2</sub> : Always On S <sub>T3</sub> , S <sub>T4</sub> : PWM control		

Table 4-1Three-level two-quadrant control strategy [4-4]

The principal waveforms are shown in Figure 4-3 for the operation with 75 % duty ratio. Since  $S_{T1}$  and  $S_{T2}$ , are permanently on their control signals are not plotted. When  $S_{T3}$  is switched on,  $S_{T4}$  is already on and the circuit configures into sub-topology (1), Figure 4-2. Current flows through  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T3}$ ,  $S_{T4}$  and the output filter, increasing the output inductor current. When  $S_{T4}$  turns off,  $S_{T3}$  is still on and the circuit is switched into sub-topology (3), Figure 4-2, where the inductor current freewheels through  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T3}$  and the diode  $D_{C2}$ . The subsequent turn-on of  $S_{T4}$  at the start of the next half-cycle then changes the circuit again into sub-topology (1), Figure 4-2, which increases the inductor current. When  $S_{T3}$  turns off,  $S_{T4}$  continues to conduct and the circuit is switched into sub-topology (2), Figure 4-2, the inductor current freewheels through  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T4}$  and the diode  $D_{C1}$  until  $S_{T3}$  turns on and the cycle repeats. The off-state voltages across  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$  are  $V_{In}/2$  and the frequency of the inductor ripple current is twice the switching frequency, Figure 4-3.



Figure 4-3 Main waveforms at 75% duty ratio

By examining the  $v_{ab}$  waveform, the average converter output voltage may be calculated as:

$$V_{O} = \frac{\left[V_{In}\left(T_{S} / 2 - (1 - D)T_{S}\right) + V_{In} / 2(1 - D)T_{S}\right]}{T_{S} / 2} = DV_{In}$$
(4-1)

By similar consideration of the waveforms at transistor duty ratios below 0.5, the voltage conversion ratio may again be given by the expression in equation (4-1).

Considering the inductor volt-second balance, the peak-to-peak inductor current ripple may be calculated by equation (4-2).

$$\Delta I_L = \frac{v_L \Delta t}{L} \tag{4-2}$$

where  $\Delta t$  is defined in Figure 4-3. Substituting  $\Delta t = DT_s - T_s/2$  and rearranging (4-2), the output inductor value may be calculated using (4-3).

$$L = \frac{(V_{In} - V_O)(2D - 1)T_S}{2\Delta I_L}$$
(4-3)

Assuming the inductor ripple current flows entirely in the output capacitor the peak-to-peak output voltage ripple may be expressed in (4-4)

$$\Delta V_o = \frac{\Delta Q_o}{C_o} = \frac{1}{C_o} \times \frac{1}{2} \frac{\Delta I_L}{2} \frac{T_s}{4}$$
(4-4)

where  $\Delta Q_o$  is the charge flow to/from the capacitor each half cycle, Figure 4-3. Rearranging (4-4) and substituting for  $\Delta I_L$  from (4-3), the output capacitance is obtained in (4-5).

$$C_{o} = \frac{(V_{In} - V_{o})(2D - 1)T_{s}^{2}}{32L\Delta V_{o}}$$
(4-5)

Considering a constant source current  $I_{In}$ , Figure 4-1, the input capacitor,  $C_{In1}$ , is charged during the off-time of  $S_{T3}$ , and discharged when  $S_{T4}$  is off, Figure 4-3. The capacitance may be calculated using (4-6)

$$C_{In} = \frac{\Delta Q_{In}}{\Delta V_{In}} = \frac{I_{In}(1-D)T_s}{\Delta V_{In}}$$
(4-6)

where  $\Delta Q_{ln}$  is the charge flow to/from the capacitor each half cycle, Figure 4-3.

To allow the operation of the converter to be examined at two input voltage levels and duty ratios, prototypes were designed to operate with D = 0.5 from a 500 V supply and with D = 0.75 from a 600 V supply, all transistors switching at 50 kHz. The 500 V results will then be compared with those from the 500 V prototypes described in Chapters 2 and 3.

The detailed design requirements of the two three-level, buck converters are listed in Table 4-2. Applying the design requirements to the equations (4-3), (4-5) and (4-6), the values of the input capacitor, filter inductor and capacitor are calculated and listed in Table 4-3.

Input Voltage (V)	500	600
Input Current (A)	1	1
Input Power (W)	500	600
Output Voltage (V)	250	450
Output Current (A)	2	1.33
Duty Ratio	0.5	0.75
Frequency (kHz)	50	50
Input Voltage Ripple (V)	25	30
Output Voltage Ripple (V)	2.5	4.5
Inductor Current Ripple (A)	0.3	0.2

Table 4-2Three-level buck converter design requirements

Table 1 2	Thusa larval				dealar	
Table 4-5	I nree-level	converter	Dassive	component	design	values
			1	1	0	

Circuit	Input Capacitor $(C_{In1}, C_{In2})$	Filter Inductor (L)	Filter Capacitor $(C_o)$	
500 V	800 nF	4.17 mH	150 nF	
600 V	333 nF	3.75 mH	56 nF	

## 4.1.2 Three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter fabrication

Two 400 V, 2.2 µF polyester capacitors were chosen as the input capacitors,  $C_{In1}$  and  $C_{In2}$ . Four power MOSFETs, IRFIB7N50A ( $V_{BR} = 500V$ ,  $R_{DS(on)} = 0.52\Omega @ 25^{\circ}C$ ), were used as the switching transistors. Two silicon carbide Schottky barrier diodes, CSD10120 ( $V_{BR} = 1200V$ ,  $V_F = 1.6V$  at 10 A and 25°C), were employed as the bridge diodes,  $D_{T1}$  and  $D_{T2}$ . Two ultrafast diodes, MUR1560 ( $V_{BR} = 600V$ ,  $V_F = 1.5V$  at 15 A and 25°C), were used as the voltage-clamping diodes,  $D_{C1}$  and  $D_{C2}$ . Totally, there were ten components in the conversion circuit, which were all mounted on a round copper plate with 120 mm diameter and connected by a PCB board. A second pair of prototypes was built by replacing the ultrafast voltage-clamping diodes with the silicon carbide Schottky diodes, CSD06060 ( $V_{BR} = 600V, V_F = 1.6V$  at 6 A and 25°C). A UC3524 PWM integrated circuit was used to generate the driving signals for the MOSFETs  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$ . The MOSFETs  $S_{T1}$  and  $S_{T2}$ , were held permanently on using floating 12 V supplies.

## 4.2 Single device characteristic at low temperatures

To enable the device losses to be determined in the converters, the on-state resistances and voltages of the devices were measured at the converter operating current levels using the methods described previously.

## 4.2.1 MOSFET on-state resistance at low temperatures

The power MOSFET IRFIB7N50A on-state resistance was measured over the temperature range 20-300 K at the currents of 2 A and 1.33 A, using the test configurations described in Chapter 2, Section 2.4.1.

Figure 4-4 plots the on-state resistances across the temperature range at two current levels. There is no significant difference between the resistances at 1.33 A and 2 A. The on-state resistance has a minimum value of 52 m $\Omega$  at 70 K, one eighth of the room temperature value. The proportionate decrease in on-state resistance is much greater than that measured for the CoolMOS SPP20N60C3 device, Figure 2-11, which was assumed to be due to the conventional structure of the IRFIB7N50A.



Figure 4-4 Measured on-state resistance for the IRFIB7N50A

#### 4.2.2 Diode on-state voltage at low temperatures

The on-state voltages of the ultrafast diode MUR1560 and the silicon carbide Schottky barrier diode CSD06060 were examined across the range 20-300 K at the forward currents of 2 A and 1.33 A, using the method in Chapter 2, Section 2.4.2. Both on-state voltages, Figure 4-5, show the same temperature dependencies as described in Chapter 2, Section 2.4.2 over the temperature range, and the on-state voltage increases with the increase in forward current. However, the on-state voltage of the CSD06060 diode is slightly higher that that of the CSD10060.



Figure 4-5 Measured on-state voltages for the CSD06060 and MUR1560

#### 4.2.3 Capacitor characteristics at low temperatures

The 400 V, 2.2  $\mu$ F polyester capacitor was tested at low temperatures. The capacitance and the series resistance were measured using the Agilent 4284A precision LCR meter at temperatures down to 20 K. Figure 4-6 plots the capacitance at 50 kHz and 100 kHz over the temperature range 20-300 K, while Figure 4-7 shows the dissipation factor. The capacitance is insensitive to temperature, decreasing by 5.6 % at 20 K compared to room temperature. There is no significant difference between the capacitances at the two frequencies. The dissipation factor decreases with a decrease in temperature due to the reduction in the equivalent series resistance. These results are consistent with those reported in the literature for similar capacitor types [4-7, 4-8]. The RMS current through the input capacitor is to be 0.5 A based on the waveforms, Figure 4-3. The power loss in each capacitor is calculated to be 3.75 mW due to the equivalent series resistance at room temperature, which will decrease with a decrease in temperature, which will decrease with a decrease in temperature.



Figure 4-6 Measured capacitance for the 400 V, 2.2 µF polyester capacitor



Figure 4-7 Measured dissipation factor for the 400 V, 2.2 µF polyester capacitor

# 4.3 Analysis of the semiconductor losses in the three-level converters at low temperatures

Figure 4-8 shows the three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter prototype. The capacitors  $C_{In1}$  and  $C_{In2}$  were clamped to the copper base plate to ensure that they operate at low temperature. Figure 4-9 displays the cryogenic test layout. The prototype was mounted on the cold head in the vacuum chamber, the input and output filters were on the left hand side outside the chamber, and the PWM control signals conveyed by the signal feedthrough were on the right hand side. An 8-pin power feedthrough, Figure 4-10, was used to connect the circuit points labelled in Figure 4-10 (b) to the outside of the vacuum chamber. Therefore, the circuit connection between the voltage-clamping diodes and the mid-point of the input capacitors was made outside the cold chamber. This was necessary in order to monitor the currents in the voltage-clamping diodes, but has the disadvantage of introducing stray inductance into the circuit connections. The wires were practically cut as short as possible and twisted to minimise the stray inductance.



Figure 4-8 Three-level, diode-clamped, step-down converter prototype







Figure 4-10 Schematic connection for the power feedthrough

The converter operation was examined at a set of temperature points over the range of 20-300 K and the switching losses were obtained by the switching frequency multiplied by the time integral of the device voltage and current product, whilst the on-state losses were calculated by equations (4-7), (4-8) and (4-9) from a knowledge of the current level and the device characteristics in Figures 4-4 and 4-5. The measured semiconductor losses were confirmed by measurement of the converter input and output powers using high resolution multimeters and measurement of the inductor losses.

$$P_{Cond\_ST1\&ST2} = 2 \times I_{RMS}^2 \times R_{DS(on)}$$
(4-7)

$$P_{Cond ST3\&ST4} = 2 \times I_{RMS}^2 \times R_{DS(on)} \times D$$
(4-8)

$$P_{Cond DC1\&DC2} = 2 \times I_{AV} \times V_F \times (1-D)$$
(4-9)

#### 4.3.1 Ultrafast diode based, three-level, buck converter (500 V supply)

To operate with a duty ratio of 0.5, sub-topologies (1) and (6), Figure 4-2, were used and the MOSFETs  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$  were switched in synchronism.

The ultrafast diode MUR1560 based, three-level prototype was tested at low temperatures operating from a 500 V supply. Figure 4-11 (a) plots the total semiconductor losses in the temperature range 20-300 K, along with the conduction and switching losses. Figures 4-11 (b) and (c) display the losses in the individual semiconductors.

The total semiconductor loss decreases nearly by a half at 100 K, Figure 4-11 (a), due to the 40 % reduction in the switching loss and 60 % decrease in the conduction loss; below 100 K the total loss is insensitive to temperature, since both the switching and conduction losses change little. Figure 4-11 (b) shows that the MOSFET conduction losses decrease significantly, offset by the increase in the diode conduction losses. The switching losses in the MOSFETs dominate the total switching loss, Figure 4-11 (c), especially at low temperature. The switching loss in  $S_{T3}$ ,  $D_{C1}$  and  $D_{C2}$  decreases almost by a half across the range, whereas the  $S_{T4}$  switching loss decreases slightly.



Figure 4-11 Semiconductor losses in the three-level converter with IRFIB7N50A MOSFETs and MUR1560 diodes,  $V_{In} = 500V, V_O = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$ 



Figure 4-12  $D_{C1}$  (MUR1560) diode turn-off currents in the three-level converter  $V_{In} = 500V, V_O = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$ 

The reduction in the switching loss at low temperature, Figure 4-11, was attributed to the improvement in the ultrafast diode reverse recovery as described in Chapter 2. Figure 4-12 plots the turn-off currents of  $D_{C1}$  at 20 K, 60 K, 100 K and 294 K. The peak reverse recovery current decreases by two-thirds and the reverse recovery time decreases by a half at 100 K, below 100 K the decrease becomes relatively small.

#### **4.3.2** SiC diode based, three-level, buck converter (500 V supply)

The silicon carbide diode CSD06060 based, three-level, prototype was tested at low temperatures operating from 500 V. Figure 4-13 (a) plots the total semiconductor losses, the conduction and switching losses in the temperature range 20-300 K. The losses in the individual semiconductors are displayed in Figures 4-13 (b) and (c).

The total semiconductor loss decreases by 30 % at 80 K compared to 300 K, Figure 4-13 (a), essentially due to the 50 % reduction in the conduction loss, although the decrease in the MOSFET conduction losses is offset by the increase in the diode conduction losses, Figure 4-13 (b). All switching losses change little with temperature, Figure 4-13 (c), attributed to the temperature-invariant SiC diode switching property as observed in Chapter 2.


Figure 4-13 Semiconductor losses in the three-level converter with IRFIB7N50A MOSFETs and CSD06060 diodes,  $V_{In} = 500V, V_O = 250V, P_{Load} = 500W$ 

#### 4.3.3 Summary of the semiconductor losses in the 500 V prototypes

The 500 V, 500W prototypes that have been examined in this Thesis at low temperatures are listed in Table 4-4.

1	Ultrafast diode based single-transistor step-down converter, Section 2.6.1		
2	SiC diode based single-transistor step-down converter, Section 2.6.2		
3	Synchronous rectifier, Section 3.1.4.2		
4	Ultrafast diode based three-level step-down converter, Section 4.3.1		
5	SiC diode based three-level step-down converter, Section 4.3.2		

Table 4-4500 V, 500 W prototypes list

The total semiconductor losses in the five converters are plotted in Figure 4-14 in the temperature range 20-300 K, whilst Figures 4-15 and 4-16 display the breakdown of the total semiconductor losses into conduction and switching losses respectively. The numbering of the curves in the Figures follows the list in Table 4-4.

Comparing the results in Figure 4-14, the losses in the multi-level circuit are the highest at room temperature and are just below that of the synchronous rectifier at low temperature. All the circuits show fairly high semiconductor losses and the losses do not exhibit such a large reduction at low temperatures as was seen for the lower voltage circuits, Figure 3-22. This is due to a combination of factors, but mainly the lower current levels in the circuits, the large number of devices in the multi-level circuits, especially diodes, and the high switching losses in all circuits.



Figure 4-14 Total semiconductor losses in the 500 V prototypes



Figure 4-15 Conduction losses in the 500 V prototypes



Figure 4-16 Switching losses in the 500 V prototypes

#### 4.3.4 Three-level buck converter cryogenic operations (600 V supply)

To operate with a duty ratio of 0.75, sub-topologies (1), (2) and (3), Figure 4-2, were used and the MOSFETs  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$  were switched at 50 kHz as shown in Figure 4-3.

The ultrafast diode and SiC diode based three-level, step-down converters were tested at low temperatures, operating from a 600 V supply and delivering 600 W to a 450 V resistive load. The total semiconductor losses for both converters are plotted in Figure 4-17, while the breakdown of the total semiconductor losses into the conduction and switching losses are plotted in Figures 4-18 and 4-19 respectively.

Compared with the results from the multi-level circuits at 500 V, Figures 4-14 to 4-16, the data in Figures 4-17 to 4-19 show very similar trends; however, the total losses are lower due to the lower current in the devices and the reduced conduction times for the voltage-clamping diodes.



Figure 4-17 Total semiconductor losses in the 600 V prototypes



Figure 4-18 Conduction losses in the 600 V prototypes



Figure 4-19 Switching losses in the 600 V prototypes

#### 4.4 Three-level, zero-voltage-switching, step-down converter

Evaluation of the semiconductor losses in the three-level, step-down converters shows that the total semiconductor loss, conduction loss and switching loss are higher than in the corresponding single-transistor step-down converters, although they are more sensitive to temperature, Figure 4-14. The increase in losses is essentially due to the increased number of devices.

The conduction losses in the three-level circuit could be reduced at low temperature by using a synchronous rectifier for the voltage-clamping diodes. Furthermore the switching losses could be virtually eliminated by using zero-voltage-switching techniques, as discussed in Chapter 3. Therefore, a novel three-level, ZVS, step-down converter is introduced in Figure 4-20, where the voltage-clamping diodes,  $D_{C1}$  and  $D_{C2}$ , are replaced by the MOSFETs,  $S_{C1}$ and  $S_{C2}$ . A snubber capacitor is connected across the drain and source of each MOSFET. The output inductor has a bi-directional current due to the reduced inductor value and the inductor current charges/discharges the snubber capacitors in a lossless manner at each MOSFET turn-off instant. The individual MOSFETs are triggered on only after the corresponding body diode is forward conducting, achieving zero-voltage-switching.

Considering the converter operation at 25 % duty ratio as an example, the two MOSFETs,  $S_{T1}$  and  $S_{T2}$ , are permanently on, while the MOSFETs,  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$ , are switched on in alternate half cycles with 25 % duty ratio. The MOSFETs,  $S_{C1}$  and  $S_{C2}$ , are triggered in anti-phase with  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$  respectively, a dead time being inserted to allow charging /discharging of the snubber capacitors. The ideal waveforms are shown in Figure 4-21, where the control signals for  $S_{T1}$  and  $S_{T2}$  are omitted since they are permanently on, the other MOSFET control signals, the voltages across the snubber capacitors and the inductor current are plotted. The waveforms are defined in the circuit diagram of Figure 4-20.



Figure 4-20 Three-level, ZVS, step-down converter



Figure 4-21 Ideal waveforms for the three-level ZVS converter, D = 0.25

Chapter 4 Cryogenic operation of three-level diode-clamped step-down converters The sub-topologies that the converter is switched through are plotted in Figure 4-22 for the three-level, ZVS converter with the power transfer from  $V_{ln}$  to  $V_o$ . In sub-topology (a), Figure 4-22,  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$  are off whilst  $S_{C1}$ ,  $S_{C2}$ ,  $S_{T1}$  and  $S_{T2}$  are on. The inductor current freewheels through  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{C1}$ , and  $S_{C2}$ , falling and eventually reversing. The zerovoltage-switching transient that occurs when  $S_{C1}$  turns off is shown in Figure 4-23. The inductor current charges/discharges the snubber capacitors across  $S_{C1}$  and  $S_{T3}$  in a controlled manner, Figure 4-23 (b), until the body diode of  $S_{T3}$  becomes forward biased, Figure 4-23 (c).  $S_{T3}$  is then switched on, Figure 4-23 (d), and the converter is in subtopology (b), Figure 4-22. The inductor current increases, becoming positive again, and flows through  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{C2}$ .



(a)  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{C1}$ ,  $S_{C2}$ , switched on

(b)  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T3}$ ,  $S_{C2}$ , switched on



(c)  $S_{T1}$ ,  $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T4}$ ,  $S_{C1}$ , switched on

(d)  $S_{T1}$ , $S_{T2}$ ,  $S_{T3}$ , $S_{T4}$ ,switched on





Figure 4-23 Zero-voltage commutation from  $S_{C1}$  to  $S_{T3}$ 



Figure 4-24 Zero-voltage commutation from  $S_{T3}$  to  $S_{C1}$ 

The complementary zero-voltage-switching transient is displayed in Figure 4-24 when  $S_{T3}$  turns off. The positive inductor current charges and discharges the snubber capacitors, Figure 4-24 (b), until the body diode of  $S_{C1}$  is forward biased, Figure 4-24 (c), which allows  $S_{C1}$  to turn on at zero voltage, Figure 4-24 (d). The converter is then back in sub-topology (a), Figure 4-22.

Similarly a zero-voltage-switching transient occurs as the inductor current is commutated between  $S_{T4}$  and  $S_{C2}$ . In this way the circuit is switched into sub-topology (c), Figure 4-22, and back into sub-topology (a), Figure 4-22, in the second half of the switching cycle.

The active sub-topologies and control strategies for different ranges of positive  $V_o$  are listed in Table 4-5, in which the sub-topology letters refer to those in Figure 4-22. In each of the operating ranges listed in Table 4-5, the pair of devices that are switched are operated in an interleaved manner; the devices being switched on in alternate half cycles for an interval of  $DT_s$ , where D is the duty ratio and  $T_s$  is the period.

Table 4-5 Three-level, ZVS, one-quadrant control strategy			
Operating Range	Active Subtopologies	PWM Strategies	
$0 < V_O / V_{In} < 0.5$	(a), (b), (c)	S <sub>T1</sub> , S <sub>T2</sub> : Always On S <sub>T3</sub> , S <sub>T4</sub> : PWM control	
0.5 <v<sub>0/V<sub>In</sub>&lt;1</v<sub>	(b), (c), (d)	S <sub>T1</sub> , S <sub>T2</sub> : Always On S <sub>T3</sub> , S <sub>T4</sub> : PWM control	

Table 4-5Three-level, ZVS, one-quadrant control strategy

The operation of the three-level, ZVS, step-down converter was simulated in Saber at 25 % duty ratio with a 600V supply. The value of the filter inductor was 60  $\mu$ H, and the switching frequency was 50 kHz. The resistance of the load was 37.5  $\Omega$ . Each power MOSFET was modelled by an ideal switch, an anti-parallel diode and a 0.8 nF snubber capacitor. A short dead time, 400 ns, was inserted after each MOSFET turns off in order to complete the resonant transition. All these values were calculated based on the method in Chapter 3,

Section 3.2.2 for the two-level zero-voltage-switching circuit. The simulation circuit is displayed in Figure 4-25. The schematic in Saber is shown in Appendix 7.



Figure 4-25 Three-level, ZVS simulation circuit in Saber operating with D = 0.25

The simulation waveforms are plotted in Figure 4-26 for two cycles, showing the control signals of the individual MOSFETs, the filter inductor current, the individual MOSFET antiparallel diode currents, and the voltage and current across and through each MOSFET. The zero-voltage-switching happens in the vicinity of the maximum and minimum (negative) inductor currents, *i*\_L. Take a pair of MOSFETs  $S_{C2}$  and  $S_{T4}$  as an example. The voltages across their snubber capacitors, *v*\_ob and *v*\_b, increase and decrease in a controlled manner, ensuring zero-voltage turn-on for each MOSFET after the body diode forward conduction, *i*\_DC2 and *i*\_DT4 in Figure 4-26. Switching losses in the three-level, ZVS converter are then virtually eliminated. Therefore, the total semiconductor loss equals the sum of the MOSFET conduction losses in (4-10).

$$P_{Semi} = P_{Conduction} = 4 \times I_{RMS}^2 R_{DS(on)}$$
(4-10)

where  $R_{DS(on)}$  is the MOSFET on-state resistance. The total semiconductor loss in the threelevel, ZVS converter operating at 25 % duty ratio is then 59.8 W at room temperature using IRFIB7N50A MOSFETs, and would decrease by a factor of eight at cryogenic temperatures according to the measured device characteristics, Figure 4-4. This value is only slightly below that measured in the practical circuits due to the much higher inductor ripple current that is required for zero-voltage-switching. The losses could be reduced by paralleling additional MOSFETs.

The three-level, ZVS, step-down converter was also simulated at duty ratios of 75 % and 50 %. The simulation schematics are displayed in Appendix 7. At 75 % duty ratio the control strategy is similar to that with 25 % duty ratio, whereas at 50 % duty ratio the MOSFETs,  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$ , are triggered simultaneously by PWM signals,  $S_{C1}$  and  $S_{C2}$  are controlled by the complementary signals related to  $S_{T3}$  and  $S_{T4}$ . Simulation waveforms are plotted in Figures 4-27 and 4-28 respectively containing the same items and the zero-voltage-switching is achieved operating with these two duty ratios. Therefore, the semiconductor losses assuming IRFIB7N50A MOSFETs are calculated to be 6.0 W and 13.1 W at room temperature with 75 % and 50 % duty ratios respectively.



Figure 4-26 Simulation waveforms operating with D = 0.25



Figure 4-27 Simulation waveforms operating with D = 0.75



Figure 4-28 Simulation waveforms operating with D = 0.5

### 4.5 Conclusions

- All the multi-level circuits showed fairly high semiconductor losses and the losses did not exhibit such a large reduction at low temperatures as was seen for the lower voltage circuits, Chapters 2 and 3. This was due to a combination of factors, but mainly the lower current levels in the circuits, the large number of devices in the multi-level circuits, especially diodes, and the high switching losses in all circuits.
- The SiC diode based three-level converters had nearly constant switching losses, and the reduction in the total semiconductor loss at low temperature was primarily attributed to the reduced conduction loss. However, both the conduction and switching losses decreased with a decrease in temperature for the ultrafast diode based three-level converters.
- A three-level, ZVS, step-down converter was introduced to decrease the large conduction and switching losses in the three-level, diode-clamped converter. Simulation waveforms verified the operating principles at 25 %, 50 % and 75 % duty ratios.

#### **References**:

- [4-1] Cheung, Y. C.; Cheung, T. H.; Navin De Silva, R. G.; Juvonen, P. T.; Singh, R.; Woo, J.; Clarke, T. J. W.; Large-Scale Energy Storage Systems, *ISE2 2002/2003*, Imperial College London
- [4-2] Santoso, S.; Zavadil, R.; Folts, D.; McGranaghan, M. F.; Grebe, T. E.; Modelling and analysis of a 1.7 MVA SMES-based sag protector, *International Conference* on Power Systems Transients (IPST) 2001, Brazil, June 24-28, 2001

Chapter 4 Cryogenic operation of three-level diode-clamped step-down converters

- [4-3] Liu, P.; Kang, Y.; Dai, K.; Zhang, H.; Chen, J.; Performance of a prototype power conditioning system (PCS) for superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES), *Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference PIEMC 2000 Proceedings*, Volume 3, 14-18 Aug. 2000 Page(s): 1380-1385 Vol.3
- [4-4] Mao, H.; Boroyevich, D.; Lee, F. C.; Multi-level 2-quadrant boost choppers for superconducting magnetic energy storage, *Applied Power Electronics Conference* and Exposition APEC '96 Conference Proceedings, Eleventh Annual, Volume 2, 3-7 March 1996 Page(s): 874-882 Vol.2
- [4-5] Hui Li; Steurer, M.; Cartes, D.; Investigations on a 5-level VSI-chopper for a superconductive magnetic energy storage (SMES) power conditioning system, *The 29th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society, 2003. IECON '03.*, Volume 1, 2-6 Nov. 2003 Page(s):531 537 vol.1
- [4-6] Hui Li; Baldwin, T. L.; Luongo, C. A.; Da Zhang; A multilevel power conditioning system for superconductive magnetic energy storage, *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, Volume 15, Issue 2, Part 2, June 2005 Page(s):1943 1946
- [4-7] Hammoud, A.; Overton, E.; Low temperature characterization of ceramic and film power capacitors, *IEEE 1996 Annual Report of the Conference on Electrical Insulation and Dielectric Phenomena*, Volume 2, 20-23 Oct. 1996, Page(s):701-704
- [4-8] Patterson, R. L.; Hammond, A.; Gerber, S. S.; Evaluation of capacitors at cryogenic temperatures for space applications, *Conference Record of the 1998 IEEE International Symposium on Electrical Insulation*, Volume 2, 7-10 June 1998 Page(s): 468-471

### **Chapter 5**

### **Conclusions and further work**

#### 5.1 Introduction

Advances in high temperature superconductor technology since the 1980s have stimulated the development of superconducting devices for a range of electrical power applications, such as high-voltage transmission, magnetically levitated trains, superconducting magnetic energy storage, superconducting fault current limiters and superconducting rotary machines. Many of these superconducting applications require power conditioning systems which include PWM control, AC to DC converters and DC to AC converters to interface the power at room temperature with the superconducting coils at cryogenic temperatures.

The operation of semiconductors at low temperatures offers many advantages, such as lower on-state voltages in majority carrier devices due to higher carrier mobilities, faster switching speeds in minority carrier devices due to reduced carrier lifetimes. However, on-state losses may be increased in some device types such as diodes, and freeze-out effects tend to limit device performance at extremely low temperatures. In order to understand better the performance of power electronic devices operating at low temperatures and also to identify the most appropriate circuit techniques for low temperature power conversion, this Thesis presents an experimental investigation into the performance of several DC-DC converter topologies at temperatures down to 20 K. In particular the semiconductor losses are examined in detail.

#### 5.2 Contributions of the Thesis

The DC-DC step-down converters were built using commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS) devices, principally MOSFETs and diodes, and were mounted on a copper plate inside a cold chamber where the temperature could be controlled down to 20 K. The power losses in the semiconductors were examined over a wide range of temperatures from 300 K down to 20 K. The switching losses were calculated from measured switching waveforms, whilst the conduction losses were calculated from the measured current and static device characterisation data. The contributions of the Thesis are summarised in the following sections.

# 5.2.1 Device characteristics and semiconductor losses in the singletransistor step-down converters

The results from the static characterisation tests on the MOSFET and diode devices were largely consistent with the work reported in the literature; MOSFET on-state resistance fell at low temperature by up to a factor of six, the reduction being greater for higher voltage devices, however the proportionate reduction in resistance in the high voltage CoolMOS device was less than that observed in devices with a traditional structure. The diodes all exhibited an increase in on-state voltage at cryogenic temperatures at the current levels considered, the increase in the junction voltage being greater than the reduction in the voltage dropped across the drift region resistance. The breakdown voltage of all devices tested fell by around 20-24 % at cryogenic temperatures, apart from in the SiC Schottky, which showed a small increase, and this was attributed to the dominance of tunnelling breakdown in first generation of SiC diodes. The MOSFET gate threshold voltage (approximately 1 V) being quite consistent with the results reported in the literature for other

devices, however the increase in transconductance is much more device dependent, a 70 % increase was measured in this work compared with values of up to 200-300 % in some publications.

The MOSFET switching characteristics changed very little at cryogenic temperatures and this behaviour was consistent with that predicted by the standard equivalent circuit based analysis of the switching behaviour and the observed changes in threshold voltage and transconductance.

In contrast the switching behaviour of all the silicon diodes, Schottky and ultrafast, improved significantly at low temperatures, the peak reverse recovery current and reverse recovery time reduced by up to 75 % and 50 % respectively. The SiC diode showed no reverse recovery effects at any temperature.

The reduction in the total semiconductor losses in the converter prototypes at cryogenic temperatures was limited by the increase in diode conduction losses. With the duty ratio of 50 % that was used in the experimental prototypes, the total semiconductor losses fell by around 26-33 % in the low voltage, silicon diode prototypes. Using the same devices, a much greater reduction in loss would be exhibited by a converter operating at higher duty ratio due to the increased dominance of MOSFET conduction. In the higher voltage, silicon diode prototypes the reduction in loss at cryogenic temperatures was much greater, almost 50 %, due to the increased dominance of switching losses. The reduction in switching losses was almost entirely due to the improvement in diode reverse recovery at low temperatures, however, reverse recovery still remained a significant source of loss. The change in total semiconductor loss at low temperatures in the silicon carbide prototypes was very much smaller, principally due to the absence of diode reverse recovery at all temperatures. In all prototypes it was seen that switching losses and diode conduction losses were the main limitations to achieving increased conversion efficiency at cryogenic temperatures.

The prototype performance at low temperatures could be improved with a better optimised layout, in particular placing the input capacitor inside the cold chamber would allow the stray inductance and associated switching losses to be reduced.

#### 5.2.2 Semiconductor losses in the two-transistor step-down converters

The synchronous rectifier concept was seen to work well in both the 120 V and 500 V prototypes, however to minimise the conduction of the body diode and the associated reverse recovery transient, it was necessary to optimise the dead time for each operating temperature due to the variation in gate threshold voltage with temperature. The 120 V prototype exhibited a 65 % reduction in total semiconductor losses at cryogenic temperatures, however, the efficiency at low temperature was again limited by switching losses, which varied little with temperature. The total semiconductor losses in the high voltage prototype varied little with temperature due to the dominance of switching losses.

The much lower switching losses in the zero-voltage-switching circuit allowed the overall losses to fall almost in proportion with the reduction in the MOSFET on-state resistance. The total semiconductor loss at 50 K in the zero-voltage-switching circuit was 18 % of the room temperature value and the losses could easily be reduced further by adding additional MOSFETs in parallel. Another advantage of the synchronous rectifier over the diode based circuits is that the semiconductor conduction losses will be largely independent of duty ratio for a specific output current.

#### **5.2.3** Semiconductor losses in the three-level step-down converters

The multi-level prototypes showed fairly high semiconductor losses and the losses did not exhibit such a large reduction at low temperatures as was seen for the lower voltage circuits, which was due to a combination of factors, but mainly the lower current levels in the circuits, the large number of devices, especially diodes, and the high switching losses in all circuits. To reduce the semiconductor losses in the multi-level circuits, the synchronous rectifier and zero-voltage-switching techniques examined in Chapter 3 were successfully applied to the circuit, resulting in a new topology that was verified by Saber simulation at 25 %, 50 % and 75 % duty ratios. Theoretically the semiconductor losses are almost entirely MOSFET conduction losses, resulting in the total semiconductor losses falling at low temperature in proportion with the reduction in MOSFET resistance.

#### 5.3 Conclusion

It has been demonstrated that one of the most promising ways to minimise the semiconductor losses in small, cryogenic DC-DC converters is to use synchronous rectifier and zero-voltage-switching techniques. In this way the losses at cryogenic temperatures fall in proportion with the reduction in MOSFET resistance, typically being less than 20 % of the room temperature value. Further reduction in the losses could be achieved by paralleling additional devices. Furthermore, it has been shown how these techniques may be extended to multi-level topologies, allowing operation at higher voltages with low voltage MOSFETs.

#### 5.4 Further work

Immediate further work in this area should consider the incorporation of passive devices, inductors, transformers and capacitors into the cryogenic environment and the optimum overall design of the converter.

Further characterisation and modelling of semiconductor devices are needed to underpin the design of cryogenic converters. Based on an understanding of device behaviour at cryogenic temperatures, research is needed to understand the maximum power density that can be achieved.

In the longer term, customised devices and new device materials should be investigated which may offer improved low temperature performance. Research is also required on the packaging, lifetime and reliability of devices that are operated in a cryogenic environment.

### **Publication**

Jia, C.; Forsyth, A.J.; Evaluation of Semiconductor Losses in Cryogenic DC-DC Converters, Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference, 2006. IPEMC '06. CES/IEEE 5th International, Volume 2, 14-16 Aug. 2006, Page(s):1 - 5

### **MOSFET** gate-source voltage calculation

The detailed gate-source voltage calculation is processed by substituting (2-14) and (2-15) into (2-16) and rearranging.

$$v_{G'S'} = \frac{(V_{GH} - v_{GS'})/(R_G + R_{G'}) - sC_{G'S'}v_{G'S'}}{sC_{GD'}} + \frac{V_{DD} + V_F - sL_D[g_{fs} + 1/(R_G + R_G) + sC_{G'S'}]v_{G'S'}}{1 + s^2L_DC_{D'S'}}$$
(A1-1)

Set the intermediate parameters: A, B and C

$$A = [(V_{GH} - v_{G'S'})/(R_G + R_{G'}) - sC_{G'S'}v_{G'S'}](1 + s^2L_DC_{D'S'})$$
(A1-2)

$$A = \frac{V_{GH} - v_{G'S'}}{R_G + R_{G'}} - \frac{s^2 L_D C_{D'S'} v_{G'S'}}{R_G + R_{G'}} - s C_{G'S'} v_{G'S'} - s^3 L_D C_{D'S'} C_{G'S'} v_{G'S'}$$
(A1-3)

$$B = sC_{G'D'}\{V_{DD} + V_F - sL_D v_{G'S'}[g_{fs} + 1/(R_G + R_{G'}) + sC_{G'S'})]\}$$
(A1-4)

$$B = -s^{2}L_{D}C_{G'D'}g_{fs}v_{G'S'} - \frac{s^{2}L_{D}C_{G'D'}v_{G'S'}}{R_{G} + R_{G'}} - s^{3}L_{D}C_{G'D'}C_{G'S'}v_{G'S'}$$
(A1-5)

$$C = sC_{G'D'}(1 + s^2 L_D C_{D'S'})v_{G'S'} = sC_{G'D'}v_{G'S'} + s^3 L_D C_{D'S'}C_{G'D'}v_{G'S'}$$
(A1-6)

Since C = A + B, so

$$sC_{G'D'}v_{G'S'} + s^{3}L_{D}C_{D'S'}C_{G'D'}v_{G'S'} = \frac{V_{GH} - v_{G'S'}}{R_{G} + R_{G'}} - \frac{s^{2}L_{D}C_{D'S'}v_{G'S'}}{R_{G} + R_{G'}} - sC_{G'S'}v_{G'S'} - s^{3}L_{D}C_{D'S'}C_{G'S'}v_{G'S'}$$

Appendix 1 MOSFET gate-source voltage calculation

$$-s^{2}L_{D}C_{G'D'}g_{fs}v_{G'S'} - \frac{s^{2}L_{D}C_{G'D'}v_{G'S'}}{R_{G} + R_{G'}} - s^{3}L_{D}C_{G'D'}C_{G'S'}v_{G'S'}$$
(A1-7)

Rearranging the above equation (A1-7) gives

$$V_{GH} = v_{G'S'} [s^{3}L_{D}(R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'D'}C_{G'S'} + C_{D'S'}C_{G'S'} + C_{D'S'}C_{G'D'}) + s^{2}L_{D} \{C_{D'S'} + C_{G'D'}[1 + g_{fs}(R_{G} + R_{G'})]\} + s(R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'D'} + C_{G'S'}) + 1]$$
(A1-8)

Set the following time constants to simplify the calculation.

$$t_{G3}^{3} = L_{D}(R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'D'}C_{G'S'} + C_{G'S'}C_{D'S'} + C_{D'S'}C_{G'D'})$$
(A1-9)

$$t_{G2}^{2} = L_{D} \{ C_{D'S'} + C_{G'D'} [1 + g_{fs} (R_{G} + R_{G'})] \}$$
(A1-10)

$$t_{G} = (R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'D'} + C_{G'S'})$$
(A1-11)

Therefore, the gate-source voltage expression is simplified to

$$v_{G'S'} = \frac{V_{GH}}{s^3 t_{G3}^3 + s^2 t_{G2}^2 + s t_G + 1}$$
(A1-12)

Considering the source stray inductance  $L_s$ , the gate-source voltage expression is simplified to the following equation [A1-1].

$$v_{G'S'} = \frac{V_{GH}}{s^2 t_{m'} t_{G'} + s(t_G + L_S g_{fs}) + 1}$$
(A1-13)

where

$$t_{m'} = g_{fs} (L_D + L_S)$$
 (A1-14)

$$t_{G'} = C_{G'D'}(R_G + R_{G'}) \tag{A1-15}$$

$$t_{G} = (R_{G} + R_{G'})(C_{G'D'} + C_{G'S'})$$
(A1-16)

The drain-source voltage in (2-21) and (2-36) is recalculated considering the source stray inductance  $L_s$  [A1-1, A1-2].

$$v_{D'S'} = V_{DD} + V_F - g_{fs} (L_D + L_S) (V_{GH} - V_T) \frac{\exp(-t/t_b) - \exp(-t/t_c)}{t_b - t_c}$$
(A1-17)

$$v_{D'S'} = V_{DD} + V_F + (L_D + L_S)(g_{fs}V_T + I_O) \frac{\exp(-t/t_b) - \exp(-t/t_c)}{t_b - t_c}$$
(A-18)

#### Reference:

- [A-1] Xiao, Y.; Shah, H.; Chow, T.P.; Gutmann, R.J.; Analytical modelling and experimental evaluation of interconnect parasitic inductance on MOSFET switching characteristics, *Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition*, 2004. APEC '04. Nineteenth Annual IEEE, Publication Date: 2004, Volume: 1, On page(s): 516-521 Vol.1
- [A-2] Ren, Y.; Xu, M.; Zhou, J.; Lee, F.C.; Analytical loss model of power MOSFET, *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, Volume 21, Issue 2, March 2006 Page(s): 310-319

# **Temperature control circuit**



Figure A2-1 Schematic diagram of the temperature control circuit



Figure A2-2 PCB design of the temperature control circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)

# Cryogenic experimental system



Figure A3-1 Overview of the cryogenic experimental system



Figure A3-2 Experimental layout



Figure A3-3 Cold chamber and compressor

# Cryogenic test circuits for single device characteristics



Figure A4-1 Test circuit for MOSFET on-state resistance



Figure A4-2 Test circuit for diode on-state voltage



Figure A4-3 Test circuit for MOSFET breakdown voltage



Figure A4-4 Test circuit for diode breakdown voltage



Figure A4-5 Test circuit for MOSFET threshold voltage



Figure A4-6 Test circuit for MOSFET transconductance

### Power conversion circuits inside cold chamber



Figure A5-1 PCB design of the step-down conversion circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)



Figure A5-2 PCB design of the three-level, diode-clamped conversion circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)

# Three-level converter PWM control circuit



Figure A6-1 Schematic diagram of the three-level converter control circuit



Figure A6-2 PCB design of the three-level converter control circuit (zoom out): top layer (left) and bottom layer (right)



Figure A6-3 Photograph of the three-level converter control circuit
## Appendix 7

## **Three-level ZVS converter simulation schematics**



Figure A7-1 Three-level, ZVS converter simulation circuit at 25 % duty ratio in Saber



Figure A7-2 Three-level, ZVS converter simulation circuit at 75 % duty ratio in Saber



Figure A7-3 Three-level, ZVS converter simulation circuit at 50 % duty ratio in Saber